Copyright is owned by the Author of the thesis. Permission is given for a copy to be downloaded by an individual for the purpose of research and private study only. The thesis may not be reproduced elsewhere without the permission of the Author.

The Mindfulness Umbrella: A Qualitative Inquiry into How Emerging Adults Perceive and Mobilise Mindfulness

A thesis presented in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science in Psychology

at Massey University, Albany, New Zealand.

Vickery Laura Beca Francis
2020

Abstract

Background: New Zealand youth have among the worst mental health rates globally. Mindfulness is often recommended to improve well-being, yet little research has been done within this population. Further, the research to date has predominantly focused on quantifying results of mindfulness-based programmes, leaving conceptualisations and mobilisations of mindfulness largely unknown.

Aim: The current study seeks to understand how emerging adults (EAs), aged 18-25, who have a current mindfulness practice understand and mobilise mindfulness.

Methods: Ten qualitative interviews were analysed using thematic analysis with critical realist epistemology and ontology.

Analysis: Four overarching themes are discussed: Be Focused Right Now: Attentional Awareness; Metacognitively Mindful; Mindfully Processing and Problem Solving; and Part of Everyday Life. Both beneficial and challenging elements of mindfulness are discussed.

Discussion and implications: This is the first study to gain insight into how New Zealand EA understand and practise mindfulness. The analysis suggests participants often mobilise mindfulness for coping with challenges and maintaining well-being. The implications of this research, and possible future directions are discussed. More research is needed to generalise to broader EA and New Zealand populations.

Acknowledgements

The generosity and willingness of my participants to share their time and experiences of mindfulness has profoundly moved and motivated me when writing this thesis, and I cannot thank you enough.

Support in the form of funding for my assistive technology has been absolutely essential and has enabled me to undertake a project of this scale. I am grateful to Workbridge for providing this. The accessibility features available on the Apple products I use have also contributed to dismantling the many challenges I faced throughout the writing of my thesis.

Heather Kempton and Octavia Calder-Dawe supervised this thesis, and I am so grateful to you both for your patience, understanding and insights. Your constant support and encouragement throughout this journey, particularly your willingness to accept the challenge of working with me when I started this project with minimal knowledge of qualitative methodologies, has now borne fruit.

Octavia, your expertise on youth well-being and guidance in qualitative methodologies has taught me so much. I appreciate all the discussions, resources, feedback and your attention to detail.

Heather, your knowledge of Buddhism and the origins of Western mindfulness still astounds me, and I feel privileged to have had the opportunity to learn from you. I will forever cherish our conversations and laughs when unpacking the literature.

To both of you, your ongoing support through this somewhat rocky process has been paramount. This process has been transformational for both my learning and personal development, and I couldn't have achieved this without you.

To my whanau, thank you for your consistent encouragement and unconditional belief in me. Each one of you is a source of strength and inspiration for me, and I would not be here today without you. Words cannot describe the gratitude and love I have for you. You all consistently amaze me. To Arya, you have sat by me throughout this process, provided me with so much comfort and at times much-needed distractions, thank you for always bringing joy to my heart.

To Conor, thank you for believing in and encouraging me. You have stood by and supported me throughout this process. You always listened, celebrated the wins, and comforted and supported me in any way you could through every obstacle that came with writing this thesis.

To my friends, I thank you for your patience and for understanding my absence throughout this process. Thank you for your ongoing support, check-ins and words of encouragement, particularly during the last few months.

To all my housemates over this journey, thank you for the debriefs, cups of tea, cuddles and reminding me to take a break now and then. A special thank you to Julia, Olivia, Katrina and Brittany, who particularly went out of their way to support me.

To my Gender group, thank you for your encouragement and support while I navigated my way through this thesis. Thank you for always being there for me, being a source of inspiration and guidance during the difficult times. I am so thankful for you and am in absolute awe of your intellect, empathy, and beautiful hearts. Ally, you were a superstar,

consistently going above and beyond for me during this time, and I am forever grateful. And Sophie, thank you also for your consistent support, particularly during the start and end of my thesis.

Table of Contents

The Mindfulness Umbrella: A Qualitative Inquiry into How Emerging Adults Perceive and Mobilise Mindfulnessi	
Abstract	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
Table of Contents	vi
List of Tables	vii
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Challenges of Emerging Adulthood	1
Mental Health and Well-being in Emerging Adult Populations	3
A New Zealand Context	4
Defining Mindfulness	6
Western Mindfulness Practices	12
Mindfulness-Based Practices (MBPs)	13
Mindfulness Literature to Date: Adult	16
Potential Adverse Effects of Mindfulness	21
Mindfulness with Child Populations	24
Mindfulness Literature Using Emerging Adult Populations	25
Mindfulness in Emerging Adults in New Zealand	37
State of Mindfulness Literature	39
Rationale	42
Chapter 2: Methods and Methodology	44
Ethics	44
Data Collection	45
Design	45
Procedure	46
Recruitment	46
Interviews	49
Participants	50
Holding Reflexivity	51
Analytic Approach	54
Analytic Procedure	56
Chapter 3: Analysis	59
Introduction and Overview	59
The Mindfulness Umbrella: How Participants Practised	59

Experiences of Distress: Motivation for Learning	61
Mindfulness, Religion and Spirituality	63
A Note Prior to Analysis	65
Thematic Overview	67
Theme One: Be Focused Right Now: Attentional Awareness	69
Sub-theme: Interoceptive Attention of Breath	76
Sub-theme: Exteroceptive Attention Towards One's Senses	80
Theme Two: Metacognitively Mindful	84
Sub theme: Acceptance of Thought	85
Sub-theme: Struggles with Acceptance	87
Sub-theme: Impermanence: To Aid Acceptance	91
Sub-theme: Challenge of Impermanence	94
Sub theme: "Control the thought of the thought": Metacognitive Control	95
Theme three: Mindfully Processing and Problem Solving	101
Sub-theme: Mindfulness as a Coping Mechanism	108
Theme four: Part of Everyday Life	117
Sub-theme: Mindfulness is Intrinsic: People Naturally Have Varying Levels	119
Sub-theme: "It's a lot more than what you originally think it is": Shift in Understa	_
Sub-theme: Self-responsibilised Well-being	125
Chapter 4: Discussion	129
Extending the Current Conceptualization of Mindfulness	129
Implications	134
Limitations	136
Future Directions	139
References	141
Appendices	187
Appendix A: Core Elements of Buddhism	187
Appendix B: Interview Schedule	189
Appendix C: Research Flyer	192
Appendix D: Participant Information Sheet	193
Appendix E: Template Of Email For Potential Participants	195
Appendix F: Written Consent Form	196
Appendix G: Demographic Sheet	197

List of Tables

Table 1: Demographic Data	51
Table 2: Thematic Outline of Analysis	
Table 3: The Elements of the Eight-Fold Path	

Chapter 1: Introduction

Challenges of Emerging Adulthood

As with all life stages, the transition from adolescence to adulthood holds a unique set of learning opportunities and challenges. Arnett (2000) initially proposed the theory of "emerging adulthood" as a way to comprehend the lives of young adults in industrialised societies. The late teen and early adulthood years can be stressful and turbulent (Kerrigan et al., 2011; Dobkin et al., 2014). It is a time of physical, cognitive and emotional development (Lapsley & Woodbury, 2016). Arnett (2007) later asserts this theory of emerging adulthood is useful to understand late teens to mid-20s specifically in industrialised societies, which encompasses a large portion of the western world, including New Zealand.

In westernised society, this experimentation, or period of finding yourself and your place in the world, takes place from roughly when you leave school (often age 18) into your mid-20s (Arnett, 1998, 2000, 2001, 2006, 2007). An example of this sociocultural change can be seen in Peer and McAuslan's (2016) observational study of university students. The authors found younger emerging adults (EAs) aged 18-25 reported greater feelings of instability, self-focus and identity exploration compared to older EAs aged 26-29. This suggests that within modern westernised society there has been a shift in the experience of those in their late teens and early twenties. Arnett's work argues 18-25 years is a time of unique stressors, largely characterised by a lack of stability, thus this life stage requires special consideration.

Arnett (2000, 2007) proposes five features that characterise the life stage of emerging adulthood in Western industrialised contexts. These characteristics occur at different times and in different orders during the development of every EA. The five features of this life stage are:

- The age of identity exploration which encompasses aspects of exploration of values, goals, work and romance.
- *The age of instability* refers to a period where changes are frequent. This may be in work, living circumstances, relationships, or a combination of these.
- The self-focused age describes a phase of limited commitment to others regarding living and financial situations as this is often the first time they have lived away from home for an extended period and in which they are attempting to obtain self-sufficiency (Arnett, 1998).
- The age of feeling "in-between" is where an individual does not feel they are in adolescence but also not a fully functioning adult (Arnett, 2001). This is largely where the term "emerging adulthood" came from as Arnett found those aged 18-25 did not identify with the term "late adolescence", nor did they identify with being fully adult, having not reached key milestones. These milestones include accepting responsibility for themselves, making decisions, and becoming financially independent.
- The age of possibilities describes a sense of optimism to transform their life into what
 they want it to be, free of familial or sociocultural pressures. Arnett (2006) argues this
 is largely due to experiencing increased freedom combined with limited experiences
 of failure.

Therefore, EAs tend to view possibilities optimistically and set high expectations for the future. These factors contribute to a life stage characterised by the perceived possibilities of exploring opportunities and creating an idealistic life anticipating success (Arnett, 1998, 2000, 2001, 2006, 2007).

While the stage of emerging adulthood holds a lot of promise, it also holds an element of pressure caused by aspirations to create their idealised version of themselves and their

desired lifestyle. Coupled with ideas of self-discovery, freedom, and pressure to be "happy", this period of life can be challenging. This may be due to the discrepancy between the EA's current view of themselves and their idealised version of themselves or how they think society wants them to act. This aligns with self-discrepancy theory (Higgins, 1987, 1989) which proposes that the greater the differences between the actual and ideal or "ought" (how an individual views their obligations to society) selves, the greater the negative effect experienced. One way to see this manifesting in emerging adulthood is through increased risk-taking behaviour such as binge drinking, illicit drug use, and risky sexual behaviour (Sussman & Arnett, 2014; Patton et al., 2016). However, within a New Zealand (NZ) context, from 2001 to 2012 there was a general decline in risk taking behaviours (Lewycka et al., 2018).

Mental Health and Well-being in Emerging Adult Populations

Statistics including EA populations support Arnett's (2000, 2007) perception that these ages experience increased levels of stress as evidenced by declining well-being and mental health rates. For the purposes of this thesis I will define well-being as not only the absence of unease or mental disorders but also increased experiences of wellness (Arnett, 2000, 2007; McLeod & Wright, 2016) with an ability to return to equilibrium when challenges arise (Dodge et al., 2012). The Global Youth Well-being Index (GYWI; Goldin et al., 2014) measures youth aged 10-24 from 30 countries. Just 15% of youth surveyed reported upper-middle or high levels of well-being, while 85% reported lower-middle or lower well-being. Although the World Health Organisation (WHO) has no specific statistics on well-being or mental health in EAs, it states that for those aged 10-19 (adolescents) "[d]epression is the ninth leading cause of illness and disability" (WHO, 2005, 2018). Further, every year, 20% of adolescents report experiencing a mental health problem, most often anxiety or

depression (WHO, 2005, 2017; Wesselhoeft et al., 2013). These statistics emphasise that a large proportion of the world's youth and EA populations experience poor well-being.

The literature suggests that the onset of most mental disorders occurs before 25 (Altwaijri et al., 2020; Kessler et al., 2005; Patton et al., 2016). For example, 60-80% of adolescents from the US aged 9-21 are reported to meet the diagnostic criteria for psychiatric disorder (Copeland et al., 2011). A longitudinal study in Australia, which ranked first in the GYWI (Goldin et al., 2014), surveyed youth aged 15-29 and reported that 29% male and 54% female experienced mental disorders at least once during adolescence (Patton et al., 2014). Those who experienced mental disorder for a longer duration in adolescence had an increase chance of reporting mental disorders in adulthood. Although not all mental disorders persist into adulthood (Copeland et al., 2011; Patton et al., 2014), the increased distress experienced in these adolescent and EA years suggest there is a need for initiatives aimed at increasing adaptive coping and improving this population's well-being to reduce recurrence in adulthood (Copeland et al., 2011; Patton et al., 2014).

A New Zealand Context

In NZ, poor mental health and low well-being are prevalent, particularly in younger generations. The Ministry of Health (MOH, 2018) defines "youth" as those aged 12-24. Youth aged 15-24 report the highest levels of psychological distress compared to any other age group (MOH, 2018). In concordance with global statistics, longitudinal data from NZ samples also suggest mental disorders are prevalent in adolescent and EA populations (Fergusson et al., 2004, 2007; Fleming et al., 2020a,b; Moffitt et al., 2007).

Longitudinal data collected in Dunedin showed a marked increase in depression from 15-18 in both genders (Moffitt et al., 2007). However, as childhood anxiety disorders were already prevalent, the increase was non-significant during the transition from teenage years to

emerging adulthood. At age 32, recurrent mental disorders made up most of the total cases reported, suggesting those who experienced a mental disorder in adolescence or emerging adulthood were likely to experience mental distress in adulthood (Moffitt et al., 2007). Additionally, longitudinal data collected in Christchurch reported 21.6% of participants experienced anxiety and 18.2% experienced depressive disorders between ages 21-25 (Fergusson et al., 2007). From ages 16-21, 35% of the sample met criteria for depressive disorders, with females reporting significantly higher rates than males. Further, between these ages, 27% reported recurrent depressive episodes. Those who reported poorer mental health from ages 16-21 also reported poorer mental health at ages 21-25. Additionally, there was an association between poorer educational and economic outcomes for those who reported an increased number of depressive episodes from ages 21-25. Cumulatively, these results suggest that within NZ the onset of mental disorders often occurs in late adolescence to early adulthood, impacting on both the individual and community. These studies only reported on those meeting diagnostic criteria, suggesting under-reporting for general poor well-being.

The Youth 2000 Study (Canning et al., 2017; Fleming et al., 2014, 2020a,b) is a comprehensive study that looks at health and survey data of secondary school students. Some results are stratified by age allowing insight into the well-being of the older portion of the sample, who fall into the EA age bracket of 17 or older. The study found that only 46.9% of students reported feeling very happy or satisfied. A further 44.3% reported having adequate emotional well-being while 7.6% reported feeling not very happy and 1.2% reported feeling not at all happy or satisfied (Clark et al., 2012).

Comparing survey results from 2007 to 2012, there was a significant decline in participants who reported good overall well-being along with a significant increase in reports of depressive symptoms, with participants experiencing a period of low mood and suicidal ideation (Fleming et al., 2014). However, when compared across age and gender these

variables were not statistically significant, suggesting a more general decline in the above measures. Recent research on this population demonstrates that most youth have good well-being but the prevalence of good well-being has decreased from 76% in 2012 to 69% in 2019 (Fleming et al., 2020a,b). These statistics highlight the importance of providing resources to improve well-being.

It is evident that young people are in need of skills to add to their coping toolbox in order to deal effectively with life's challenges. Research is needed to add to the existing literature on potential tools for EAs that are both easily accessible and desirable. Mindfulness may be one way of improving well-being in this age bracket in the NZ population. Survey data from Peer and McAuslan (2016) found that EAs aged 18-29 with higher levels of mindfulness reported higher levels of self-focus and lower levels of instability, self-doubt, and feeling between adolescence and adulthood. These findings suggest the use of mindfulness may be particularly beneficial for EAs to help overcome the challenges associated with this life stage.

Defining Mindfulness

The phrases "being mindful" and "mindfulness" typically refer to a state of present awareness. However, the technical and academic definitions of these words are both more varied and perplexing than the colloquial meaning.

Before further unpacking the western or circular definition upon which this thesis is framed, the defining origins of mindfulness are briefly explored. Although not the focus of this thesis, it is important to understand the origins of mindfulness because it is now used in western cultures as a therapeutic practice.

Buddhist Definition and Origins of Mindfulness

Early understandings of mindfulness stem from the traditional Northern Indian Buddhist scriptures of the Vishuddimagga (Buddhaghosa, 1976) and Abhidhamma (Kiyota, 1978) that hold the theoretical underpinnings of Buddhist meditation and philosophy respectively. Originally passed through oral communication and eventually translated into modern languages, like any religious or spiritual practice, Buddhism is complex and varied between traditions. Throughout the scriptures, the Sanskrit word "sati" is often found. *Sati* translates to the idea of mindfulness in English (Harvey, 2012; Lynn et al., 2017) positioning mindfulness as a central element of Buddhism.

The Buddha (interpreted as "the enlightened one") developed the eightfold path as a guide to reach enlightenment and facilitate the alleviation of suffering (Aich, 2013; Bodhi, 1994; Huxter, 2015; Kabat-Zinn, 2013; Maex, 2011). As the name suggests, it acts as a path or a journey one must take to experience enlightenment through practising each of the eight teachings one at a time. The elements of the eightfold path are categorised into triads: "Pana" (wisdom and discernment), "Sila" (morality and virtue) and "Shila and Samandhi" (morality or concentration or meditation respectively). Appendix A contains a brief description of the eightfold path developed from past research. The final triad (Shila and Samandhi) includes the teaching which translates to "Right Mind, Mindfulness or Mental Presence" where practitioners learn about both mindfulness and meditation. Mindfulness is described as a deepened understanding of what is occurring internally and externally for the practitioner, resulting in enhanced awareness (Aich, 2013; Bodhi, 1994; Huxter, 2015; Kabat-Zinn, 2013; Maex, 2011). While unpacking the intersection of Buddhism and mindfulness is beyond the scope of this thesis, it is fundamental to contextualise the origins that contribute to modern understandings of this phenomenon.

Western / Secular Definition

Kabat-Zinn (1990) introduced the idea of mindfulness to the west as a means of reducing stress for those experiencing chronic pain (Kabat-Zinn, 1982; Kabat-Zinn et al.,1985, 1987). Kabat-Zinn's development of the Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction programme (MBSR, explained in more depth in Mindfulness-Based Practices) is commonly used in research and practice (Grossman et al., 2004). Kabat-Zinn defines mindfulness as "paying attention, in a particular way: on purpose, in the present moment, and non-judgmentally" (Kabat-Zinn, 1994, p.4). This preliminary secular definition highlights the fundamental elements incorporated into many western mindfulness practices. Notably, this definition portrays mindfulness as decontextualised and secular, mimicking broader western patterns of adopting other cultural practices.

Since Kabat-Zinn's (1990,1994) original westernised conceptualisations of mindfulness, two key publications have expanded on this definition. Bishop et al. (2004) proposed an operational definition of mindfulness that consists of two core components: self-regulation of attention and orientation to experiences. Shapiro et al. (2006) proposed three mechanisms of mindfulness: intention, attitude, and awareness. Both of these definitions are commonly referenced within the mindfulness literature, and while they are similar, they provide a slightly different lens on the construct of mindfulness. These definitions complement each other and are accorded equal stature.

Operational definition: Bishop et al. (2004)

The operational definition developed by Bishop et al. (2004) describes two core components that are common across mindfulness practices: self-regulation of attention and orientation to experiences. These are often referred to within the literature as "focused attention" and "open monitoring" respectively (Bishop et al., 2004; Kabat-Zinn, 1990; Lau et

al., 2006; Shapiro et al., 2006), and are not mutually exclusive, often practised within a singular mindfulness practice.

Self-regulation of attention: Focused attention

"Attention" can be explained as conscious awareness, and self-regulation is the ability to have a sense of control over oneself and one's conscious awareness. In a mindfulness context, this manifests as focused or sustained attention on an immediate experience, or a particular stimulus or sensation (Bishop et al., 2004; Kabat-Zinn, 1990; Shapiro et al., 2006). This stimulus is often referred to as the "anchor point" (Bishop et al., 2004). While maintaining this attention, a state of alertness is practiced where there is awareness of moment to moment experiences. This focused attention increases awareness of conscious thought processes which may include detection of cognitive (such as thoughts or emotions) or somatic (such as physical touch) sensations. New practitioners often practise focused attention, through attempting to hold sustained attention on a particular object, sensation, phrase (such as a mantra) or image (Bishop et al., 2004; Kabat-Zinn, 1990; Lau et al., 2006; Shapiro et al., 2006). Practising mindfulness recognises this natural shifting of attention as it contrasts with the intention to be focused on the present moment or anchor point (Bishop et al., 2004; Kabat-Zinn, 1990; Shapiro et al., 2006). To bring awareness back to the present moment, selfregulation must be practiced. In mindfulness, this is achieved through recognising the naturally wandering mind and, rather than analysing, ruminating or elaborating on this thought, it is simply acknowledged, and attention shifted back to the anchoring point. It is important to note that not focusing on the thought does not mean the thought or sensation is suppressed or held on to, but rather the thought is acknowledged and let go. Doing this increases awareness of the present moment. Bishop et al. (2004) called this process of recognising and letting go "switching" and describe it as a skill that is developed with practice.

Orientation to experiences: Open monitoring

"Orientation to experience" describes a state of investigative awareness, adopting a relaxed sense of openness and curiosity to all cognitive and somatic stimuli that arise in the mind. Through this orientation of observing the mind as a whole, when a thought appears one shifts attention back to the current experience (Bishop et al., 2004; Lau et al., 2006). The intention of the practice is not to induce or change a current mental state, rather to notice, acknowledge and accept the current experience. The practice of mindfulness is thought to shift perception by increasing tolerance to negative or unpleasant experiences or cognitions, so that over time they are reframed and perceived as less negative. Within the literature there are many names for this process such as reappraisal (Bishop et al., 2004), reperceiving (Shapiro et al., 2006, 2009), and it is considered a metacognitive process (Shapiro et al., 2006). Due to this process, there may be a decreased need to adopt cognitive and behavioural techniques (Bishop et al., 2004). These are often recommended by western psychologists, evidenced by the popularity of cognitive behavioural therapy which, as its name suggests, combines cognitive and behavioural techniques to treat a variety of disorders (Hofmann et al., 2012).

Mechanisms of Mindfulness: Shapiro et al. (2006)

Intention, attitude, and attention are the three core components of the "mechanisms of mindfulness" (Shapiro et al., 2006).

"Intention" describes noticing the reason for the mindfulness practice: the "goal". This critical component to mindfulness practice is overlooked in some western definitions of mindfulness. (Bishop et al., 2004). Kabat-Zinn's (1994) definition could be interpreted to include intention through using the words "on purpose", however, Shapiro et al.'s (2006) definition encompasses more than acting deliberately. With increasing meditation practice, intentions can shift as self-awareness increases (Shapiro, 1992). For example, Shapiro found

that with increased meditation practice, intentions when practising meditation developed along a continuum. This continuum encompassed intentions relating to self-reflection, from regulation to exploration, and finally to liberation. Interestingly, with increased practice, mindfulness practitioners were able to shift along this continuum at will. Shapiro's work highlights the importance of the inclusion of intention in both the definition of mindfulness and within mindfulness practice.

"Attitude" is thought to encompass wholehearted openness, compassion and a conscious commitment to both the self and the practice (Shapiro et al., 2006). This attitude creates a mindset where the practitioner gently explores their attention with a kind curiosity; one that is both welcoming and accepting of both pleasant and unpleasant experiences.

Through the conscious practise of this mindful attitude, one is more able to bring an open and accepting mindset into daily life (Shapiro et al., 2006). The attitude mechanism of Shapiro et al. aligns closely with Bishop and colleague's orientation to experience.

The "attention" mechanism of Shapiro et al. (2006) overlaps with the component of Bishop et al.'s (2004) self-regulation of attention explained above.

State vs Trait Mindfulness

Within western mindfulness literature, some researchers partition mindfulness into "state" and "trait" mindfulness. State mindfulness can occur during the practise of meditation and at any point when the individual's attention is openly aware of the present moment and is attempting to cultivate the key components of mindfulness (Bamber & Schneider, 2016; Bishop et al., 2004). Trait mindfulness is the level of mindfulness someone experiences throughout their day when they are not actively attempting to cultivate a mindful state (Lau et al., 2006). This level is thought to differ between individuals and is similar to personality traits in that they remain relatively consistent over time (Hanley, 2016; Rau & Williams,

2016). However, the literature also suggests that the level of trait mindfulness can increase through consistently incorporating a mindfulness practice (Kiken et al., 2015). Further, adults in the community with a higher level of dispositional mindfulness reported, on average, decreased levels of psychological distress (Kiken et al., 2015). However, the relationship between state and trait mindfulness is yet to be fully explored and understood, and the literature on the nature and extent of this relationship is inconclusive (Bamber & Schneider, 2016; Kiken et al., 2015). Additionally, the current literature does not consistently differentiate between state and trait mindfulness, adding to the murky complexity of this distinction. For the purposes of this thesis, unless otherwise specified, the term "mindfulness" will encompass the phenomenon as a whole.

Western Mindfulness Practices

There are many practices and interventions that fall under the umbrella of mindfulness. While a full review of the vast and growing types of mindfulness practice is beyond the scope of this thesis, they can be broken into three main categories: meditation, mindfulness activities, and mindfulness-based practices (MBPs), also known within the literature as mindfulness-based interventions.

"Meditation" generally refers to the formal practice of mindfulness (Bishop et al., 2004; Kabat-Zinn, 1990; Shapiro et al., 2006) where the core elements of mindfulness are consciously and deliberately practised. Meditations can be guided by a teacher, audio recording, or app, or unguided where a noise such as a gong or a bell chimes periodically to refocus attention, or the practice may be carried out in complete silence. Practitioners apply non-attachment and non-judgement through a process of pausing, noticing automatic thoughts, then bringing the attention back to the present moment (Lau et al., 2006).

In general, meditation focuses on the core features of attentional control, which, with practice, cultivates emotional and cognitive flexibility (Malinowski, 2013). Cognitive flexibility is the ability to adapt thoughts and behaviours in response to environmental changes (Malinowski, 2013). For example, a simple breath awareness meditation would often start by cultivating focused attention through either counting or merely noticing one's breath. When one's attention wanders, with an attitude of openness and acceptance, one deliberately shifts it back to the breath. This deliberate shift in attention is central for focused attention. A focus on the breath is common in meditation practices which increases awareness of experiences (Kiken et al., 2015) while also resulting in rhythmic breathing that helps regulate one's stress response (Napoli et al., 2005). Often, one then moves to open monitoring where, rather than focusing on one object, such as your breath, you are open to any sensation, thought or emotion that may come into your awareness. While holding an attitude of acceptance and recognising the stimuli, you then let it pass from your consciousness. In contrast to focused attention, you examine the object that is holding your awareness with a gentle curiosity until the object eventually dissolves from your attention. "Mindfulness activities" can also incorporate focused attention and open monitoring (Bernay et al., 2016). This can be any activity where one applies the values and practices of mindfulness to any given activity. Examples of these include yoga, mindful walking, art, gardening, or exercise.

Mindfulness-Based Practices (MBPs)

Several psychological interventions have incorporated the practice of mindfulness into their programmes. Below is a summary of the key interventions used throughout the literature. These MBPs are considered part of "the third wave" therapies (Hayes et al., 2004).

Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction (MBSR)

Kabat-Zinn (1990) was the first to bring the concept of mindfulness to the west.

Kabat-Zinn developed Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction (MBSR), an eight-week programme that aims to teach mindfulness to individuals to decrease perceived stress.

The programme includes several experiential learning activities promoting the fundamentals of mindfulness, such as shifting awareness to the present moment, and selective and non-judgemental attention (Raj & Kumar, 2019). It contains many varying types of meditation, including yoga, eating, walking and body awareness meditations. The programme focuses on meditations that promote focused attention, such as breath awareness and selective attention on the present moment. Open monitoring is also a core theme throughout the programme, which encourages participants to observe, acknowledge and accept thoughts or feelings that emerge at any given moment. MBSR courses usually run over eight weeks with 2.5 hour weekly sessions, and an additional full day.

MBSR programmes and their several variations (often known as moderated MBSR) are still frequently used globally. Research suggests these programmes are considered beneficial to many individuals, particularly at reducing stress (Fjorback et al., 2011; Goldin & Gross, 2010; Irving et al., 2009; Kabat-Zinn, 2003; Praissman, 2008). Initially developed for the treatment of chronic pain, a review of randomised control trials (RCT) noted a small decrease in reported pain. However, more statistical support was found for decreases in depressive symptoms and improvement in the quality of life measures when compared to controls (Chiesa & Serretti, 2009). A potential criticism or observation of MBSR research is that often the participants enter the programme knowing it is a stress reduction programme. Thus, the potential exists for some of the desired effects to be due in part to a self-fulfilling prophecy or placebo type effect (Kabat-Zinn, 1982, 1990).

Mindfulness-Based Cognitive Therapy (MBCT)

MBCT combines elements of MBSR with cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT; Segal et al., 2002). Initially created for the treatment of depressive episodes (Raj & Kumar, 2019; Segal et al., 2002), MBSR applies core principles of mindfulness such as non-attachment and non-reactivity to shifting how the individual understands cognitive processes, an element of CBT. This fusion of approaches emphasises developing focused attention and thereby (with practice) intends to decrease experiences of negative rumination or automatic thoughts (Cladder-Micus et al., 2019; Kaviani et al., 2012). MBCT has also shown to be effective in successful in treating conditions other than depression, such as pain and anxiety (Grossman et al., 2004).

Other programmes that incorporate mindfulness

Other programs present in the literature which incorporate mindfulness are mindfulness-based relapse prevention (Witkiewitz et al., 2005), dialectic behavioural therapy (DBT; Linehan, 2001), and acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT; Hayes et al., 1999). In these therapies, mindfulness is primarily used to encourage client awareness of behaviours, enabling them to modify those behaviours in specific clinical conditions (Lau et al., 2006; Keng et al., 2011). Finally, some studies also report non-standardised MBPs which often appear to have similar elements to standardised MBPs, however, they are adapted to suit particular studies, resources or interests.

As the primary interest of the current study is mindfulness, all MBPs will be referred to as MBPs rather than the specific intervention.

Mindfulness Literature to Date: Adult

There is substantial research focusing on using mindfulness-based practices (MBPs) to generate positive outcomes in general adult populations. In the current literature, most of the participants are "meditative-naïve" individuals who participate in an MBP which collects pretest and posttest data (Eberth & Sedlmeier, 2012; Eby et al., 2019; Khoury et al., 2013a, 2015). MBPs are effective in improving feelings of everyday stress and self-reported quality of life (Khoury et al., 2015), as well as enhancing well-being (Spijkerman et al., 2016) and treating negative psychotic symptoms (Khoury et al., 2013b). Longitudinal follow up data is rarely collected and thus there is less evidence for the long-term benefit of MBPs (Bamber & Schneider, 2016; Grossman et al., 2004; Khoury et al., 2015). Due to the limited qualitative data available to date, most of the literature reviewed in this thesis consists of quantitative studies which investigate outcomes of MBPs. Following this, the numerous common critiques and limitations that exist within the current literature are unpacked.

Quantitative research suggests that mindfulness is beneficial for the mental state of adults with medical conditions. A body of literature, including randomised control trials (RCTs; Abbott et al., 2014; Bohlmeijer et al., 2010) and less rigorous quantitative study designs (Carlson & Garland, 2005; Greeson & Chin, 2018; Loucks et al., 2015; Scott-Sheldon et al., 2019), demonstrate that while practising mindfulness may not improve physical symptoms, evidence suggests that mindfulness can elevate patient well-being. In quantitative literature, RCTs employ robust methods, minimising potential bias through utilising a control group, and randomisation. Conversely, other quantitative study designs (non-RCTs), often lack randomisation or a control group, subjecting the study to critiques of validity and bias (Abbott et al., 2014; Bohlmeijer et al., 2010). Despite this, it is important to include these studies to show the wide reach of mindfulness interventions.

While many studies employ quantitative methods with medical populations, the use of mix-methods or qualitative designs can help to gain a more comprehensive understanding of the experiences of MBP participants. An RCT design of an MBP for those with Parkinson's Disease (PD) reported small but not significant improvements in well-being both immediately after the intervention and at six monthly follow up (Advocat et al., 2016). However, participants sustained significant improvements in completing activities of daily living at follow up. A recent thematic analysis of interview data of this sample suggests mindfulness created lasting improvements, contrary to the statistical findings (Advocat et al., 2019). Specifically, themes of increased perceived control, acceptance of PD and increased autonomy to manage negative emotions related to PD including increased ability to cope and reduced negative thoughts. Similar improvements in health and well-being was noted in other qualitative interviews of individuals with PD (Fitzpatrick et al., 2010). Despite these positive findings, participants reported not adopting formal mindfulness practice but rather integrating mindfulness concepts into their life following MBP completion. These findings highlight the importance of qualitative methodologies to capture more in-depth understandings of experiential phenomenon such as mindfulness.

The research appears to support mindfulness for adults experiencing psychological disorders but provides mixed results for others. Anxiety and depression frequently occur comorbidly, as reflected in mindfulness literature. Several reviews of RCTs have concluded that there is evidence of improvement in depressive symptoms, for example, decreased rumination after engaging in MBPs (Goldberg et al., 2018), including those delivered online (Spijkerman et al., 2016). This has also been found in reviews that include non-RCT studies (Chambers et al., 2015; Hofmann et al., 2010; Khoury et al., 2013b, 2015). In addition, a review of RCTs found MBPs to be more effective than non-mindfulness based interventions

for the treatment of recurrent depression (Galante et al., 2013) and anxiety (Spijkerman et al., 2016). This was also reported for in-person MBPs when including non-RCT studies in reviews (Hofmann et al., 2010; Khoury et al., 2013b, 2015). These studies all support the use of mindfulness to relieve symptoms of anxiety and depression.

Literature suggests mindfulness is beneficial for those with psychological disorders other than anxiety and depression. Both RCTs (Goldberg et al., 2018) and non-RCTs (Russell et al., 2016) suggest MBPs improve symptoms for those with substance use disorders. For those with obsessive-compulsive disorder, a non-RCT of an MBPs has also been shown to improve symptoms (Hale et al., 2013). Further, review of RCTs suggests an improvement of chronic pain symptoms (Goldberg et al., 2018). Finally, some reviews of RCT designs support mindfulness as a suitable intervention for psychiatric symptoms (Goldberg et al., 2018), including online MBPs (Spijkerman et al., 2016). However, as explored in *Potential Adverse Effects of Mindfulness* other scholars have cautioned against this. While the majority of the research reviewed is subject to the frequent critiques explored in depth in *Current State of Mindfulness Literature*, there appears to be supporting evidence for the use of MBPs for people experiencing a range of psychological distress in adult populations.

Mindfulness is suggested to improve well-being within non-clinical adult populations. Several reviews of both RCT (Chiesa & Serretti, 2009; Spijkerman et al., 2016) and non-RCTs (Eberth & Sedlmeier, 2012; Grossman et al., 2004; Khoury et al., 2013b, 2015; Ludwig & Kabat-Zinn, 2008) have suggested that mindfulness is beneficial to the general population in improving well-being and managing everyday challenges and stress. Specifically, within non-RCT designs, MBPs have also been found to be beneficial in improving sleep patterns (Yook et al., 2008), regulation of emotions (Ludwig & Kabat-Zinn, 2008), general well-being (Eberth & Sedlmeier, 2012; Friedman, 2017), quality of life (Khoury et al., 2015), reducing

burnout (Friedman; Irving et al., 2009) and increasing compassion for self and others (Kabat-Zinn, 1990). However, some RCT studies suggest mindfulness does not improve stress more than progressive muscle relaxation (Agee et al., 2009; McCallie et al., 2006), another stress reduction strategy. While these authors suggested a longer duration to achieve a desired result, a recent meta-regression of RCTs concluded the "dose" of MBPs influences psychological outcome (Strohmaier, 2020). This narrative of a need for a higher "dose" of mindfulness is often mentioned (Bamber & Schneider, 2016; Britton, 2019; Scott-Sheldon et al., 2019). In all, these studies contribute to the overall narrative that mindfulness practices can benefit the general population while also emphasising that more research is required to understand the underlying factors that result in positive outcomes.

Several reviews and meta-analyses support the effectiveness of MBPs with general populations. These reviews include both RCT and non-RCT study designs and all suggest that mindfulness has been beneficial, holding promise for the use of mindfulness to improve well-being in general populations (Bamber & Schneider, 2016; Chiesa & Serretti, 2009; Eberth & Sedlmeier, 2012; Grossman et al., 2004). A narrative synthesis of the literature looked at 57 quantitative, intervention-based studies of stress and anxiety in college populations (Bamber & Schneider, 2016). The large majority of the studies reviewed reported significant improvements in mindfulness and significant decreases in anxiety and stress scores. While a variety of MBPs and study designs were reviewed, which may impact on the findings, it supports the use of MBPs in university populations (Bamber & Schneider, 2016). Further, the ages of participants were not reported, thus making it difficult to generalise to EA populations. Notable gaps in the literature included the limited understanding of who mindfulness is most effective for and the relationship between state and trait, also known as dispositional, mindfulness. While the narrative synthesis highlights the potential benefits of

practicing mindfulness to improve well-being it also emphasises many essential factors that are not yet understood.

There have been clear but limited qualitative findings specifically regarding mindfulness meditations. Schwind et al. (2016) ran five minute guided mindfulness practices, delivered at the beginning and end of undergraduate and postgraduate classes for eight weeks. The practices were based on both "loving-kindness" and mindfulness meditations. At the completion of the course, qualitative content analysis showed participants experienced increased feelings of calmness and groundedness, and decreased feelings of anxiety. It is difficult to make generalisations as the participant ages of these populations were not specified by the author, however, these qualitative findings highlight the potential benefits of short mindfulness practices (Schwind et al., 2016). Furthermore, this is one of the only studies in the literature that focuses purely on mindfulness meditation practice rather than MBPs and that also incorporate non-mindfulness aspects. The limited literature on mindfulness as a stand-alone phenomenon emphasises the need for more research, particularly given that it is such a highly researched area.

There is also limited research within adult populations in NZ. To date, one mixmethod study using waitlist controls has utilised MBPs for those with chronic illnesses (Mapel & Simpson, 2011). Quantitative results suggested significant improvements in psychological and physical well-being both at post-intervention and six-months follow up. Thematic analysis of interviews emphasised that participants reported an improvement in physical, psychological, and emotional health and that participants had altered their lifestyle adopting a variety of healthy behaviours (Mapel & Simpson, 2011). While these findings support the use of MBPs in NZ adults with chronic illnesses, the majority of these adults

identified as NZ European ethnicity. As NZ is a multi-cultural society, there is need for more research to reflect its diverse population.

With regard to studies using a more general adult NZ population, there is only one relatively recent published study. Granberg (2018) looked at the feasibility of app-based mindfulness to improve stress and well-being in students, with most being older than the EA age range. This RCT study found no significant changes in reported stress or mood within the seven-day intervention compared to the baseline or control group. This highlights the need for further investigation into longer-term and alternative ways to teach and deliver mindfulness, particularly within an NZ context. Further, despite this finding, given that mindfulness has been proven to be beneficial in many populations more research is warranted to understand if it is viable to mobilise a mindfulness programme within NZ.

Potential Adverse Effects of Mindfulness

Despite the ample literature supporting the use of mindfulness, some research exists on the potential adverse effects. Britton (2019) recently emphasised that within the current literature, mindfulness is often considered a phenomenon with many benefits, however few reports specifically focus on or report any adverse effects (Britton, 2019; Coronado-Montoya et al., 2016; Dimidjian & Segal, 2015; Morone et al., 2017; Wong et al., 2018). Some authors have suggested this may be due to potential publication bias of underreporting adverse experiences (Britton, 2019; Dimidjian & Segal, 2015). For example, a review of RCTs of MBPs reported that most negative findings had been subject to reporting bias (Coronado-Montoya et al., 2016). This was primarily done through selective reporting of positive findings or through conducting further sub-group analysis. A more recent review of MBPs using RCT design reported that approximately 75% of studies did not provide information on

monitoring or measuring adverse effects (Wong et al., 2018). This underreporting of adverse experiences highlights a critical issue within the literature that has potential implications for practitioners, clinicians and teachers. By demoting adverse experiences, it frames mindfulness as broadly beneficial when, in fact, it could potentially cause harm for some.

The literature remains inconclusive as to whether mindfulness may, in fact, be harmful to those with current or historic psychotic symptoms. A review of non-RCT studies suggests mindfulness can have potentially negative effects for individuals experiencing psychiatric symptoms such as psychosis, grandiosity or euphoria (Hofmann et al., 2010). Birnbaum and Birnbaum's (2004) qualitative analysis recommended against guided meditation practices for those experiencing current psychotic symptoms, including individuals with dissociative and borderline personality disorders. This is due to the potentially limited ability of these individuals to interpret reality as neurotypical people do (Birnbaum & Birnbaum, 2004). However, a review by Khoury et al. (2013b) concluded that mindfulness may have some benefits but was more effective in treating the negative symptoms of psychosis than positive symptoms. Finally, Goldberg et al. (2018) conducted a meta-analysis of RCTs on the use of MBPs for people with psychiatric disorders. They found that directly after treatment and at follow up, mindfulness improved patient outcomes more than control or minimal treatment conditions, but not more than other evidence-based treatments (Goldberg et al., 2018). These mixed results suggest caution is necessary for clinicians when considering practising mindfulness on patients with psychiatric symptoms. This literature also highlights the importance of producing research that reflects the experience of mindfulness practitioners, whether positive or negative, and is important when developing an accurate and rounded picture of the phenomenon of mindfulness.

There is little evidence to show that the practice of mindfulness has any specific negative effect on the general population; however, applying a broader definition which incorporates meditation yields some adverse impacts. Interviews of males who meditate in the community, many aligning with Buddhist traditions, reported negative experiences (Lomas et al., 2015). Accounts included exacerbation of existing mental health challenges such as anxiety and depression, and challenges managing thoughts and emotions both during and after practice. Participants attributed these experiences to a lack of knowledge and guidance of meditation techniques. Western Buddhist practitioners and teachers from a variety of traditions were interviewed in a mixed methods study investigating the contemplative experiences of meditation practitioners (Lindahl, 2017). While accounts varied, most challenges and negative experiences occurred after the participants had practiced for many years. Most reported these negative experiences had resulted in moderate to severe impairment and believed these experiences had impacted their daily life (Lindahl, 2017). Both Lindahl and Lomas's studies differ from other studies reviewed as Buddhists adopt particular values and practices, mindfulness meditation being just one of them. While the westernised view of mindfulness overlaps with Buddhism, as with MBPs there are broader factors in play. These studies highlight the importance of using qualitative methodologies to gain a richer understanding of the experiences of mindfulness practitioners and the importance of collecting data from experienced practitioners. Further, this research emphasises the importance of exploring the potential adverse effects of broad mindfulness practices in research to create a rounded understanding of mindfulness as a phenomenon.

Mindfulness with Child Populations

Due to the limited research in EA populations, it is necessary to review child literature as well as adults to create a complete picture of mindfulness to date. Some studies that suggest mindfulness may be beneficial for children. For example, a mixed-methods pilot study showed that children and adolescents aged 10-13 years reported significantly improved behavioural and emotional affect, and a decrease in depressive symptoms (Joyce et al., 2010). This significant result was largely due to improvements in children who initially reported poorer behavioural and emotional affect prior to beginning the MBP, which suggests promising results for those children who may be experiencing psychological distress. Further, qualitative interviews with teachers found mixed results in reporting children's enjoyment of the programme, although, interestingly, the children themselves were not asked (Joyce et al., 2010). This raised a critique by Newton and Ponting (2012) that there is a need to include young people's voices directly in order to comprehensively understand their experience of well-being. This critique relates to the mindfulness literature where children's voices are predominantly absent. This study highlights the importance of collecting data in a variety of forms to gain a fuller understanding of mindfulness.

There is, however, some research of mindfulness in NZ children. To date, two non-RCT studies employing a culturally adapted MBP have looked at the efficacy of mindfulness in NZ child populations. A significant increase in well-being scores pre-post intervention of children from three NZ schools implies mindfulness may be beneficial (Bernay et al., 2016). However, these levels returned to baseline at three-month follow-up, suggesting consistent practice may be necessary for lasting improvements. A smaller study comparing this MBP to an emotional literacy programme for 9-11 year olds at a single school found that both groups reported improvements in well-being scores (Devcich et al., 2017). However, only the

mindfulness group reported improved mindfulness scores and unfortunately follow up data was not collected for the emotional literacy programme. While these studies show promising results for culturally appropriate MBPs in NZ, more rigorous studies need to be conducted before an accurate understanding of this and other MBPs for children are widely implemented.

While there is some evidence to support mindfulness benefiting children, there are some methodological shortcomings within the existing literature. As MBPs are primarily carried out in classroom settings (Bernay et al., 2016; Devcich et al., 2017; Greenberg & Harris, 2012; Joyce et al., 2010), there is a limited opportunity for randomisation, which is required for RCT designs (Devcich et al., 2017; Greenberg & Harris, 2012). Further, many MBPs appear to be teacher-lead, opening research up to potential implicit bias due to preestablished teacher-child dynamics (Howard et al., 1999). Despite some studies suggesting potential benefits, two reviews have both cautioned the use of mindfulness to improve well-being in children and youth due to the methodological shortcomings of the limited number of quality studies (Greenberg & Harris, 2012; Maynard et al., 2017). Thus, while there is some evidence that mindfulness may improve some aspects of children's lives, the research is so limited it is difficult to draw any meaningful conclusions.

Mindfulness Literature Using Emerging Adult Populations

As previously identified, emergence into adulthood can be a challenging time. We now turn to the literature addressing this target population, those aged 18-25 years. Research indicates that this group is rarely targeted in the literature, which is both problematic and concerning, given the worrying mental health rates in this population (Fleming et al., 2014, 2020a,b; Ministry of Health, 2018). Unfortunately, within some studies age demographics

were not always fully stated. Therefore, for the purposes of this section, studies are included if the mean age of participants fell within 18-25 years, or the population was undergraduate students.

Emerging Adults: University Students

In the mindfulness literature, university students are often used as a sample. This is in part because university is identified as a time of increased stress (Bamber & Schneider, 2016; dos Santos et al., 2016; Kerrigan et al., 2017; O'Driscoll et al., 2019), but also possibly due to convenience sampling. Most research on mindfulness in students is with those studying in medical fields, which is not necessarily representative of the wider student or general young adult population (Bamber & Schneider, 2016). Additionally, some scholars warn against generalising results from all student to non-student samples (Hanel & Vione, 2016). Therefore, the following student sample will be reviewed with caution.

Students undertaking studies in medical and surrounding fields are generally the population targeted for studies including MBPs. This may be because the relationship between mindfulness and stress is often measured and those undertaking studies in medical fields are subject to increased levels of stress compared to other less competitive degrees (Jain et al., 2007; Malpass et al., 2019; O'Driscoll et al., 2019; Shapiro et al., 1998). An RCT of 37 medical and premedical students completed a brief MBP (Shapiro et al., 1998). The researchers deliberately timed post-intervention data collection during an exam period to ensure results accurately reflected student outcomes while under stress. Participants reported significant improvements in many areas of well-being including increased empathy and spiritual experiences. Unfortunately, the age of participants was not reported, resulting in difficulty generalising the findings to a particular age range. However, this is the only study

that has deliberately timed the program for the post-test results to be collected at a time of high stress and provides support for mindfulness being beneficial for those experiencing times of high stress such as examination periods for university students, even if it has only been practised for a relatively short period of time. This suggests it may be a useful tool for EAs to utilise when anticipating times of stress.

As emerging adulthood is identified as a time of stress, research comparing interventions is warranted to understand effective ways to improve well-being in this population. One RCT recruited students in medical or associated degrees, with a mean age of 25, to complete a modified MBSR or progressive muscle relaxation (PMR; Jacobson, 1938; Jain et al., 2007). Both mindfulness and PMR groups reported significantly increased positive affect and decreased distress compared to the control group (Jain et al., 2007). Only those in the mindfulness group reported significantly increased attention and reduced rumination compared to both the PMR and control groups. Although this study used a broad age range, many participants were within the population of interest. This indicates that mindfulness and its associated MBPs may be more beneficial than PMR for young adults. Unfortunately, there was no follow-up data collected for this sample; therefore, the long term differences remain unknown. This appears to be the only study that compares MBSR and PMR and so study replication is required, ideally with follow up data collected, to consolidate the theory that MBSR is a superior intervention to PMR.

Following the completion of a non-standardised MBP, qualitative interviews with six medical students aged 20-24 were analysed using a "framework approach" (Ritchie & Spencer, 2002) to analysis (Malpass et al., 2019). After completing a non-standardised MBP, topics such as increased well-being, resilience to stress, ability to communicate, empathy, and self-awareness were commonly expressed throughout the analysis. Participants also expressed

their motivation for attending the MBP was to overcome stress and challenges. This small study highlights common experiences and understandings of the MBP suggesting mindfulness can be perceived to be beneficial for those experiencing stress.

Another equally recent study by O'Driscoll et al. (2019) used thematic analysis to establish the core themes of focus groups to explore the possibility of integrating mindfulness into the curriculum of pharmaceutical degrees, a degree identified as highly stressful. Students were aged 18-'24+' with most students aged 18-23. A central theme was the possibility that students could use mindfulness as a coping tool. Students who incorporated mindfulness into their studies could experience benefits such as managing stress and negative emotions such as fear. Additionally, students emphasised the value of experiential learning as they felt it allowed for more in-depth understanding. At its core, mindfulness is an experience, and as such fits these students' learning preferences. This is an important consideration when planning to implement a programme as it needs to be both desirable and appealing to the intended audience. However, despite students acknowledging that they benefited from mindfulness, there was an absence of students reporting that they incorporated mindfulness into their current lifestyle after completion of MBP. Although the core themes suggest integration of a mindful practice in a university context, the researchers focused on mindfulness in the context of studying rather than the practice of mindfulness as a whole (O'Driscoll et al., 2019). Further, there is a case for opening a discussion of student perceptions of how mindfulness could help outside the university context, either in their personal life while studying or after completion of their degree, and what the experience would be for individuals to practice outside of their university setting.

It is interesting that both Malpass et al. (2019) and O'Driscoll's et al,'s (2019) studies highlighted a shared perception that mindfulness can be mobilised as a coping mechanism.

One possible reason for these findings is that mindfulness is commonly framed within a western understanding as a way to reduce negative affect such as stress (Kabat-Zinn, 1990), and is something that is often promoted within psychotherapeutic frameworks (Hayes et al., 1999; Linehan, 2001; Segal et al., 2002). While this appears to be a shared finding among these two student samples, the generalisability of data collected from medical student samples is limited and more research is needed to understand if this is a common motivation for why the general population practices mindfulness.

Stress is a prominent issue within a general EA student population, and it is essential to have skills that build and maintain well-being and resilience to stressful situations. Galante et al. (2018) conducted an RCT with students aged 18 years or older. Following a non-standardised MBP, students reported significantly increased resilience to stress. On average, those who completed the MBP reported lower levels of distress compared to controls. However, the notably high non-completion and non-response rate in the mindfulness group of 37% was not investigated, indicating these results should be interpreted with caution. This further highlights the need for more rounded research including adverse effects and understanding the human experiences of practicing mindfulness (Anderson, 2016; Crane & Williams, 2010; Hughes et al., 2013; Wood, 2009; Xia et al., 2019). Galante's (2018) study provides statistical evidence supporting the use of mindfulness and highlights the importance of capturing the essence of human experience, something that is often absent in quantitative research.

The relationship of dispositional mindfulness and improved mental health are promising for the EA population. Adults with higher levels of dispositional mindfulness generally have decreased levels of psychopathological symptoms, increased cognitive processing and less rumination, suggesting overall dispositional mindfulness contributes to

improved well-being (Tomlinson et al., 2018), suggesting it could be beneficial for an EA population. A non-intervention survey study using a sample of undergraduate psychology students, with a mean age of 19 (range not provided) measured dispositional mindfulness (Coffey & Hartman, 2008). Those with higher levels of dispositional mindfulness also reported lower levels of psychological distress and higher levels of attention, awareness and non-attachment. This positive correlation suggests that through increasing these components that are deliberately cultivated in mindfulness practices, one's dispositional level of mindfulness may also increase. Further, these relationships were mediated by emotion regulation, non-attachment and rumination, suggesting these variables contribute to one's level of dispositional mindfulness.

While there is some literature to support the use of MBPs, there is limited research on the impact of mindfulness on students who practice over a longer period of time. Research with university students also showed that more frequent mindfulness practice was associated with higher levels of state and dispositional mindfulness. A large RCT was conducted studying university psychology students with a mean age of 21 (age range was not reported) who underwent an eight-minute audio-recorded meditation or listened to a tape on education (Bravo et al., 2018). After the meditation, a significant increase in levels of both trait and state mindfulness were reported in those students with prior mindfulness experiences compared to those who were meditation naïve. That is, the more frequently mindfulness is practised, the higher the levels of reported state and dispositional mindfulness. This finding highlights the importance of conducting research on those who have practised mindfulness for longer periods of time rather than directly after completing an MBP. Research has shown this to be the only study in a young adult population to compare mindfulness experienced and naïve

individuals. This highlights the need for more research on students with an extended mindfulness practice.

Only one study has applied mixed methodology to analyse MBPs within an EA student population. Mixed methods studies allow researchers to gain a deeper insight into the experiences of participants while still collecting statistical data between variables. The RCT study was of first year students aged 18-19 (Dvořáková et al., 2017). Quantitative findings suggested statistically significant improvements in life satisfaction and lower levels of depression and anxiety compared to control participants. However other measures of mindfulness and well-being such as self-compassion and social connectedness scores were not statistically different to controls. Qualitative interviews were conducted on a sample of participants at MBP completion (Mahfouz et al., 2018). The authors found that participants described decreased stress and increased coping skills. Specifically, participants reported improvements in organisation and time management, improved emotional awareness and selfcompassion, and commitment to a healthy lifestyle including maintaining boundaries, doing activities to reduce anxiety, and making conscious decisions around food choices. These results may be more generalisable to other university students as recruitment took place across the university, not targeting people from specific degrees. These studies provide support for the idea that mindfulness may be a beneficial tool for EA students in a university context, particularly for reducing stress, enhancing well-being and building resilience. However, as no follow up data was collected on these samples, it is unknown if the participants incorporated mindfulness into their life after completion of the MBP, leaving a gap in the literature of the experiences and effects of a longer term mindfulness practice.

There have been several qualitative studies that have looked at varying aspects of mindfulness in student populations which have allowed for a deeper understanding of how

mindfulness can be helpful to students. One of the first studies to qualitatively enquire into student experiences of mindfulness, particularly in an academic setting, was that of Kerrigan et al. (2017). Ten students from varying degrees were interviewed before and after completion of an MBSR course. Participant ages were 18-29 years, with most participants having the mean age of 20 which falls within the EA demographic. Thematic and content analysis indicated students had high levels of stress, which they generally attributed to university workload. At the completion of the mindfulness course, participants reported increased awareness of being "present", practising self-compassion particularly around perfectionist tendencies, and that practising mindfulness allowed an opportunity to reflect and gain perspective on their current circumstances. This is particularly interesting as Dvořáková et al. (2017) did not find statistical evidence of improved self-compassion, highlighting the need for more research into this relationship within EA populations. Further, participants also reported improved well-being through decreased stress and anxiety and improved ability to cope with negative physical and emotional states. Finally, participants reported feeling more positive towards their studies and had increased productivity. The mean age falling within the EA demographic holds relevance for other young adult populations. This is one of the broadest and most in-depth qualitative studies to date addressing experiences of mindfulness in a student population. However, as previously discussed, MBSR contains more than pure mindfulness leaving the effect of mindfulness alone still unknown.

As NZ is a multicultural society it is important that interventions aimed at improving well-being are applicable to people from diverse cultures. There are limited MBPs that have been proven to also be beneficial to students from non-western cultures. A sample of South Korean nursing students who completed an MBSR program reported significantly greater levels of mindfulness. Additionally, the authors of this RCT found a significant decrease in

symptoms of depression, anxiety and stress compared to controls (Song & Lindquist, 2015). The sample was 81% female, with a mean age of 20 (age range was not provided). Follow up data was not collected for this study, however, the authors emphasised the need for future studies to include longitudinal data. This study provides evidence that MBPs may benefit students who are not from western cultures. In an NZ context this is highly relevant due to the multicultural landscape of our society.

Emerging Adults: Non-University Students

There is limited research using samples of EA who have medical conditions. Only two studies to date have looked at the potential benefits of mindfulness in EA with various types of cancers. A recent pilot study of a mobile-based mindfulness and social support programme was created for individuals diagnosed with sarcoma (Donovan et al., 2019). An app was created following qualitative interviews of 13-25 year old sarcoma patients which revealed three prevalent themes: participants were open to learning about mindfulness; anxiety of sarcoma recurrence; and a desire to connect with other cancer patients. Following app usage, there were no statistically significant changes in mindfulness, social support or quality of life. However, considering only 17 patients took part in this study there may not have been enough statistical power to demonstrate more subtle changes.

Another qualitative analysis of interviews was carried out following a mindfulness self-compassion course that ran over eight weeks for female young adult cancer survivors aged 18-27 (Lathren et al., 2018). Participants reported experiencing core psychosocial needs including peer isolation, health-related anxiety and concerns related to changes in their body. Descriptive qualitative analysis showed participants reported the MBP relieved these concerns in several ways including eliciting feelings of self-reliance for emotional support, self-

compassion and acceptance, and a sense of common humanity within their community. Both these studies of EA cancer populations suggest there may be potential for mindfulness to help in this population. However, as with many other studies, mindfulness was not the core component in these interventions making the specific impact of mindfulness difficult to distinguish and therefore more research in this area is warranted.

While there are few studies looking at EAs with medical conditions, a recent pilot RCT study of individuals with poorly controlled type 1 diabetes was published (Ellis et al., 2019). EAs aged 16-20 took part in an MBP and reported reduced stress at both the end of the programme and at three months follow up, but no significant improvements were found for diabetes management. The control diabetes support group did report improved diabetes management but no significant improvements in stress. This pilot study provides some support for MBPs in EAs with type 1 diabetes, however replication is needed before generalisations can be made. Although those with diabetes and cancer are unique groups of EAs who have experienced and overcome living with cancer, their concerns and anxieties bore some similarities to the concerns of young adults generally. More research is needed on diverse populations before generalisations can be made about mindfulness benefiting people who have overcome challenges with their health.

To date, most mindfulness research on young people has been on students from Eurocentric cultures, leaving the question of how people of non-European ethnicities mobilise and understand mindfulness under-represented within the literature. One of the exceptions to this is a non-RCT, mixed methods study of eight Native American youth aged 15-20 years (Le & Gobert, 2015). Participants were highly receptive to a culturally adapted MBP being integrated into their school. Compared to the start of the intervention, students reported

improved self-regulation, attention and decreased suicidal thoughts after completing the MBP.

Kerrigan et al. (2011) interviewed urban adolescents and young adults aged 13-19 years, who were all of African-American descent. Content analysis of interviews at the completion of an MBP found all participants reported experiencing significant levels of stress in their lives. All participants interviewed also reported positive and beneficial effects from the programme and experienced an increase in self-awareness and openness. Specifically, the participants reported that mindfulness helped to shift their perspectives around conflict, performance, and relationships, by approaching them with less judgement and negativity. Notably, participants reported that the MBP was not a simple solution to daily stressors, in particular they found seated meditations and practising mindfulness in their own time challenging. This finding highlights the need for mindfulness interventions and practices to be adapted for adolescents and potentially other populations. Despite this challenge, some youth felt a transformational shift for themselves and overall had positive experiences from the MBP. In a more general context, this study holds promise that mindfulness could be beneficial to young people in an everyday setting.

A recent study by Li et al. (2019) qualitatively interviewed participants aged 18-29 years, who were of Latino/a heritage and identified as lesbian, gay, bisexual, queer, or pansexual. Those with increased traits of dispositional mindfulness (Baer et al., 2008) such as awareness, non-judgemental, non-reactive, and ability to observe, reported less psychological distress which helped with coping with minority related struggles. Conversely, those who lacked these mindfulness qualities reported increased challenges including struggles with cultural and sexual identities.

Interestingly, neither Kerrigan et al. (2011) nor Le and Gobert (2015) discuss race in their papers, nor do they explore mindfulness in the context of groups subject to prejudice. However, Li et al. (2019) emphasised that minority stress (Singh et al., 2003), the perceived stress associated with identifying as part of a minority culture, is important to consider for those who identify with ethnic and sexual minority groups (Li et al, 2019.). Through acknowledging and exploring minority stress, a deeper understanding can be gained of how mindfulness can be mobilised in a culturally relevant context. While these studies provide support for culturally adapted mindfulness practices, there is need for more research of non-Eurocentric populations in order to gain a more comprehensive understanding of whether mindfulness can and should be adopted for these populations (Le & Gobert, 2015; Li et al., 2019; Song & Lindquist, 2015), or whether there are other, more culturally appropriate ways that can improve these populations' well-being. This is particularly relevant within a multicultural landscape such as NZ where Māori and Pacifica cultures make up a significant portion of our society.

Literature to date using EA populations has predominantly used as samples student and medical populations with some research conducted with minority populations. However, there is only one qualitative study to date that includes EA from a general population.

Australians aged 16-24 who either worked or studied full time were interviewed at three time points during an MBP (Monshat et al., 2013). Grounded theory methodologies were used to develop a three phase model describing participants' experiences. The first phase captures levels of distress before learning to practice mindfulness which participants associated with their life stage, particularly interpersonal relationships and educational challenges. This distress was associated with increased reactivity. Phase two detailed learning to practice mindfulness during the MBP. Participants reported finding mindfulness relaxing, generating

feelings of increased stability and increased awareness of emotions. This was specifically defined as conscious control which overlaps with reperceiving (Shapiro et al., 2006, 2009), decentering (Fresco et al., 2007), and metacognition (Shapiro et al., 2006) where one is aware of their thoughts. During this phase, between the third and fourth week of regular meditation the authors noted that three participants reported feeling strong negative emotions, but adverse experiences were not reported in the final two weeks of the course. Interestingly, details of these reports were not further analysed (Monshat, 2012), and the reason why three participants did not complete the MBP was also not addressed other than citing their time constraints, reiterating the earlier narrative that negative experiences reported in MBPs are often underreported and investigated (Britton 2019; Dimidjian & Segal, 2015). Following course completion, at phase three, participants reported an increased ability to observe themselves that ultimately influenced their behaviours. Further, they also reported feeling more open and confident to apply mindfulness techniques when facing challenges in daily life. However, this study had a small number of participants limiting the generalisability of the findings. Unlike other MBPs, this was specifically developed by the author as part of their doctoral thesis to focus solely on mindful awareness (Monshat, 2012). These findings suggest mindfulness may be a promising approach for EAs in the community who are not experiencing significant clinical distress. However, there remains a gap in the literature of how EAs mobilise mindfulness long-term outside of MBPs emphasising the need for more research.

Mindfulness in Emerging Adults in New Zealand

There has been some research on NZ populations, notably in primary schools (Bernay et al., 2016; Rix & Bernay, 2014), and in those experiencing chronic health conditions (Mapel & Simpson, 2011). These studies have yielded results which suggest that mindfulness is

potentially beneficial to the NZ population. However, there appears to be limited research on mindfulness and MBPs in NZ. Research conducted for this thesis shows there has only been one quantitative study using a simple randomised design with a control group looking at EAs in an NZ context.

One RCT study looked at the effect a mindfulness and peer-support programme had on mental health on 20 medical students aged 18-'24+', where the mean age was reported to be 21 years (Moir et al., 2016). The authors reported no significant differences between the control group and the peer-supported mindfulness group (Moir et al., 2016). However, when looking at what the authors deemed the "intervention group" it was not surprising that their findings were not statistically significant since the intervention group was considered to be anyone who took part in one of any number of activities over a six month period. For example, listening to a pre-recorded mindfulness meditation once, attending a single social event, or attending a single mindfulness session, was all that was required to be deemed a participant in the intervention group. The results of those who participated in more activities than others were not compared but could be interesting in future research, particularly comparing those who did not practice mindfulness or only practiced once, compared to those who attended more mindfulness sessions and increased their personal practice. Students in the intervention group did report increasing their personal mindfulness practice (59%), however, 13% of students in the non-intervention group also reported increased personal mindfulness (Moir et al., 2016). Details of what the students' personal practices included may be interesting for any future research done on this population. As mentioned before, the NZ population is very diverse and medical students are not an accurate representation of the wider student or wider NZ youth population and so the generalisability of these findings is limited. Unfortunately, due to the study design and interpretation of the results, it is not possible to

draw conclusions on the impact of the mindfulness component of this study on participants. Since this is the only study available which addresses mindfulness in EAs in NZ, there is a clear need for further research to be done.

State of Mindfulness Literature

The breadth of research supports the use of mindfulness through MBPs. However, there are several generalisations, limitations and critiques that need to be considered when reviewing the mindfulness literature.

As mentioned, there is more than one definition of how mindfulness is conceptualised. This is somewhat unsurprising given that mindfulness is a contemplative or experiential phenomenon that is deeply embedded in Buddhism yet has been plucked from its origins and adapted to relieve suffering of westerners. However, despite the multiple western understandings of mindfulness, studies often fail to define or analyse their chosen concept of mindfulness (Chiesa, 2013; Van Dam et al., 2018). A recent review of MBPs in samples of youth offenders aged 14-23 exemplified the ambiguity around defining mindfulness. This makes it difficult to assess its effectiveness, while highlighting the need to comprehensively understand the complex nature of how mindfulness is both perceived and mobilised (Simpson et al., 2018). While this critique was specifically directed at studies of youth offenders, this is also missing from the wider literature. This complicates the applicability of these studies and further hinders comparisons between studies and the generalisation to the wider population as, without an explicit definition, it creates a level of ambiguity around what they understand mindfulness to be.

Some scholars have cautioned the use of mindfulness due to the potential reporting bias that exists within the literature. As previously noted, non-significant or negative effects of mindfulness appear to be underreported, not published, or investigated (Britton, 2019; Coronado-Montoya et al., 2016; Dimidjian & Segal, 2015). Additionally, a common critique in the current literature is that some studies have a notably high dropout rate for those participating in MBPs (Anderson, 2016; Crane & Williams, 2010; Hughes et al., 2013; Wood, 2009; Xia et al., 2019). For example, a non-RCT study of a sample of nursing students who completed an MBP had a high dropout rate of 40% (Sanko et al., 2016). The authors attributed this to the time commitment of the study itself and home mindfulness practices. No significant changes in mindfulness scores were found pre- to post-intervention for the participants who completed the MBP. A more recent study by Kingston et al. (2020) attempted to understand if mindfulness was the active ingredient in MBPs such as ACT and MBCT which both mobilise values exploration and mindfulness. While the authors reported significant reductions in depressive symptoms in the mindfulness group, they reported a 50% attrition rate impacting on the quality of the study with reasons for participant dropout left unknown. It would be highly probable that this attrition would have impacted the study's findings and reinforces the need to understand the human experience of practising mindfulness. This highlights the need for further research around the specifics of how mindfulness works and the motivations of people who practice it.

Most studies use MBPs to assess mindfulness, analysing results using pre-post study designs. In general, these studies can be critiqued from many standpoints.

First, it is difficult to attribute results purely to mindfulness when MBPs include several non-mindfulness components, including the non-mindfulness activities previously

described as well as group dynamics and instructor influence. Therefore, the literature using MBPs assesses the effectiveness of the entire programme, and not solely mindfulness.

Secondly, studies only assess the effects of mindfulness over a short space of time, usually between six to eight weeks, with little or no follow up data collected (Eberth & Sedlmeier, 2012; Grossman et al., 2004). This limits how much is known about the lasting effects of mindfulness and how beneficial it is as a long term solution for those experiencing distress or poor well-being.

Thirdly, there is a large variation between MBPs compounding the problem of determining the effects of mindfulness. While many studies use standardised MBPs such as MBSR or MBCT, many adapt these programmes to fit time frames (Jain et al., 2007; Le & Gobert, 2015; Shapiro et al., 1998), or add in additional non-mindfulness components to the MBP such as activities to increase social support (Donovan et al., 2019; Moir et al., 2016) and self-compassion (Lathren et al., 2018).

The majority of the mindfulness literature employs quantitative methods. Grossman (2011) argues that the use of self-reported mindfulness measures depends on one's level of awareness of how mindful they are. This critique, combined with the possibility of phenomena other than mindfulness being recorded in questionnaires, potentially opens the field up to critiques around construct validity (Irving et al., 2009). As exemplified in the literature review, most studies consist of convenience sampling of university students or in a health care setting (Bamber & Schneider, 2016; Chiesa & Serretti, 2009). Neither of these samples are representative of a wider community population. Further, while many studies use RCT designs, they often are not single or double blinded, subjecting the study to bias (Akobeng, 2005; Hariton & Locascio, 2018). Finally, some reviews have highlighted the limited amount of qualitative research available (Eberth & Sedlmeier, 2012; Grossman et al.,

2004). The authors of most reviews of the literature have cautioned against wider interpretation of their results due to methodological shortcomings (Bamber & Schneider, 2016; Chiesa & Serretti, 2009; Eberth & Sedlmeier, 2012; Grossman et al., 2004; Irving et al., 2009), emphasising the need for differing methodologies to be employed in mindfulness research. While it is beyond the scope of this thesis to critique the specific self-report questionnaires used throughout the literature review, it is important to acknowledge how studies typically collect data.

Although the literature holds promise for individuals to benefit from mindfulness, the many issues within the literature emphasise the need for more diverse methodologies to be applied to mindfulness research. These prominent issues highlight the complexities of producing quality quantitative research within an experiential process such as mindfulness (Van Dam et al., 2018). The lack of quality quantitative data supports the shift to qualitative research which can allow for more in-depth understanding of the human process and experiences of mindfulness, something that is lacking within the literature.

Rationale

There are several reasons further research is required on EA experiences of mindfulness. It is well documented that at both global (WHO, 2018) and national levels (Canning et al., 2017; Fergusson et al., 2007; Fleming et al., 2014, 2020a,b; Moffitt et al., 2007) that the transition from adolescence into adulthood causes many individuals psychological distress. With the onset of mental disorders often occurring before the age of 25 (Altwaijri et al., 2020; Fergusson et al., 2007; Kessler et al., 2005; Moffitt et al., 2007; Patton et al., 2014, 2016) combined with those who experience longer or more persistent mental distress being more likely to experience recurrence later in life (Copeland et al., 2011; Moffitt

et al., 2007; Patton et al., 2014, 2016), there is a clear need for accessible and appealing initiatives or interventions for people in this age group.

In the NZ context, there has been limited research on mindfulness or its associated interventions (Bernay et al., 2016; Granberg, 2018; Moir et al., 2016; Rix & Bernay, 2014). To date, no study has exclusively looked at an EA population. As demonstrated above, the general literature supports mindfulness for improving well-being including those with medical conditions (Abbott et al., 2014; Bohlmeijer et al., 2010), those experiencing emotional distress (Goldberg et al., 2018; Khoury et al., 2015), and within general populations (Chiesa & Serretti, 2009; Spijkerman et al., 2016). However, when applied to an EA population most of the literature has used students. While MBPs appear to improve well-being in student populations, most studies use those studying in medical fields (Bamber & Morpeth, 2019; Bamber & Schneider, 2016). Few studies exist within non-student populations, highlighting the need for research with more heterogenous samples in order to understand the potential benefits and challenges of mindfulness for a variety of EA populations. Due to the limited number of quality studies, more research is needed before recommending the use of mindfulness to improve well-being and other outcomes for EAs (Greenberg & Harris, 2012).

While the general body of research supports the use of mindfulness, the literature primarily employs quantitative, pretest posttest methods of MBPs (Chiesa & Serretti, 2009; Khoury et al., 2015; Spijkerman et al., 2016). However, these studies have generally been critiqued to potentially demonstrate bias as they rely on self-reported data (Grossman, 2011; Irving et al., 2009), are rarely blinded (Akobeng, 2005; Hariton & Locascio, 2018), with negative or non-significant results not reported (Britton, 2019; Coronado-Montoya et al., 2016; Dimidjian & Segal, 2015). This potential underreporting of adverse experiences risks

the literature being reductionist in its representations of mindfulness experiences. This has led many authors to caution against the generalisability of findings (Bamber & Schneider, 2016; Chiesa & Serretti, 2009; Eberth & Sedlmeier, 2012; Grossman et al., 2004; Irving et al., 2009) and further emphasises the need to employ different methodologies to understand experiential processes such as mindfulness (Van Dam et al., 2018). Within the literature there is almost no research highlighting the human experience of mindfulness or how it is practiced and incorporated into daily life. This includes the limited amount of follow-up data collected from studies in recent literature.

The current study looks to begin to fill these gaps in the literature by attempting to capture a sample of EAs understandings and perceptions of mindfulness. Due to the limited literature on people in westernised societies who have practiced mindfulness in their daily lives, I recruited individuals who self-identified as practicing mindfulness.

Chapter 2: Methods and Methodology

This research investigates EA understandings and experiences of mindfulness. The particular focus is on the various ways in which participants defined mindfulness, how they practiced it and the reasons behind why they chose to incorporate a mindfulness practice into their lives. The research used qualitative interview design with 10 participants aged 18-25 years who self-identified as practicing mindfulness.

Ethics

Ethical approval for this project was assessed according to Massey University guidelines via Low-Risk Notification on 16 June 2019 (reference number 4000021310). This

is recorded on the Low-Risk Database which is reported in the Massey University Human Ethics Committee Annual Report. The research team comprising the author and two supervisors elected to apply for a low-risk notification for several reasons. These included that potential participants were over the age of 18 and therefore were able to give informed consent; participants volunteered for the study from their own free will; they were not in a high-risk group; and were not asked any sensitive or distressing questions. These factors clearly indicate that an individual participating in the study was not at increased risk compared to situations they may encounter in daily life.

Data Collection

Design

The main research question for this study was "what are EA understandings and perceptions of mindfulness?" Specifically, the objective was to find out how participants described mindfulness and how they practiced it. Further, I wanted to look at their motivations for practicing and in what ways they did or did not benefit from it.

Data was collected using individual interviews with a semi-structured design. This method was chosen because there is limited research on the lived experiences of individuals incorporating mindfulness into their lives. Compared to focus groups, individual interviews allow greater focus on the individual, incorporating space for open disclosure and in-depth discussion of experiences, beliefs and personal narratives (DiCicco-Bloom & Crabtree, 2006; Willig, 2013). Further, an individual interview design ensures greater confidentiality than focus groups (Farnsworth & Boon, 2010).

The interview questions were developed following a thorough search of the existing literature. A draft of potential research questions was presented and evaluated by the research

team and then amended by the author. The interview schedule (Appendix B) was designed in a semi-structured manner, with most questions being open-ended. Prompts were included in the interview schedule to be used if needed. After the first two interviews, the interview structure was reviewed based on insights gained. The only change to the schedule was the addition of a definition developed by Kabat-Zinn (1990) at the start of the interview. This was included in the interview schedule from the start of the third interview and was used to initiate dialogue around how the participant defined mindfulness. In the first interviews, participants' expressed difficulty defining mindfulness. By adding this common definition and asking participants to speak to how their understanding converges or diverges from this definition appeared to stimulate thought of their own views while simultaneously positioning that view as a specific and true reflection of their own knowledge. As I was interested in participants' views, I deliberately identified participants' perceptions and beliefs prior to asking this question in an attempt to limit the possibility of influencing their response.

Topics covered in the interview schedule included how participants learnt about mindfulness and how to practice it, what they perceived the benefits of mindfulness to be, whether there were any adverse effects of mindfulness, and their perception of what other people think about mindfulness.

Procedure

Recruitment

The aim was to interview a range of individuals aged 18-25 who self-identified with practicing mindfulness using a convenience sampling approach. The first step was to identify and contact 15 organisations in the Auckland region. These organisations were selected because they offered services which involved mindfulness, meditation or related areas such as

Buddhism, yoga and psychological services such as counselling and psychotherapy. The objective was to recruit participants who attended these organisations. Five of these organisations agreed to circulate a flyer providing information on the research (Appendix C) via email or in their newsletter. Six declined to circulate the flyer because their clients were older than the target age of the study. Four organisations did not reply.

The study was also advertised more broadly by posting the flyer on community and university notice boards in the Auckland region. Flyers were also posted on Instagram and Facebook social media pages created specifically for recruitment, and on Facebook community groups in the Auckland region, with the page administrators' permission. The target audience for the flyer was anyone who practices mindfulness, and participants were offered a \$20 voucher to compensate for travel costs and their time.

Potential participants contacted the researcher through either an email address created specifically for recruitment, or via the social media messaging system on Facebook, or through Instagram recruitment pages or a phone number listed on the flyer. Twenty-three individuals contacted the researcher using these networks to express their interest in participating or asking for more information about the study.

Once a potential participant expressed interest, an email was sent to them attaching a copy of the flyer (Appendix C) and a participant information sheet (Appendix D) containing details of the study and ethical considerations including confidentiality. The body of the email (Appendix E) thanked the participant for expressing interest in the study, asked them to read the information sheet and to contact the researcher by email or phone if they had any questions about the study. The email also contained screening questions to determine the participant's age and how long they had practised mindfulness. Twelve potential participants replied expressing interest in setting up an interview time, of which two did not have a mindfulness practice and therefore did not meet the criteria for participation. Participants

were eligible to take part in the study if they had practised mindfulness for a minimum of three months (12 weeks). The rationale behind this is that the majority of MBIs consist of eight week interventions (Eberth & Sedlmeier, 2012; Grossman et al., 2004; Kabat-Zinn, 1990). By recruiting participants who have practiced a minimum of one month over a typical MBP intervention ensured participants had integrated a mindful practice into their life, something that has rarely been studied in a western context.

The sample size was based on guidelines for qualitative research which indicate 10-20 participants is suitable for a medium sized project such as a master's research project (Clarke & Braun, 2013). While I recognise my final sample size of 10 is on the lower limit of this recommendation, the sample size was also limited due to both time constraints and access to participants who fit recruitment criteria. The timing of conducting interviews overlapped with transcribing and data familiarisation of the transcripts. This allowed me to recognise that clear commonalities were present after approximately the eighth interview. With the completion of the tenth interview the research team decided to stop interviews due to the apparent commonality between them. While these commonalities were recognised prior to analytical coding, the concept of data saturation was approached with caution due to the critiques surrounding this concept (Braun & Clarke, 2019; Fugard & Potts, 2015; Guest et al., 2006; Saunders et al., 2018). Data saturation occurs when no novel information is identified within the data (Guest et al., 2006). This concept is frequently used in qualitative research, particularly grounded theory (Bowen, 2008; Morse, 1995; Sandelowski, 1995). However, without completing a comprehensive reading and analysis of the data it is challenging to know if, in fact, your data is saturated or not (Braun & Clarke, 2019; Emmel, 2013; Guest et al., 2006; Saunders et al., 2018). While a full commentary around the concept of saturation is beyond the scope of this thesis, it was considered. As commonalities between the data were recognised and there was limited access to further interviews, analysis began after the tenth

interview. However, the option of a second phase of recruitment and interviewing was discussed if it was felt that the data was not sufficient to provide a comprehensive thematic analysis. With further analysis of the data and thematic process the research team decided that further interviews were not necessary to produce a comprehensive analysis.

Interviews

All interviews were conducted between July and November 2019. Safety and accessibility were considered when choosing interview settings. All interviews were conducted in small meeting rooms with the door closed to ensure privacy, with a table and chairs. Participants had a choice of three locations in the Auckland region: Inner City (SHORE & Whāriki Research Centre, n=3), Albany (Massey University, n=3), Takapuna (at an office space, n=4). Interviews lasted on average one hour, but varied between 45 minutes to 1.5 hours and were recorded using a *Sony PX470 Digital Voice Recorder PX Series*.

Using the information sheet (Appendix D) and written consent forms (Appendix F) as a guide, I explained the aim of the project and how the information provided by the participants could be included. Participants were given the opportunity to ask questions before signing the consent form. They were also offered the option of requesting a copy of the voice recording or transcript. During this process it was emphasised that participants had full autonomy over their involvement throughout the interview. Following the completion of a demographic information sheet (Appendix G) I began the interview by engaging in Whakawhanaungatanga (a way of establishing relationships with others which forms a sense of connection (Bishop,1995)) to build rapport with the participant. This included a brief pepeha (sharing of one's identity) that shared my family background and ethnicity. The Whakawhanaungatanga also included sharing my experience and journey of practising mindfulness establishing a shared understanding and normalisation of practising mindfulness.

This is explained in more detail below. With completion of this introduction, the participants were advised the voice recording would start and verbal consent to be recorded was gained. Following this the interview began. On completion of the interview questions, participants were given the opportunity to ask any questions or provide any final remarks or examples before the recording was stopped.

Participants

A demographic information sheet (Appendix G) was designed to gather information to accurately describe the sample, including age, disabilities, ethnicity, occupation, and how the participants chose to gender identify. All participants gave informed consent prior to the start of the interview.

Participant ages ranged from 20-25 (average 22). Of the 10 young adults who participated in the study, three identified as male and seven identified as female. No participant identified with non-binary gender. One participant identified as having bipolar disorder which they described as a disability. No other participants identified as having a disability. Participants reported a range of ethnicities as outlined in Table 1. One participant identified as Colombian (Latin) and was the only participant who identified as not being raised in NZ. This participant reported she moved to NZ three months prior to the survey, and while being fluent in English, the participant's sentence structure was not always grammatically correct. Four participants were in full-time employment while six described themselves as students. Pseudonyms were assigned to all participants at interview completion. Details of participant demographics are set out in Table 1.

Table 1Demographic Data

Pseudonym	Age (years)	Gender	Ethnicity	Occupation	Length of practice (Approximate)	Hear about study
Ella	22	Female	NZ European	Technician	8 years	Social Media
Sarah	21	Female	NZ European	Student, work part time	4 months	Flyer
Luke	22	Male	NZ/ Korean	Student, Lifeguard	3.5 months	Flyer
Sam	25	Male	British/ NZ	Student, Computer Science	4.5 years	Flyer
Emily	23	Female	Colombian (Latin)	Student	1.5 years	Flyer
Bella	20	Female	Pākehā	Student	5 years	Word of mouth
Mark	23	Male	NZ/ Russian	Student	10.5 years	Flyer
Shelly	24	Female	European/ Pākehā	Government	11.5 years	Social Media
Kate	23	Female	NZ European	Digital Producer	3 years	Social Media
Polly	24	Female	NZ European	Account Manager - Social media	6 months	Word of mouth

Holding Reflexivity

Reflexivity is the process of constantly reflecting on one's beliefs and positionings and how this influences the research process (Berger, 2015; Bott, 2010; Finlay, 2002; Mauthner & Doucet, 2003). Reflexivity acknowledges and situates the researcher within their socio-

cultural spheres, which allows the researcher to unpack views or assumptions that may influence how they interpret the research (Cunliffe & Easterby-Smith, 2004; Mauthner & Doucet, 2003). It further acknowledges that not just participants, but researchers are also located in a complex contextual environment in which their values and experiences impact how they interpret research (Finlay, 2002; Wilkinson, 1988). Throughout the construction of this project, interviews and analysis, I have been aware of my positioning in relation to the research and reflected on this using a research journal. During this process, I held in mind my cultural and social values and considered how this has shaped the project.

Prior to entering this research, I had practised mindfulness intermittently from the age of 18. I believe I have a personal investment in the topic as, like my participants, I also had learnt and practised mindfulness throughout my EA years. During my personal introduction during the interview, I described myself as a 26-year-old female who identifies as Lebanese and Pākehā who grew up in Auckland, New Zealand. I explained my previous relevant education and experiences working at a youth helpline for several years and working in a subacute mental health setting. I further explained that I practised mindfulness and meditation in my personal life, which I began after seeking help during an experience of psychological distress during my teenage years. The key reason I included this was that I wanted participants to feel both comfortable and establish this as a safe, non-judgemental space. I also used this to role model openness and vulnerability that aligned with low-risk notification protocol. Specifically, naming but not expanding on or explaining this distress modelled that although openness was valued, sensitive experiences to the individual were not to be explored. This transparency positioned me as an insider who can facilitate the perception of creating a safe, open and non-judgemental space in which participants can share their experiences and perceptions (Le Gallais, 2008). This is thought to be particularly important for conducting research with youth populations, provided that the researcher holds reflexivity

throughout their research (Hodkinson, 2005). Sharing my personal practice of mindfulness with the participants may have shaped both how I interacted with participants and how the participants approached answering interview questions.

Reflecting on how I approached the participants, I recognise it influenced the questions I asked and how they chose to respond. I wished to create an environment that felt supportive and accepting which meant I generally did not disrupt participant accounts of mindfulness or challenge their views. Throughout the interviews and analysis, I held in mind and was accepting that my views on mindfulness may differ to those of my participants. As I positioned myself as someone who was relatively recently in the EA age category and who practised mindfulness I was aware of the potential duality this may create. I previously described that I hold similar demographics and affinity towards mindfulness to many of my participants and that positioned me as an "insider" (Bolam et al., 2003; Hodkinson, 2005). However, due to the nature of qualitative interviewing and as someone who is both (slightly) older and who is researching mindfulness, I am aware of also being perceived as an "expert" or "outsider" (Bolam et al., 2003; Hodkinson, 2005). This duality potentially (and probably) influenced both what and how I asked questions and how participants responded. At times participants would suggest I held more knowledge than them on particular statements they made. I approached this with compassion and emphasised that everyone's understandings and experiences are different, and it was their experience and knowledge that I was interested in before redirecting them back to the question or topic.

Through redirecting participants in this way, I aimed to increase participants' autonomy and confidence in sharing their perceptions with me. This further aligns with a critical realist framework that I held throughout this project. The critical realist approach positions participants' knowledge as both valid and true while also considering the individual experiences that shape their understandings. This further aligned with my interview approach

of facilitating participant autonomy while also seeking to understand and contextualise their reality.

Analytic Approach

I adopted a "critical realist" framework for my analysis. Critical realism (CR) acknowledges that perceptions are situated within a socially created context (Brown et al., 2002; Fletcher, 2017; Hoddy, 2019; Oliver, 2012; Yeung, 1997). CR stands between the poles of positivism and constructivism, drawing from both approaches (Brown et al., 2002). Positivism (most often used in quantitative research) depicts a singular version of reality. whereas constructionism (often used in qualitative research) depicts multiple constructions of realities. Through adopting various qualities of both these frameworks, CR presents a useful perspective for understanding both the nature of reality (ontology) and the production of knowledge (epistemology). CR achieves this through a comparison of objective and subjective realities. Objective realities actually exist; while subjective realities are a construction of the mind. Additionally, CR also recognises that individuals experience and perceive those realities through the lens of their own complex social contexts (Fletcher, 2017; Hoddy, 2019). Within a research context, CR adds to existing forms of knowledge offering a different perspective rather than discounting or taking away other psychological and theoretical understandings (Brown et al., 2002). With most of the existing mindfulness literature to date adopting quantitative methodologies, research through a CR lens has the ability to build upon the existing literature through offering alternative and in-depth perspectives (Brown et al., 2002).

CR distinguishes itself through the fundamental assumption that human knowledge can only reveal a small proportion of a more extensive reality (Bhaskar, 1998; Fletcher, 2017; Hoddy, 2019). Specifically, CR does not disregard perceptions of reality, rather it sees reality

as fluid levels that interact to varying degrees. With CR theory, an iceberg model can be used to depict the levels of reality. The empirical level is the surface level (the part of the iceberg protruding from the water) of physically observed events and actions that are measurable and understandable. The actual level (the part of the iceberg just submerged) is a level where actions or events occur regardless of whether they are physically observed. Finally, the real level (the bottom of the iceberg) consists of causal mechanisms that are shaped by one's experiences and the environment in which they occur. This model emphasises that although there is a reality in which we create knowledge, there are underlying contextual mechanisms that impact on our empirical knowledge. Therefore, while drawing on positivist and constructivist philosophies, CR distinguishes itself through the fundamental assumption that human knowledge can only reveal a small proportion of a more extensive reality (Bhaskar, 1998; Fletcher, 2017; Hoddy, 2019). With a CR lens we are seeking to understand the truths of reality while also acknowledging there may be other versions of these truths.

A critical realist approach allows consideration of factors impacting on participant perceptions and how this affects their understanding of what mindfulness is and how they practice it. This is important, particularly when making claims about the research findings. Through holding a CR lens to this analysis, both semantic and latent interpretations of the data can be explored, providing a greater depth of understanding (Fletcher, 2017; Hoddy, 2019). Throughout the analytic process I sought to contextualise the data seeking to understand participants' perceptions.

On a practical note, I sought to incorporate CR throughout the research process. Although there is currently minimal methodological development and practical guidance of incorporating CR into qualitative research (Fletcher 2017; Hoddy, 2019; Oliver 2012) I aimed to hold a CR lens throughout my project. While both Fletcher and Hoddy present some practical guidance for conducting qualitative research using CR ontology and epistemology,

neither applied the CR framework to thematic analysis (TA), leaving some ambiguity of how to do this. In the analytic procedure below, I outline how I attempted to hold this lens, particularly through the coding phase of my analysis. However, I primarily maintained the use of a CR lens through the use of reflexive journaling by consciously reflecting and questioning both my positioning as a researcher and the contextual landscape of my participants. For example, as I constructed the interview schedule I recognised my approach was based on my understanding of mindfulness, both my own experience and the mostly quantitative literature. Through acknowledging how I contextualised my understanding of mindfulness I was able to ensure my interview schedule allowed space to explore areas that were not frequently discussed within the literature, such as negative experiences of mindfulness and the breadth of what can be considered mindfulness. Further, when analysing transcripts, I used reflexive journaling as a tool to consider the contextual elements of the participants' accounts while also reflecting on possible alternative interpretations and considering how this fits within CR epistemology and ontology. In this way I was able to hold a CR lens for the entirety of my analysis.

Analytic Procedure

The data was transcribed verbatim using orthographic transcription (Lapdat, 1999).

All spoken words, including repetitions, were included except minimal encouragers, interjections, and marked pauses in the dialogue as they were not considered to be of importance for analysis. Transcripts were anonymised by allocating pseudonyms to each participant and generically referring to any identifying information of locations, services and other people they referred to.

Reflexive TA was used for data analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2006, 2012). This analytical approach is useful for a range of epistemological and theoretical approaches

(Clarke & Braun, 2013) where core themes or patterns are identified and used to answer the research questions. TA was chosen as an analytical framework as there is limited literature about how people understand and experience mindfulness, particularly in an EA and non-MBI specific population. Due to the relatively unexplored area of lived experiences of how and when mindfulness is practised, TA is an appropriate analytical method to gain a rich understanding of the data as it allows for both a surface level and more in-depth reading of the data (Braun & Clarke, 2006; Clarke & Braun, 2013). By identifying and analysing key themes from the data it is possible to begin to unravel the growing phenomenon of mindfulness and gain a deeper understanding of the empirical literature through providing humanistic accounts.

Analysis of the data followed the six phases of TA recommended by Braun and Clarke (2006). I began with familiarising myself with the data through listening to the interviews and reading the transcripts several times. Once I was comfortable with the transcripts, the process of "coding" began. The current literature offers little procedural direction regarding coding within a CR framework (Fletcher, 2016; Hoddy, 2019). While both Fletcher and Hoddy have operationalised CR techniques to qualitative research, neither used a thematic framework for analysis. Because of this, their studies were used as a loose framework of how to apply CR to the qualitative methodology of thematic analysis. Aligned with both Fletcher and Hoddy's work, semantic (explicit) codes were initially focused on how, what and when mindfulness is practised. Within a CR context, the empirical level, or the tip of the iceberg was the focus of coding. Following this, transcripts were further reassessed to identify more implicit codes that included a close look at the language used which may have been overlooked on the first code. These re-reads were focused on the actual and real level of CR, or, using the iceberg analogy, the levels that are under the water's surface. This coding phase was critical for ensuring CR ontology and epistemology was embedded within the analysis.

After reviewing the transcripts and codes I then moved on to "generating initial themes" which involved grouping the codes which had a shared meaning. Through this initial process, there were 10 candidate themes and 37 sub-themes which were given preliminary names. These were written out on a mind-map to help recognise and clarify similarities and differences between the themes and sub-themes. Following discussion with the research team, reviewed themes were developed which included merging some candidate themes together and splitting others apart. After further review of the data and candidates, four themes were finalised that included eleven sub-themes. Table 2, in the analysis chapter, acts as a visual guide to aid readers in understanding the relationships between themes and sub-themes. Themes were written up, refined and consolidated as part of the thematic analytic process building an increasingly cohesive narrative centred around answering the research questions. With a final review by the research team, names were adjusted to accurately reflect themes. During the writing up phase of analysis, quotes were modified to aid readability without removing meaning from quotes. Horizontal ellipses ... were used where participants have repeated themselves or when they had used filler words during the interview. Square brackets [] were used where words have been adjusted to fit the context of the analysis or where words have been removed. Quotation and question marks were added to transcripts to reflect changes in intonation where participants articulated thoughts and questions they asked themselves during their practice. This was only done to aid readability or to focus the reader on the core component of the quote as many participants spoke to multiple elements of mindfulness at a time. As in CR, contextual elements are seen as important, and by not modifying quotes for readability until the write up, I was able to ensure contextual elements of quotes remained unchanged throughout the analysis.

Chapter 3: Analysis

Introduction and Overview

In Chapters 1 and 2, I outlined my rationale and motivations for undertaking this

research. This included reviewing relevant literature to contextualise my aims and

methodology. The literature also framed and contextualised my analysis and the analytic

presentation which follows and focuses on answering my research questions: how do a

sample of EAs living in NZ understand and perceive mindfulness?

The introduction of my analysis provides an explicit summary of the range of

activities and practices participants considered to be part of their mindfulness practice. This is

followed by a brief summary of participants' motivations for beginning mindfulness and their

views on the intersections of mindfulness, religion and spirituality. While unpacking these

various understandings was not a focal point of my analysis, I have included it as it is both

interesting and important to acknowledge how participants' understandings of these concepts

varied. This sets the scene for the thematic analysis which addresses the more implicit ways

in which participants explored their understandings and practices.

The Mindfulness Umbrella: How Participants Practised

How participants described their mindfulness practises varied greatly. The "big

umbrella of mindfulness" was how Kate explained her understanding of mindfulness,

depicting it as a broad, encompassing term to describe many practices, aligning with others'

descriptions and understandings of mindfulness. All participants reported one of the main

ways they practiced mindfulness was to "apply" it (Kate, Mark, Sam) to "everyday" (Kate,

59

Polly, Sam, Shelly) life or on a "day to day" (Bella, Mark, Shelly) basis. While many participants reported practicing meditation (Bella, Emily, Kate, Luke, Mark, Sam, Sarah), they all reported practicing in different ways. Many participants reported using guided meditations (Sam) via an App (Kate, Sam), via Facebook groups (Emily), and CDs (Mark). Participants also reported practicing non-guided meditations (Bella, Luke, Sarah). Some participants described meditation-like activities during which they focused on their "senses" (Ella, Kate, Polly, Shelly), while only one explicitly stated they used "body scan" (Sam) meditations. Journaling was another common way participants reported practicing mindfulness, describing this as a way of "checking in with myself" (Kate), "reflect[ing] back" (Ella), using it to "process" various things (Mark) and a way to help to gain "perspective" (Luke). Participants reported "mindful eating" (Polly) and "focus[ing]" on eating (Emily) as a mindfulness practice. Many participants identified a type of exercise or movement as a mindfulness activity. These included doing yoga (Bella, Sam, Sarah) or "body balance classes" (Polly), walking (Ella, Emily, Sam, Shelly), or running (Emily, Sarah). Kate reflected that she feels she is at her "most mindful" when doing exercise. Other mindful activities participants identified included "fire dancing" (Sam), gardening (Mark), photography (Ella, Sarah), music (Bella), and painting with watercolours (Bella).

Participants reported engaging in a range of formal and informal training. Most participants reported using electronic sources to access information about mindfulness including the internet (Bella, Kate, Polly) and Google (Sarah, Shelly). More specifically, sources such as YouTube (Emily, Sam, Shelly), Facebook (Emily) and the use of an App (Kate, Sam, Sarah) were used for finding information and accessing guided meditations. Mark reported using CDs to access guided meditations, and Polly searched books to learn about mindfulness and Buddhism. Participants also reported learning through various courses run through a local Community Centre (Mark), volunteer programmes (Emily) and church

(Luke). Several participants referred to learning mindfulness "in therapy" (Kate, Shelly) or "public mental health" (Ella, Shelly) settings. Of these participants, only Kate stated that she had done "Acceptance and Commitment Therapy". The others did not define the type of therapies they experienced.

The regularity of mindfulness practice varied greatly among participants. They described drawing on it when they felt they needed it, from many times throughout the day to several times a week. Participants reported practicing mindfulness for periods from three months up to 14 years. Some participants who had practiced mindfulness for many years also reported they had taken breaks from their mindfulness practices altogether although none specified the period of time they took a break from their practice. All participants reported that they intended to practice mindfulness "long term" (Bella, Kate, Sarah). The ambiguity around both what mindfulness is and how it is practiced has previously been documented in the literature (Chiesa, 2013; Simpson et al., 2018; Van Dam et al., 2018) and is somewhat reflected by the breadth of how participants practice mindfulness. While many practices described above would not be practiced in MBPs, recent evidence suggests that self-reported mindfulness levels can increase even when participating in activities where mindfulness skills are not explicitly taught (Xia et al., 2019). This supports the notion of mindfulness being an umbrella term, covering a spectrum of practices.

Experiences of Distress: Motivation for Learning

Participants identified a generalized world view that normalized a sense of struggle throughout their adolescent and EA years. For example, Ella reflected on her belief that "noone comes out of adolescence unscathed." Bella made a similar comment saying "everyone experiences a lot of emotional difficulty," suggesting a similar world view to Ella but with a

more general age range. Other participants reported struggling with societal pressure, for example Luke spoke of "high expectations at this age range, from 20 to 30, to get married, and then get a good job, and stuff like that." These comments suggest that while participants recognise their own sense of challenge and struggle throughout their current life stage, they also acknowledge their belief that this is a somewhat universal experience for people in this age category. The concept that this stage of youth and emerging adulthood is challenging on people's mental health is reflected in the mental health and well-being statistics (Fleming et al., 2014, 2020a,b; WHO, 2018).

Commonalities existed around participants' discovery and motivation for learning mindfulness. The most frequently referenced reason was that they had experienced "emotional struggles" (Bella), and were seeking a way to "deal" (Bella, Mark, Sarah) with these. Participants described searching for a mechanism to help them cope when they were "depressed" (Emily), or "really anxious" (Kate) or when they were looking for a way to "cope with stress" (Luke, Sarah). Some participants reported coming across mindfulness when they were looking for a way to cope with new situations.

For example, Mark, who was home-schooled at the time he started practising mindfulness, reported looking for a way to help when "dealing with groups and exams, both of which were kind of new things for me." Similarly, Sam reported beginning mindfulness at a time when he was "transitioning from going to a Christian school into university" where he was "re-analysing all [his] beliefs." Polly reported mindfulness was "a little bit hard-wired into my personality type," and that she was drawn to it because she has "always had an interest in psychology and mental health." Two participants disclosed they had learnt about mindfulness from being referred to the "public mental health system" (Ella) as they were struggling with "panic attacks" (Ella) and experiences of "trauma" (Shelly). Finally, Luke

described attending a mindfulness course at church and after practising realizing that he "really enjoyed and needed" it as he was under a lot of "pressure" and "stress".

Participants talk around struggles during adolescence and EA echoes the first phase of distress and reactivity in Monshat et al.'s (2013) grounded theory analysis where participants reported experiencing distress prior to engaging with mindfulness. However, unlike Monshat et al. (2013), in the current study, becoming less "reactive" (Ella, Sam) was only occasionally mentioned when participants reflected their mental state before practicing mindfulness. This differs from some qualitative findings where decreased reactivity has been a central part of analysis (Dos et al., 2016).

Mindfulness, Religion and Spirituality

Participants were asked about their understanding and experiences of Buddhism in relation to mindfulness. Most reported they did not know much about Buddhism but expressed either a desire to learn about it or had not realised mindfulness was based in ancient practice. When Ella was asked if she felt it was important or necessary for people who practice mindfulness to learn about Buddhism, she divided participants into two groups:

It depends on the person, I guess. Some people don't look too deeply into the origins of anything that they're doing. Some people are more fascinated about "why am I doing this? Let's look deeper into it." So I guess it just really depends on the person.

Someone's just, "I just want to fix it." Some people like trying to figure out a lot more [about] what they're trying to do and why they're doing it and where it came from.

Aligned with Ella's description, most participants seemed to be looking at mindfulness as a way to alleviate a negative emotion or a way to "fix" something. Some participants reported a desire or interest to "look into it" (Shelly) but to date had not.

The participants who had researched Buddhism reported "useful insights into what's actually going on and [...] that [it] gives you tools that you can use to deal with certain emotions or feelings" (Sam). Polly described how learning Buddhist teachings while learning mindfulness had taught her about "being accountable" and "taking ownership of [her] circumstances." However, Bella reflected that while she "liked [and knew a lot about] the Buddhist teachings" she found it difficult "trying to navigate ... the normal world that [she lives in] while holding those thoughts." Here Bella voices the common perception that Buddhist teachings were "high up in the air [and] hard to relate to everyday living" (Polly).

All three participants who identified as religious at the time of the interview reported that their faith aligned with a derivative of Christianity. It is of particular note that these participants largely described mindfulness as having strengthened their non-Buddhist religious practices. For example, Sarah who identified as "Christian", described that she "found prayers to be quite mindful." She even described that she has intertwined her daily prayer with her mindfulness practice which she called "Pre-Dawn Prayer." Sarah does this daily as it "just kills two birds with one stone for me." Luke, who identified as "Latter Day Saints" defined spirituality as "feeling that guidance and peace." He also reflected that, "When I do practice mindfulness, sometimes, but not ... all of the time, I do feel spirituality." Finally, Emily described herself as Catholic although prior to learning about mindfulness had believed that "God was a bad guy":

I think that with meditation, with mindfulness - a key for me [which] helped me to be in the present [...] with God, feel him, will trust him, to have faith.

Emily is explaining that through learning mindfulness and meditation she has been able to believe in and trust God. Although it is outside the scope of this research to comprehensively investigate the participants' understanding of how spirituality relates to mindfulness, this is clearly a complex and interesting intersection that warrants future investigation.

A Note Prior to Analysis

As previously outlined, mindfulness both within the literature and for participants in the current study it is a broad concept encompassing a variety of applicable techniques and experiences. While participants were generally able to articulate their understandings, perceptions and mobilisations of mindfulness, these often overlapped. Specifically, participants generally referred to "mindfulness" rather than explicitly describing their modality of mindfulness such as formal (for example, meditation) or informal (for example, a mindfulness activity). As described in my reflexivity section, because I sought to create a space where participants were heard I often did not interrupt participants to seek these clarifications. Furthermore, as detailed above, participants often described a variety of mindfulness practices. While this leads to some potential ambiguity as to what version of mindfulness participants spoke about at times, the following analysis thematically highlights the core ways mindfulness was understood, regardless of modality.

It is also worth noting that, at times, participants struggled to articulate particular experiences or perceptions they had regarding mindfulness. For example, although participants often spoke about the benefits of focusing on their ability to pay attention, when I asked them to elaborate on what they thought was helpful about this they often struggled to

clearly articulate their answers. One way in which participants attempted to describe this was through explaining an "energy" (Emily) they felt when they practiced mindfulness. Shelly elaborated on how she has tried to explain mindfulness to others:

It's a whole other level of... knowing what that means, to actually understand it because it's not just breathing. It's like your whole energy that comes from your mind and your thoughts... You know? ... So it's not just taking a break, it's not... breathing like normal. It's... physically thinking in your mind of the positives that can come from you, breathing for it. ...[there is] a lot more that people need to understand... when therapists say you can just breathe through it.

Here, Shelly attempts to explain her complex experiences of mindfulness. Where she refers to "it's a whole other level" she is referencing the complexities of the experiential nature of mindfulness and that in order to "understand it" you need to have practiced it. Shelly's quote highlights the complexities and challenges participants faced when trying to articulate mindfulness. Some participants prefaced their response to questions in ways that also depicted this challenge in articulating the intricacies of mindfulness. For example, Sarah stated:

It's a little hard to explain, I guess that's why I've been really vague about it.

Comments such as these highlight the challenge in exploring the experiential nature of mindfulness, suggesting that it is both complex and multifaceted. These comments emphasise the importance of unpacking conceptualisations and mobilisations of mindfulness through qualitative research.

Thematic Overview

Table 2 shows the thematic outline of my analysis. My analysis is comprised of four themes with eleven sub-themes. These themes reflect participant perceptions and mobilisations of mindfulness while also answering my research questions around the intricacies of their understandings. The first three themes unpack participant mobilisations of mindfulness, the actual cognitive process and what participants do when they say they are practicing mindfulness. The first theme, *Be Focused Right Now: Attentional Awareness*, looks at the attentional components of mindfulness that participants described as pivotal to their practice. This theme includes two sub-themes – *Interoceptive Attention of Breath* and *Exteroceptive Attention Towards One's Senses*.

The second theme, *Metacognitively Mindful*, explores the metacognitive process participants used during their mindfulness practice. This theme includes the sub-themes of *Acceptance of Thought; Struggles with Acceptance; Impermanence: To Aid Acceptance; Challenge of Impermanence;* and the final sub-theme in *Metacognitively Mindful* is "Control the thought of the thought": *Metacognitive Control*. This is particularly interesting as participants reported using metacognition to create feelings of control.

The third theme, *Mindfully Processing and Problem Solving*, includes the sub-theme *Mindfulness as a Coping Mechanism*. The final theme, *Part of Everyday Life*, looks at how participants explored mindfulness to be a broader phenomenon than their specific mindfulness practices. The first sub-theme is *Mindfulness is Intrinsic: People Naturally Have Varying Levels*, looks at participants' views of intrinsic levels of mindfulness; the second sub-theme, "*It's a lot more than what you originally think it is*": *Shift in Understanding Mindfulness*, addresses their shift in broadening their perception of mindfulness; and finally *Self*-

responsibilised Well-being, considers how through learning and practicing mindfulness they feel able to take responsibility of their own well-being.

Prior to diving into the analysis, I would like to introduce an analogy of how the participants used and understood mindfulness. Imagine you are learning tennis for the first time and learning all the different ways in which the ball can be struck. It feels somewhat forced and unnatural learning how to hold the racket, position your body and swing the racket to make contact with the ball. Over time and with continued practice the different types of shot become easier and a flow begins to develop. Some days on the court things will flow and feel smooth and seamless, and on others you feel like you are starting again. Eventually, with practice and time, you feel able to play effortlessly, drawing on your various shots when a ball comes towards you. Now in the context of the thematic analysis, imagine the various types of shot are the various types of ways participants describe their mindfulness practice. Say for example, the forehand represents cultivating Attentional Awareness, a backhand represents Metacognitively Mindful and a volley symbolises Mindfully Processing and Problem Solving. To a person naïve to the intricacies of tennis, when comparing the different ways in which players strike the ball, one may think they are all the same. However, when analysed, subtle differences emerge such as the grip of the racket, the trajectory of the swing and the player's stance and gaze. It is similar for mindfulness: while two participants may have a similar mindfulness practice, their underlying understandings and ways they mobilise mindfulness may differ. I attempt to unpack these subtleties in similarities and differences in how people understand and practice mindfulness throughout the analysis.

Table 2

Thematic Outline of Analysis

Theme	Sub-theme
Be Focused Right Now:	Interoceptive Attention of Breath
Attentional Awareness	Exteroceptive Attention Towards One's Senses
Metacognitively Mindful	Acceptance of Thought
	Struggles with Acceptance
	Impermanence: To Aid Acceptance
	Challenge of Impermanence
	"Control the thought of the thought": Metacognitive Control
Mindfully Processing and	Mindfulness as a Coping Mechanism
Problem Solving	
Part of Everyday Life	Mindfulness is Intrinsic: People Naturally Have Varying
	Levels
	"It's a lot more than what you originally think it is": Shift in
	Understanding Mindfulness
	Self-responsibilised Well-being

Finally, continuing the tennis analogy, any of these shots can be mobilised to create a game and a shared overarching understanding as is described in *Part of Everyday Life*. The same principle applies with mindfulness, where one can draw on any number of techniques to create a mindfulness practice that can be used to suit the current situation. As with mindfulness, there is no 'right' or 'wrong' way to play tennis, however, there are ways that are more often utilised or recommended by coaches or professionals compared to others.

Theme One: Be Focused Right Now: Attentional Awareness

This theme reflects the overall nature of how participants speak of their understanding that mindfulness is both achieved and experienced through cultivating a sense of focused attention. This was brought about by having a concentrated awareness on one particular item, whether it was a bodily sensation, a thought or emotion, an activity, or something occurring in their environment. Ways participants described this was by being "focused" (Bella, Emily,

Kate, Polly, Sam) on a particular thing such as the "present" (Emily, Luke, Mark, Sarah, Shelly) or current "moment" (Bella, Ella, Emily, Kate, Polly, Sam, Shelly). Participants communicated that by cultivating a concentrated attention they were practising a type of mindfulness. For example, Luke explained, "the biggest part for me, is the focus on one thing." Luke is suggesting that, for him, like many other participants, focused attention is the primary component of mindfulness. Emily further explored this when describing her regular evening mindfulness meditation:

Sometimes there's a lot of things in my mind, like it's the end of the day. So I'm a little distracted for all my thoughts. But then, I start to focus on my breathing, and I start to focus on if I'm feeling some pain in my body, or if I'm feeling cold or warm, or what it's telling me, my body.

Here Emily is explaining how she practices mindfulness through creating a concentrated focus on her breath, and then her body. Through doing this, as she begins her description of her practice, Emily implies she is able to quieten her mind by explaining there are often "a lot of things" in her mind. This idea of being able to "tune in" (Sam) to yourself or your current experience and "tune out" (Sam) of your thoughts was commonly expressed by participants.

The meaning behind these excerpts are typical examples of how mindfulness is described within the literature. This idea of holding attention on a single component is synonymous with the literature on the theories of mindfulness including Kabat-Zinn's (1994) definition used to begin the interview with participants. It is also described as *self-regulation of attention* in Bishop et al.'s (2004) operational definition of mindfulness, and attention is the second component of Shapiro et al.'s (2006) mechanisms of mindfulness. Further, awareness

of one's thoughts and where they are focusing their attention is generally a core element taught in MBPs (Chiesa & Serretti, 2009; Crane et al., 2017; Keng et al., 2011; Renshaw et al., 2017) including MBSR (Kabat-Zinn, 1990); ACT (Hayes et al., 1999) and MBCT (Segal et al., 2002). It is also a core component in many mindfulness scales such as the MAAS (Brown & Ryan, 2003); FMI (Zenner et al., 2014); CAMS-R (Feldman et al., 2007) and TMS (Lau et al., 2006). As attentional components of mindfulness are so commonly described within the literature it is not surprising participants framed this as a pinnacle part of their mindfulness practice.

Throughout the analysis of this theme I became increasingly aware of the differences and similarities within the literature between attention and awareness. As outlined in the introductory chapter, definitions of mindfulness and its associated jargon often rely on the reader's interpretation. To clarify for this analysis, when I use the word "attention" I am specifically referring to applying attention to something so it becomes the main thing within the scope of awareness. Additionally, when using the word "awareness" I am referring to a more general sense of attention that is not necessarily focused on one specific thing. As set out above, participants generally described a sense of focus, aligning with how I have described attention. However, at times participants also spoke more broadly about awareness. For example, while exploring their understanding of Kabat Zinn's definition of mindfulness, some participants added words such as "observing" (Sam) which aligns with how I have clarified my use of the word awareness. Another interesting example of how participants broadly described awareness was demonstrated by Mark:

Paying attention, certainly, and occasionally, for me, mindfulness appears to be not paying attention to something, but I guess that's just an illusion.

While Mark is acknowledging the regulation of attention, he is also adding that at times mindfulness can also be "not paying attention to something." By Mark conveying this may be an "illusion" he suggests that while practicing he may be noticing something in his awareness but not focusing his attention on it. These quotes are examples of how participants briefly explored the concept of awareness. However, as further demonstrated below, the definition of attention was much more comprehensively explored by participants.

Participants primarily reported cultivating mindfulness in two key ways. These are through a focused attention on grounding sensations such as focusing on your senses, or through focusing on particular stimuli such as your breath. Prior to unpacking these distinct methods of cultivating experiences of mindfulness we explore how participants more generally spoke to understanding attentional awareness during their mindfulness practices. For example, Polly expressed her experience of refocusing as follows:

It can ground you, so [while] your mind is wandering, be focused right now.

Here, Polly is quite explicitly describing that she understands mindfulness as recognising that your mind is straying from the intentional focus point and shifting that awareness back to the originally intended focus. This statement quite clearly frames the process of refocusing her thoughts as a critical way in which Polly understands mindfulness. While some participants unpacked their understanding of attentional awareness in a straightforward manner, others, such as Sam, explored it more comprehensively:

I think I could summarize it with presence. ...it's like being in the moment, so not thinking about the past or the future, and not thinking about... other places..., but just,

being aware of where you are now. And kind of paying more attention to that side of things, rather than everything else.

In this excerpt, Sam describes what "being in the moment" means to him which he further describes as actively not thinking about various things that are not occurring at the moment. In his last sentence, he is alluding to his awareness of his stream of consciousness and recognizing that mindfulness is "paying more attention" to the thoughts associated with the present moment rather than other thoughts that may also be occurring simultaneously. This experience of being "taken out of the moment" (Kate), or noticing your "mind wandering" (Polly) from the present moment was further explored by several participants. Within Buddhist literature the idea of shifting awareness is often referred to as the "monkey mind" (Carr, 1993, p. 149). This metaphor encapsulates the idea that the mind is restless and busy, like a monkey switching its attention from one thing to another (Carr, 1993; Suzuki, 2020). One is said to be able to tame the monkey mind through practising mindfulness by gently bringing attention back to the present moment. Some participants spoke of this as something they did not understand when they first started practicing mindfulness. For example, Kate reflected on when she was first learning about noticing her mind wandering:

I do remember them saying... it's totally normal to be taken out of the moment and distracting thoughts, but it's about bringing yourself back into the moment. And so... I think hearing that, "oh, yeah, it's actually totally normal to go out and come back", and... it's fine for it to happen a million times. It's just that every time that you notice it, bring yourself back, and I was like, "Oh!"

Here, Kate was recalling a moment of realization while she was learning about mindfulness. She had sought advice from her therapist about the app that she used as she was struggling to bring her mind back to the present moment. This concept of shifting awareness back to the present moment or an anchor point was not clear to her or other participants when they first started, which led them to feel they "just didn't understand" (Shelly) or that their practice was "sometimes ... not working" (Emily). These challenges described by participants loosely aligns with Lindahl et al.'s (2017) challenges with executive functioning. Lindahl described that participants reported feeling unable to concentrate for extended periods of time. A key point of difference between this study and Lindahl's (2017) is that their participants were primarily adult Buddhist meditators. There appears to be no literature on the challenges experienced in the early stages of learning mindfulness. All participants in the present study described that with practice and further understanding it was normal to experience their minds drifting from their focus point. This raises an important point that there is limited research on adverse effects and challenges of mindfulness (Lindahl et al., 2017, 2019; Baer et al., 2019) and is an area that needs to be more comprehensively explored in future studies.

As described above and in general practice of mindfulness people notice their mind shifting from a point of awareness, acknowledge the shift, and then bring their mind back to the present moment (Bishop et al., 2004; Chiesa & Malinowski, 2011; Shapiro et al., 2006). One participant described an alternative way of doing this. While Luke reflected on his understanding of mindfulness, he drew from his experience of an "exercise" he did while learning about mindfulness at his church. This experience consisted of him eating a "fruit burst" - a lolly - where "your job was to solely think about eating the fruit burst and nothing else, and just think about... what the flavour is and how it feels." Luke's description aligns with the MBCT "raisin exercise" (Segal & Teasdale, 2018, p. 111) where an instruction is given to focus on various elements of a raisin, engaging various senses. Within an MBCT

framework this exercise is used to raise awareness of the difference between focused attention and automatic pilot and that focusing on even mundane items can reveal detail we would have otherwise not recognised. While this exercise is an example of cultivating focused attention, how Luke describes his understanding of mindfulness suggests he may have an alternative understanding to other participants:

Luke: But it was a very similar definition of when we were doing the exercise. That's what we were thinking about, about not being judgmental, and about trying to blank out. Does that make sense to you?

Interviewer: Yeah, what do you mean by blank out?

Luke: Um, to not have... other thoughts come in and only focus on the thing that you're thinking about. Thinking about being in the present. And thinking about how you're feeling right now. Instead of worrying about, oh, I've got... this due tomorrow. Or I've got this problem at home? So yeah, pretty similar.

Luke is explaining his understanding of mindfulness, expanding on the quote from Kabat-Zinn, recognizing the concepts of focused attention which he experienced in "the exercise", "being in the present" and "not being judgemental". Essentially, Luke's explanation of what he means by "trying to blank out" possibly shows a non-acceptance of other thoughts entering his awareness, notably where he explains it as "to not have, like, other thoughts come in." This suggests an element of potentially suppressing thoughts rather than acknowledging them and redirecting the mind back to the focus point. Within the literature, recognising a stream of consciousness and the concept of one's mind wandering is frequently discussed as a natural part of mindfulness (Bishop et al., 2004; Kabat Zinn, 1990) while the neurological mechanisms of the shifting of awareness are also frequently investigated (Farb et

al., 2007; Siegel, 2007; Vago & Zeidan, 2016). However, Luke's description of blocking out his thoughts appears to align more with the concept of experiential avoidance (Hayes et al., 2004) which describes a reluctance to experience cognitions and attempts to adjust these (Mitmansgruber et al., 2009). This is interesting as it intersects with the later sub-theme of *Metacognitive Control*.

Of note was that participants described the importance of paying attention to the present moment and described two techniques that particularly helped them with this. As these distinctions are not consistently referred to in the current literature, there is no name or phrase that describes these. Therefore, I have adopted two terms from the cognitive attention literature; introspective and exteroceptive (Farb et al., 2013a,b; Fox et al., 2012; Liottel et al., 2001; Mirams et al., 2012; Ryan & Deci, 2000; Smith et al., 2006). Interoceptive attention is the awareness towards the internal state of one's body (Farb et al., 2013a,b; Fox et al., 2012; Liottel et al., 2001), such as attention on one's breath. In contrast, exteroceptive attention is the awareness of stimuli outside of one's body (Farb et al., 2013a; Ryan & Deci, 2000), such as attention towards one's senses.

While the majority of this literature is not directly relevant to this theme and unpacking it is outside the scope of this thesis, these terms are accurate ways participants spoke to mobilising these two types of focused attention. Therefore, when referring to interoceptive and exteroceptive attention, I will be specifically referring to how I have defined them above.

Sub-theme: Interoceptive Attention of Breath

Participants frequently described using a single internal focal point as their primary way of maintaining focused attention. Bringing their attention to their "breath" (Bella, Ella, Emily, Kate, Mark, Polly, Sam, Sarah, Shelly) was frequently explored by participants. While

some participants stated they "just breathe" (Emily, Sarah, Shelly), they also conveyed that they practiced mindfulness through "watching" (Mark), "being conscious" (Emily), or "focusing on the breath" (Emily, Mark, Polly, Sam). This focus on bodily signals is sometimes referred to as "interoception" (Harshaw, 2015). Maintaining a focus on an internal stimuli such as the breath is commonly referred to as an anchor point (Bishop et al., 2004; Cardoso et al., 2004; Kabat-Zinn, 1982; Michalak et al., 2012; Van Gordon et al., 2015). The anchor point symbolizes an anchor on the seafloor holding a boat in a particular location regardless of the sea conditions. This imagery acts as a metaphor of how mindfulness works, where, through focusing on a single thing, regardless of the busyness of your mind, you are able to remain in a single place, the present moment. While this metaphor was not used explicitly by participants, it depicts how participants described focusing on a single point as a pinnacle part of their practice.

It is worth noting that some participants also mentioned they practiced "breathing exercises" (Kate, Shelly), suggesting not just a focus on but also potentially consciously adjusting their usual respiration rate. These participants described this breathing as different to how they usually breathe day to day. It was evident that participants changed their breath by "slowing [it] down" (Kate) and "breathing into your belly" (Shelly) rather than "down to your chest" (Shelly). These statements create an interesting dichotomy, as while participants primarily described this "focus on breathing" (Bella), it appears that for some participants, there is also an element of changing their breath while practicing mindfulness rather than simply observing it.

Participants frequently discussed at length that they felt a focus on their breath was a "core element" (Sam) of their practice and emphasised it was something they found to be particularly helpful. When I asked Emily what she thought was the most helpful part in her mindfulness practice she elaborated on her feelings around a focus on the breath:

Something that is [easier] for... beginners is to breathe, be conscious of your breathing. Be conscious of what are you feeling. And sometimes even... what we [were] doing was..., feel... Really that you are breathing, feel with your hand, put it under your mouth and by your nose and feel it... I think the breath, Yeah, to me... it works every time. You know, when I'm doing exams or when I feel anxious. Breathe, and everything [is] going to just relax, and then when you're relaxed, you can kind of [think of] something else.

Emily emphasizes a common perception of how important focusing on her breath is to her mindfulness practice. She positions breath awareness to be something attainable for people who have little experience of mindfulness by saying it "is [easier] for... beginners." Further, she reflects on her ability to sense her breath through "feeling" the breath entering and leaving her nostrils. Through stating "it works every time," Emily highlights just how important a focus on the breath is to her practice. When she elaborates on this, she alludes to her motivation of using mindfulness to counteract feelings of anxiety, increasing her ability to relax, which plays into the later theme of *Mindfully Processing and Problem Solving* where participants commonly "use" mindfulness techniques as coping mechanisms.

Some participants also reflected on how learning to focus on a central stimuli such as the breath would have been helpful when they first started. For example, Sam spoke about his belief that awareness of breath is fundamental to practising and understanding mindfulness:

How I wish I had started out is through a pure focus on the breath, because I think the way that I started out, it was like these visualizations and stuff... and they were good... and... kind of relaxing... I feel like they didn't really help me with awareness. So I

think that the focus on the breath kind of helps to build that foundation on which you can start to build other stuff. Whereas visualizations have their useful applications, but I think that they're best paired with something like awareness of the breath as well.

In Sam's response, he positions breath awareness as the paramount element to develop the skill of awareness. By describing it as a "pure focus" and a "foundation" he emphasises the shared belief that breath awareness, in particular, is a primary way to both learn and practice mindfulness. Sam further emphasised the importance of breath awareness when comparing it to "visualizations" where it is so important that it should be "paired" with other techniques that can be used to generate mindfulness. This excerpt is an example of how participants described how central breath awareness is to how they both understand and practice mindfulness. Given that a focus on the breath and other interoceptive attention techniques are a common construct within MBPs such as MBSR (Kabat-Zinn, 1990); ACT (Hayes et al., 1999) and MBCT (Segal et al., 2002) it is unsurprising that this was considered to be important to participants. Within the literature, several quantitative studies have reported benefits of breath awareness meditations. For example, Schöne et al. (2018) reported an increase in participants sustained visual attention and spatial working memory after completing eight weeks of breath awareness meditation compared to progressive muscle relaxation. Focused breathing is also suggested to significantly increase emotional regulation scores in EA students even after a short 15 minute focused breathing exercise (Arch & Craske, 2006).

A recent study by Pozuelos et al. (2019) reported significant improvement in metacognitive processes and impulse response was evident compared to controls in participants who practiced breath awareness meditations over a three week period. Further, the positive correlation of neural activity that occurred over the study suggested that these

improvements are cumulative, highlighting the importance of a consistent practice. Finally, MBSR participants with diagnosed anxiety disorders attributed breath awareness to increased feelings of control of panic and anxiety during follow up and exit interviews (Miller et al., 1995). Unfortunately, these interviews were not analysed using qualitative methodology resulting in this finding not being explored in depth. Within the current study, while not all participants specifically referred to focused awareness meditations, the research aligns with participants' understanding that a focused awareness on the breath is one way to mobilise mindfulness.

Sub-theme: Exteroceptive Attention Towards One's Senses

Bringing attention to where one was positioned in space was another common way participants reported practicing mindfulness. As previously noted, this will be referred to as exteroceptive awareness. This was most commonly described as being "grounded" (Ella, Kate, Polly) and using mindfulness to "ground myself" (Ella, Sarah) or that they found it was "grounding" (Bella). Participants generally described cultivating this through focusing on their "senses" (Ella, Kate, Polly, Shelly) or "bodily sensation[s]" (Sam) and how these interacted with their surroundings. Some participants also described this in more general terms. For example, Ella explained her understanding of mindfulness as "trying to ground myself and think about where I am":

Basically, the purpose of it is to be grounded, and where you currently are or where you currently sit.

In this excerpt Ella positions mindfulness as having awareness of the present moment through focusing on your position in space as compared to your surroundings. Her use of the

word "grounded" suggests her interpretation of mindfulness involves feeling centred with an awareness of both her physical location and her internal processes. This is shown when Ella states "where you currently sit." As she has just referred to current space, it suggests she is referring to having an awareness of her emotions and her cognition, where you mentally "sit". This idea of being "more present" (Mark) was commonly referenced throughout the interviews. Participants particularly emphasized the importance of being "conscious of the environment" and "aware of your surroundings and aware of your body" (Bella) as this allows you to live life "without being stuck up in [your] head" (Kate) and "live in the moment" (Bella). These descriptions echo's the earth-touching statues of the historic Buddha, *Shakyamuni*, where he is often portrayed in a seated position touching the ground (Kamalamani, 2014). Being aware of your current senses and where you are in space made participants feel grounded, however, feeling grounded was also how participants described mindfulness.

One tool used by participants to bring their awareness to the present moment was to identify certain things that related to their senses (sight, touch, feel, sound, and taste). For example, when asked how she resonated with Kabat Zinn's (1994) definition of mindfulness, Shelly explained:

My definition of mindfulness, it's... so I refer to the senses. So it's all about the sense for me, so if I can't see..., hear, feel it, it's not going on, so that's where I need to bring myself back to mindfulness, if that makes sense. That's how I keep in tune with that... all body... mindfulness for me. Yeah, I don't really have a proper quote for it, but I just always go back to senses... In mindfulness, yeah.

In this response, Shelly briefly explains some of her mindfulness practice through referring to the individual senses of sound, touch and sight. By explaining mindfulness is an "all body" phenomenon for Shelly, she positions this process to be something that helps her to be "in tune" or aware of her body in physical space. In this extract, Shelly also alludes to her understanding of mindfulness as being aware of the present moment. This is particularly shown where she says "bring myself back to mindfulness" indicating that throughout this excerpt the word "mindfulness" is synonymous with "the present moment". This is an example of how participants defined mindfulness as understanding how to use their senses to bring them back to the present moment.

Some participants provided more specific detail of their perceptions when describing their mindfulness practice. Interestingly, these more intricate descriptions arose when participants spoke about how they practised mindful activities other than meditation. For example, Emily explained that when she incorporates mindfulness into her walking, she "[focuses] on the sounds like the birds or just the wind or if I [am] cold." Here, like many participants, Emily focuses on some but not all of the five senses - sound and touch. Sound, in particular, was depicted more frequently than the other senses when describing mindfulness experiences. Polly explicitly provided details of her thoughts when drawing on her senses as a way to induce mindfulness during her practice:

I'll think about... smell, and touch, and... what I can hear, and..., I like to peel back the layers of sounds... trying to identify all the sounds that you can until you get to nothing, like, nothing.

For Polly, who did not identify with having a formal meditation practice, this was one of the main ways she practised mindfulness. The symbolism she used of "peeling back the

layers" emphasizes just how much stimuli can be present for us in any given moment. Further, Polly suggests that by recognizing the stimuli and letting them go you will "... get to nothing." This idea of letting go of the things you recognize is frequently mentioned in the literature and will be unpacked in more detail in *Metacognitively Mindful*. These are examples of how participants focused their awareness on their senses to cultivate mindfulness. It is interesting that Polly, like many participants, explained that by drawing attention to their senses they were able to bring themselves back to the present moment which they perceived as mindfulness.

While many mindfulness practices reference awareness of various senses and the present moment (Collard & Walsh, 2008; Gethin, 2011; Kabat-Zinn, 2012, 2015), the sensory awareness elements of mindfulness have been suggested as a suitable companion for psychotherapies (Tophoff, 2006). There appears to be limited literature which specifically investigates mindfulness or other exteroceptive practices focused on drawing one's attention to their senses. A pilot project of "Sensory Awareness Mindfulness Training" (SAMT; Collard & Walsh, 2008) is an MBP purpose-built to improve work life balance through a focus on a variety of meditations aimed at drawing attention to senses. Pre- to postintervention data from nine university employees showed significantly increased mindfulness. The study also reported a significant decrease in stress. While this study shows some preliminary support for SAMT as an MBP, the methodological shortcomings and ambiguity are concerning and warrant this study to be interpreted with caution. For example, the authors did not detail how or what they used to measure stress. While this small study holds some preliminary support for sensory awareness, more detailed and methodologically robust studies need to be conducted. The current analysis suggests drawing attention to your senses is a beneficial way to practice mindfulness, however more research is needed to further understand the relationship between the benefits of sense-based mindfulness activities other

than feeling grounded or aware of the present moment. In particular, it would be interesting to compare outcomes of mindfulness focused on the senses compared to one's breath.

One interpretation of how participants describe using a focus on their senses to elicit feelings of being grounded could be explained by schema theory (Brown et al., 2007; Leahy, 2002, 2003; Silberstein, 2012). This theory suggests that people somewhat automatically process stimuli in a biased way to add to preconceived ideas or world views (Leahy, 2002, 2003; Silberstein, 2012) The way participants identify engaging with their senses and the surrounding environment suggests they are doing this in a way to interrupt and possibly at times adjust existing schemas (Brown et al., 2007). In simpler terms, when participants engage in this type of mindfulness they seem to be viewing their position in space through a new 'mindful' lens that minimises preconceived ideas they held in their mind prior to engaging in their practice (Olendzki, 2005).

Theme Two: Metacognitively Mindful

The second theme explores ways participants adopted metacognitive techniques as part of their practice. Participants described three core ways that mindfulness allowed them to adapt how they perceive their own thoughts and feelings. They described learning to view thoughts as impermanent, adopting an element of acceptance and increased perceived control of how they view their thoughts. Some participants also reported that this perceived control also filtered through to impact their behaviours. While the ways the participants reported shifting their perception differed, they can be seen to all lie under a broader concept of metacognition. Put simply, metacognition describes how one thinks of the thought of their thought (Jankowski & Holas, 2014; Satlof-Bedrick & Johnson, 2015). Metacognitive thought allows one to metaphorically step back and become aware of and reflect on thoughts (Flavell,

1979). This theme intersects with the earlier theme of awareness in a sequential manner as, in order to adopt metacognitive strategies, one must first be aware of the thought.

Sub theme: Acceptance of Thought

Adopting an element of acceptance of their thoughts and experiences was one way many participants spoke about how they understood and defined mindfulness. Ways in which participants described this idea included phrases such as "accepting your feelings" (Shelly); "not being scared of feeling those feelings" (Shelly); and "letting it be" (Ella). These quotes all reflect a shared perception that acceptance of your thoughts and feelings is an integral part of mindfulness. Further, participants described that through their mindfulness practice they adopted a mind-set of acceptance, thus altering how they typically perceive their thoughts by using a mindful lens to interpret and adjust their thoughts. This can be seen, for example, when Kate reflected on what mindfulness means to her:

It just means to me being in the present moment..., and actually be accepting of the present moment, so not trying to fight what is going on or not trying to fight the experience or anything about it. Just being... okay, this is what it is, and not being judgmental of whether it's right or wrong, or good or bad. It's just about going, this is what it is, or this is how I'm feeling or whatever, and go, okay, that's it... not putting any labels on it, and just kind of... accepting it.

In her response, Kate clearly explores her understanding of mindfulness and how acceptance is a central element of her practice, as well as being a necessary component that she incorporates into her practice. Her views on mindfulness were also reflected by many others. Another way in which participants spoke about incorporating an element of

acceptance is demonstrated by Bella when she elaborated on her own perception of mindfulness:

A time to be open in your own feelings, which is ... hard to do a lot of the rest of the day.

Here, Bella explicitly states that being "open in your own feelings," which could also be described as acceptance of one's feelings, is how she understands mindfulness. Interestingly, Bella elaborates by explaining that she finds acceptance of her internal experience difficult to do when she is not actively practicing mindfulness. This suggests that while Bella incorporates acceptance into her mindfulness practice, she currently struggles to practise acceptance in her daily life. While this is how some participants described adopting a view of acceptance, others explored it in a way that suggested they incorporated it into their general life. For example, Polly described she feels it is important to also "embrac[e] when you don't feel 100% as well" (Polly). These differing ways in which participants described acceptance emphasises the nuances of how participants understand and incorporate mindfulness into their practice, whether that be meditation, a mindfulness activity or adopting a mindful view on life. These differences in how participants described incorporating acceptance into their practice intersect with the fourth theme, Part of Everyday Life, described later in this analysis. In many ways it is unsurprising that participants reported incorporating acceptance into their mindfulness practice as it is a concept mentioned particularly in western mindfulness literature and its associated interventions.

As described in detail in Chapter 1, acceptance has long been a component of western theories of mindfulness. Bishop et al.'s (2004) operational definition of mindfulness described acceptance within the "orientation to experiences" and Shapiro et al.'s (2005) component of

"attitude". It is also alluded to in Kabat Zinn's (1994) definition that was provided to participants at the beginning of the interviews, specifically from the word "non-judgementally". Acceptance has been incorporated into many western psychotherapeutic techniques, particularly third-wave therapies. For example, it is a central component in ACT (Hayes et al., 1999, 2004); is described within the "being" mode taught in MBCT (Segal et al., 2002); and in DBT (Linehan et al., 2001) where acceptance is taught through behavioural exercises. As acceptance is taught through these various techniques within western society it is somewhat unsurprising that participants identified acceptance as one way they understand and mobilise mindfulness.

Sub-theme: Struggles with Acceptance

While many participants recognised acceptance as a core part of mindfulness, some also reported struggling to adopt a lens of acceptance into their mindfulness practice.

Participants particularly reflected on this struggle when they started to learn and practice mindfulness. Negative language is used when describing the challenges of accepting how they felt during and after their practice. Statements such as "I mustn't have done it right... I'd start judging every meditation I did" (Kate), and "it doesn't work [...] it's not doing anything to me" (Emily), explicitly suggest some participants had challenges with acceptance through voicing their struggles when they first started. Similarly, Sarah reflected on relying on the opinion of others to gain insight as to whether her mindful practice was "working" when she first practiced:

I think it's hard for you to know, unless you kind of look back and then to see.

[...]Before I started, did I actually improve?, or am I worse?, or am I just neutral?

because even if you're just not neutral, sometimes that means that it's not being

effective, like it's not working [...] Because otherwise, if you're in the moment, and you're just trying to practice that mindfulness, like if you go a week later and be like... did anything improve, you might actually [...] not be able to see a result, because it's not like it's going to work that quickly. [...] If you're not so great at the reflecting thing, other people's input is a really good way of seeing whether or not it's actually working.

While this quote clearly intersects with the first theme, *Be Focused Right Now:*Attentional Awareness, as Sarah reports getting input from others when she first started to be conscious of her perceived lack of awareness. Comparing her mental state before and after practicing for a week implicitly suggests that Sarah does not hold an element of acceptance through her practice. Sarah further suggests her lack of acceptance by positioning mindfulness as something that works to change her mental state. If you are seeking to change something you are not accepting it. Sarah is also positioning mindfulness as something that affects her life beyond her practice by giving the example of reflecting a "week later," further demonstrating this quote's intersection with the fourth theme, *Part of Everyday Life*.

Interestingly, Bella expressed this concern when reflecting on potential negatives of practising mindfulness:

[1] worry that if I'm always focusing on being mindful that I'm not going to deal with things that are problematic in life or things that are, I guess, more sort of ways of life that aren't conducive to happiness.

Here Bella highlights a paradoxical element of mindfulness by expressing her concern that by incorporating acceptance into her practice there is a possibility of becoming complacent or passive. As described in the introduction to Chapter 3, participants generally set out to practice mindfulness to bring about positive changes in their life, which could also be interpreted as a desire to ease suffering. However, as participants recognise that acceptance is an attitudinal quality associated with mindfulness, a paradox is created as they originally sought to use mindfulness to create a shift but to do this they must accept the present moment and their current situation (Shapiro et al., 2018). Bella's concern lies with the possibility that through channelling acceptance in her practice she will ultimately become complacent.

According to Harris (2014) a way to overcome this is by shifting your perspective of why you practice mindfulness from one centred around creating change or self-improvement to one that seeks clarity of the present moment as, after all, the present is already happening. This paradox may explain why some participants experienced a struggle with adopting acceptance into their practice, particularly when they first started practising mindfulness.

Some participants also reported struggling with the acceptance of particular emotions during their current practice. For many, but not all participants, this was particularly around negative emotions. For example, both Mark and Emily spoke of feeling concerned about feeling "fear" during their mindfulness practice. This was typically suggested as participants spoke to this in a present tense illustrated by Mark's exploration of fear, "Despite being mindful, I still worry about it," suggesting his acceptance of experiencing fear was still a current challenge. By expressing concern over feeling particularly negative emotions when practicing mindfulness in the present tense, it suggests participants are struggling to, at least at times, incorporate acceptance into their practice.

Similarly, Sam also alluded to a challenge where he expressed anxiety about attending a meditation retreat in the future, saying he was "more nervous" about the upcoming meditation retreat than the previous one he attended. When asked if that was because he knew what to expect, he replied, "Yeah, definitely. Sometimes, I'm like, s**t, I'm going to have to

face myself." Sam is positioning mindfulness as a way to understand and be in touch with your actual self through his use of the expression "face myself." This idea of facing yourself appears quite confronting and potentially frightening, demonstrated by his uncharacteristic use of strong language. In all, this quote suggests Sam has a sense of uncertainty and unease in his acceptance of himself during his mindfulness practice. The tones of ambivalence and uncertainty in this quote mimic those of other participants when they reflected on the challenges of acceptance they experienced with mindfulness.

While participants mostly spoke to struggling with acceptance, they also generally spoke of overcoming this through continued mindfulness practice. For example, Emily reflected:

In the beginning... it was frustrating [...] *And then I was like it has to be like that.*

In this excerpt Emily portrays her belief that experiencing frustration and struggle with acceptance is part of the "process" (Emily) of learning mindfulness. Other participants also spoke similarly of coming to terms with struggles with acceptance within their mindfulness practice at least to some extent. This was typically demonstrated by participants speaking to both incorporating acceptance and struggling with acceptance, suggesting that in general, participants attempted to include acceptance but sometimes struggled to do so, especially when they first started practicing.

As explored above, acceptance is a commonly utilised element in mindfulness and its associated interventions. However, at least to my knowledge, there appear to be no studies investigating how people who practice mindfulness struggle with incorporating acceptance into their practice. This is an interesting finding as it highlights the importance and need for more investigative qualitative frameworks exploring the specific areas participants find

challenging within mindfulness practices. This is particularly important for programmes that teach mindfulness to meditative naïve individuals as these participants frequently reported struggling when they first began learning mindfulness. Future research investigating these challenges would allow deeper insight into how mindfulness programmes and interventions can adapt to help participants overcome these challenges.

Sub-theme: Impermanence: To Aid Acceptance

Participants recognised "impermanence of thoughts or feelings" (Sam) as part of how they understood mindfulness. This was often framed in a way to suggest that the concept of impermanence was used to aid feelings of acceptance. For example, participants spoke to incorporating impermanence into their practice through statements such as "this will pass" (Kate), "things are just passing away" (Emily) and being able to "let go" (Shelly). Participants also described metacognitive shifts in their thoughts which they attributed to mindfulness practices. This included viewing thoughts and feelings as "very temporary" (Ella, Luke) and being able to "slow down" (Sarah) their thoughts allowing them to shift their perception "about the universe and how [you] think about things" (Ella).

Participants particularly described these metacognitive shifts with reference to easing mental tension, using mindfulness to distance themselves from their thoughts and even their past experiences in such a way that they have no impact on them. For example, Luke described one helpful part of mindfulness was the ability to "unpack and, in a way, distance yourself from how you're feeling." While Luke acknowledges his increased awareness, discussed in *Attentional Awareness*, he is also suggesting he has developed the ability to view thoughts as less permanent. He does this by symbolically articulating his ability to view thoughts as movable and impermanent rather than something that stays within a person.

Shelly also expressed that mindfulness allowed her to create a sense of distance from her traumatic experiences when she reflected on what mindfulness meant to her:

Shelly: It gives me the ability to [...] have a clear mind, while... walking beside your trauma. Does that make sense? Like, is it a good example?

Interviewer: That's such a nice way to describe it.

Shelly: You literally... give yourself a clear pathway. Well [it's] like... walking with your trauma.

In this excerpt, Shelly unpacks her understanding of mindfulness. First, she describes mindfulness as having the "ability to have a clear mind," suggesting Shelly believes she has the ability to remain calm, composed, and think rationally. In adding "while walking beside your trauma," Shelly is further acknowledging and demonstrating through symbolism how she incorporates acceptance of her past experiences into her practice, while also acknowledging she is able to use mindfulness to view her trauma as something that is physically separate from her present, giving her a "clear pathway". The implication is that Shelly has come to terms with her past experiences and, while they will always be part of her, they are not necessarily part of her present or something she needs to continue to hold on to. These quotes all have an underlying tone of acceptance that their thoughts are impermanent hence the concept of impermanence being part of the acceptance sub-theme.

It is notable however that within the current Buddhist literature this shift in how participants viewed their thoughts, experiences and feelings particularly aligns with the eastern literature of mindfulness and impermanence. As outlined in Appendix A, the concept of impermanence (*Anicca*) is one that underpins the Buddhist concept of suffering (*Duhkah*), the first of the four noble truths (Kalupahana, 1975). While at an intellectual level, one is able

to recognise that the world is consistently changing, rendering impermanence an inevitable part of reality (Kong, 2009). However, Puriso (1999) argues that people have a tendency to lead their life as if to expect permanence or stability which results in suffering. This is aligned with participants' experiences of mindfulness practices, particularly meditation, which help us to become aware of consistent change, particularly through cultivating focused attention on an anchor point such as the breath. This process is thought to help perpetuate the realisation that impermanence is inevitable and that grasping onto the concept of permanence will inevitably result in suffering (*Duhkha*) (Kong, 2009). As explored above it is evident that the participants have adopted a view of impermanence throughout their mindfulness practices, creating a shift in perception of how they understand their thoughts.

Within a western context the idea of impermanence is acknowledged but referred to in many different ways including "cognitive diffusion", "decentering" and "metacognitive insight". "Cognitive diffusion", one of the six interconnected elements of the ACT concept of "psychological flexibility" describes the concept of viewing thoughts and events as temporary (Fletcher & Hayes, 2005; Gu et al., 2015; Strosahl et al., 2004). Similarly, "decentering" describes the process that enables people to contemplate their emotions or thoughts as impermanent rather than viewing them as an absolute truth (Allen et al., 2009; Fresco et al., 2007; Safran & Segal, 1990). Finally, "metacognitive insight" is the more often referred to term which encompasses the processes described above and appears to be used more frequently in the current literature (Bishop et al., 2004; Mason & Hargreaves, 2001; Norman et al., 2019; Teasdale et al., 1995). These concepts demonstrate how the eastern concept of impermanence is incorporated into westernised mindfulness practices. As impermanence is reflected throughout both eastern and western literature it is unsurprising that this is one way participants understood what mindfulness is and how they incorporate this metacognitive process into their practice.

Sub-theme: Challenge of Impermanence

Parallel with the challenges of acceptance, some participants also reflected on how they managed the challenge of impermanence in different ways. Mark stated that he was struggling with why the "mind is constantly wandering a little bit" suggesting possibly a lack of understanding or acceptance of the impermanence of thoughts. Conversely, Sam reflected on challenges of not experiencing the impermanence of thoughts at times in his current practice:

So much stuff comes up, and I noticed how [...] different emotions, certain emotions I have more [...] trouble with, [...] just observing and then letting go. [...] They kind of hold me in a bit more.

Sam is reflecting on the "weight" of some of his emotions compared to others. While Sam recognises the challenge of accepting and acknowledging a cognition, and then letting it go from his awareness, it is apparent that he struggles with experiencing impermanence which is possibly due to non-acceptance as evidenced by him saying "they kind of hold me in a bit more." While these examples of how participants spoke differed in context, they highlight the intersections around the concepts of acceptance and impermanence. Aligning with the Struggles of Acceptance sub-theme, while participants reported struggling at times to incorporate impermanence, there appears to be no western literature to date unpacking this challenge. From a Buddhist perspective, it could be viewed that these participants struggle with attachment to their thoughts (Maex, 2011). Unlike participants' challenges with acceptance, the challenges with incorporating impermanence appeared to be largely unresolved, as reflected by

their use of the present tense. This further highlights the need for more understanding of how people who practice mindfulness can overcome obstacles within their practice.

Some participants framed this challenge in an alternative way. Instead of interpreting this as a challenge to accept particular thoughts and feelings, they attempted to incorporate avoidance into their practice. Shelly, for example, explained that at times she finds it difficult to accept negative thoughts and struggles "to push it away and say, 'I don't want you to be in my head." Shelly also described finding it hard to "take out the negative" thoughts. These comments emphasise the challenge some participants experienced with incorporating metacognitive elements of acceptance and impermanence into their practice. Despite participants reporting these challenges, by acknowledging concepts of acceptance and impermanence they indicate that these are core ways participants understand and practice mindfulness, even if it is sometimes coupled with challenges. This particularly highlights the need for further research among challenging experiences associated with mindfulness (Britton, 2019; Wong et al., 2018). One possible interpretation of comments such as these is that they are adopting elements of control into their practice which are further discussed below.

Sub theme: "Control the thought of the thought": Metacognitive Control

The final way participants reported including metacognitive processes into their mindfulness practice was through expressing the belief that mindfulness allowed them to have "control" (Ella, Mark, Sam, Sarah, Shelly) of their perception of their thoughts. Specifically, participants described mindfulness as the ability to "control how you pay attention to what you're paying attention to" (Sam); as a way to "control the thought of the thought" (Shelly); as a "mind management, or consciousness management" tool (Mark) and as "being in control of things that... pop up into your mind" (Shelly). These examples all illustrate a shared understanding that by practicing mindfulness the ability to adjust how you view your thoughts

develops. This idea of a shift in understanding your thoughts aligns with the concept of metacognition described earlier in this theme. When asked what impact mindfulness has had on her mental health and well-being, Shelly replied:

I'm so much more positive, and I don't look at my trauma as a bad thing [...] mindfulness has taught me that, yes, everything happens for a reason, but you're in control of what it's like after that..., and it's taught me to just know that you can literally do anything, and... it's so powerful what we can do with our minds... and what we set our mind to. [...] I never ever thought that I [would] get to the point where I am comfortable... talking about some really awful stuff, but it's because of mindfulness [...], it's so massive. So, ... I'm just really grateful that I've been able to get myself to the point now where I can be thankful for a lot of things... because, ... eight years ago, my trauma was... 95% of what I thought about. That was... all day every day. It controlled what I did every day. My thoughts, how I acted with people, whereas now my traumas [are] ... 5% [of] what I do. [It's] completely... flipped the switch of everything. [...] and you have literally control over... a lot of things.

Shelly's description demonstrates how she understands mindfulness and how it has helped her to change how she views her past experiences. In this excerpt, Shelly reflects on the transformative shift from feeling "controlled" by her thoughts and past experiences to feeling that she has "control over" many aspects in her life. Shelly uses a lot of strong language such as "you can literally do anything" and "it's so powerful what we can do with our minds." This suggests Shelly is speaking from a place of empowerment and feels able to accomplish anything "because of mindfulness." This excerpt is an example of how participants believe that mindfulness allows them to have "control" over how they view their

thoughts. In some ways, this aligns with part of Monshat et al.'s second phase of gaining stability in their grounded theory analysis where participants experienced feeling "conscious control" over their thoughts (Monshat, 2012; Monshat et al., 2013). However, this was not explored in depth leaving it difficult to distinguish similarities or differences between this and Monshat et al.'s studies.

It is interesting that a number of participants chose to use the word "control" when describing their shift in perception. Particularly as it seems somewhat in contradiction to incorporating the metacognitive element of acceptance. One theoretical framework that may help unpack this unexpected understanding of mindfulness was proposed by Rothbaum et al. (1982) which proposed that the perception of control is impacted by two elements, "primary" and "secondary perceived control". "Primary perceived control" is described as the awareness that they have the autonomy to modify their environment to some extent. An example of this within the current study is seen where Emily is describing a shift in perceived ability to "decide" what is "good or not good for [her]." This is particularly evident when she said:

I can be responsible for my own life. Yeah, for my decisions.

While the way participants spoke during interviews cannot often be attributed to primary perceived control, Rothbaum et al.'s (1982) idea of "secondary perceived control" could be attributed to much of how participants spoke. Secondary perceived control is described as using cognitive strategies such as reframing to shift one's perspective on a situation which could also be viewed as acceptance (Morling & Evered, 2006; Rothbaum et al., 1982). It is interesting that this definition explicitly intersects with the sub-theme of acceptance. An example of this is where Ella reflected how she used mindfulness to process her father's "passively racist comments":

I just sit there and it's kind of like... that's not how I think, but I understand why you would think that because that's how you grew up. I can get actively shitty, I can try with what I can to change that, but at the end of the day, it's you. It's how you've been brought up, that's what your thoughts are and I can't change that...

While Ella is not condoning her father's racist comments, she appears to recognise that she has limited control over her father's beliefs and while she could get "actively shitty" an alternative approach is to accept that she cannot "change" or control her father's thoughts and therefore is able to find a way to accept them. This change in perception of how you view thoughts was more commonly described by participants as *primary perceived control* as evidenced in the above paragraphs where participants predominantly describe a metacognitive process of changing their thoughts. Rothbaum et al.'s (1982) theory proposes that where direct or primary control is not possible, one uses secondary control such as shifting their perspective. This is one way to understand how the participants understood and incorporated control into their mindfulness practice.

In more recent mindfulness literature there are limited studies directly investigating the relationship between mindfulness and control. Measures of self-control were investigated in adults who had completed a three day mindfulness course (Friese et al., 2012). The authors found that there was limited impairment in attention and concentration for those who meditated for five minutes after an emotion suppression activity compared to those in a control condition. This suggests that shortly after meditation one may have an increased ability of self-control. However, as this sample is of an older age range with less experience than the sample in the current study, it is difficult to draw conclusions from this research.

Bowlin and Baer (2012) measured dispositional mindfulness and self-control in undergraduate students, a population that is more demographically similar to the current study. A positive correlation of dispositional mindfulness and self-control was found through regression analysis of the self-report measures, supporting the idea that those who report higher levels of mindfulness also report higher levels of self-control. Unfortunately, the study did not record if participants had any prior mindfulness practice. The authors also critiqued that fact that the FFMQ (Baer et al., 2006) which was used in their study does not fully capture the experiential nature of the internal experiences of mindfulness. While the present study is qualitative in nature and therefore did not incorporate measures of mindfulness, participants did report having increased levels of dispositional mindfulness as evidenced in the fourth theme *Part of Everyday Life*. This positive relationship between self-control and dispositional mindfulness is one way to understand why participants reported experiencing perceived control when practicing mindfulness.

The concept that mindfulness increases perceived autonomy over thoughts is aligned with participants' reflections that mindfulness improved their control over their own behaviour. For example, when I asked Ella why she continued to practice mindfulness she replied:

The best way to put it is helpful. It kind of keeps me in that centre line. [...] At the end of the day, what is going on in my head is out of my control to some extent, but it's something that kind of bring[s] me in or take[s] me out, basically, and that's just one of the things I can kind of control [in] my life. Mindfulness is something, in control. Whereas my brain chemistry, I can't control. So it's good to have control.

Ella is explaining her desire for control in her life and how she believes mindfulness helps fulfil this need. Where Ella says "keeps me in that centre line" she is referring to her belief that through practicing mindfulness her mood swings (due to bipolar) are less extreme. This is interesting as she follows this by expressing that she feels to some extent that her internal processes feel out of control, however, mindfulness has developed her ability to "bring [her] back" to the present moment or "take [her] out" of a thought pattern. While some of the content in this excerpt juxtaposes the other, her overall message conveys that although she recognises it is impossible to control her thoughts and brain chemistry, she is able to pay attention which makes her feel more in control. Some ambiguity remains around whether Ella was talking about control of her thoughts or her behaviour. This was a common thread among many participants' comments around the idea of "control".

Another possible way to interpret how participants used "control" in their mindfulness practice is through the concept of reperceiving (Shapiro et al., 2006, 2009) which is also known as decentering (Fresco et al., 2007). This is shown where participants report on the metacognitive ability to step back and reflect on their thoughts rather than being consumed by them, suggesting they are more detached from their emotions. Within the current analysis it seems that participants' descriptions of "control" suggest that they felt an increased ability to use metacognitive strategies which result in them feeling in control. That is, participants metaphorically feel able to step back and observe their emotions rather than being consumed by them. However, there is a possibility that participants meant they felt literally in control of their thoughts and emotions, which does not typically align with common understandings of mindfulness. This ambiguity is seen in Sarah's narrative about control:

I think it means being... in control of your thoughts, and actually, not being in control of your thoughts first and foremost. Because if you're not being mindful of what you're

doing throughout the day, you're going to get... swept up by the atmosphere, whether it's stressful, whether it's sad, whether it's just the people around you, if you're able to control yourself and your thoughts, you're able to then actually go into any situation and be able to handle it... Whereas, before, I used to just get stressed because it'd be like loads of assignments, and I would like, just naturally get stressed, but [...] now I can kind of go into it and be like, here's a load of assignments, yes, I'm stressed, but I'm able to cope with it, because I know that I'm in control.

Here, Sarah attempts to unpack her position of how control fits into the phenomenon of mindfulness. Throughout this text we see Sarah contradicting herself which suggests that even for people with a regular mindfulness practice it can be difficult to untangle and understand how control fits into mindfulness. However, Sarah's statement of "if you're able to control yourself and your thoughts, you're able to then actually go into any situation and be able to handle it" suggests that she has an increased awareness of her ability to reappraise or metacognitively view her thoughts. Accounts such as Sarah's, where the concept of what participants mean when they reference feeling control, suggest that, in general, participants were describing an increased sense of agency, so that they perceive their thoughts to have less power over them. I believe that participants conveyed that this was a result of learning metacognitive strategies resulting in feelings of metacognitive control.

Theme three: Mindfully Processing and Problem Solving

At times, participants described mindfulness as processing their thoughts and emotions. Often participants described mindfulness as "thinking" (Ella, Luke, Sarah), "reflecting" (Bella, Ella, Kate, Luke, Sam, Sarah) or "problem solving" (Mark). Participants described these as reasons for when and why they practice mindfulness. Participants

described choosing to practice mindfulness "when I have a very confused head, because I'm unsure what I'm upset about or what I want to be doing" (Mark), or practicing if something "bad happens" (Bella), taking "time off to like, reflect on it, or just like, feel, those things" (Bella). For others, they used mindfulness to understand "what happened [throughout] my whole day, and what produced that" (Emily), and described that mindfulness practices "help you to be a bit more realistic [...] and logical" (Kate) and that it helps with "noticing a connection or a lack of connection between what you care about and what's going on for you at the moment" (Mark).

Overall, this theme intersects with the theme *Metacognitively Mindful* evidenced by participants speaking with increased agency around the ability to process and understand their thoughts, suggesting they may be using the metacognitive processes previously discussed to unpack and understand their thoughts and feelings. Further, participants refer to "reflecting" as this was often coupled with either acceptance, or non-acceptance. Despite these intersections, this theme diverges from the previously explored themes as in the current theme, where participants are actively seeking to understand either their current or historical situation or emotions, answering the research questions of both how and why participants mobilise mindfulness. In previous themes, the focus has been more centred around unpacking how they engage with their present moment thoughts and emotions during their practices. Finally, this theme is particularly interesting as these accounts of reflection or processing were solely discussed while participants described their formal meditation.

A clear example of how participants talk of reflection is demonstrated by Sarah's description when she recalled her daily morning mindfulness practice:

You just sort of sit and you just sort of think about ... all the things that have happened, and then all the things that you [...] want to achieve for the day, and then you sort of like start planning out the things that you need to do.

She incorporates reflecting and processing into her formal practice to reflect on her previous experiences and to also plan what to do throughout the day. Sarah, like other participants, describes this reflecting with underlying tones of acceptance demonstrated by an absence of negative rumination when she reflects on "all the things that have happened." This is an example of how participants referred to incorporating reflection into their mindfulness practice.

Another way participants described incorporating processing and reflecting into their formal mindfulness practice is demonstrated by Luke who described asking himself questions which he likened to using a "flow chart, which seems quite scientific and mathematical."

Later in the interview I asked Luke how mindfulness had impacted his mental health and well-being. In his response, Luke further unpacked the type of questions he asks himself during his mindfulness meditation practice:

I think going back to [...] self-improvement, and self-reflection on how am I living my life right now, and how is that is making me feel... Am I happy with what I'm doing? Stuff like that has definitely made me less stressed because [...] I think I'm now able to identify when I do feel stressed, or when I do feel under pressure. Because self-reflection [...] has been able to help me know what my limits are, how much capacity I have for things.

In this extract Luke frames his regular meditation as an activity in which he reflects in order to improve his life. In these statements Luke alludes to his understanding that mindfulness meditation can be used as both a processing and a problem solving tool. By reiterating his reflection process in response to this question, Luke shows he perceives this to be a key method for him to understand what mindfulness is and how he practices it.

Specifically, Luke is essentially conveying that through his mindfulness practice he is able to reflect on how he is feeling and acknowledge what aspects of his life need changing. In Luke's case, this is setting boundaries. This example echoes how other participants spoke of incorporating reflecting and processing their thoughts and experiences into their formal mindfulness practices.

While most of the participants referred to asking themselves questions during their formal mindfulness practices in a way that was intended to understand their internal feelings, Sam gave an example of using mindfulness to solve physical discomfort during a meditation:

Sam: I was at the course and experiencing pain and suffering. It was bad until I realized why it was happening.

Interviewer: So when you were... describing that, it sounded like how you got through that was kind of just by continuing mindfulness?

Sam Yeah. And kind of... investigating the cause, so kind of like, okay. There is... pain. "What is causing this pain?" And then just kind of observing it for what it is. Which helped me to tolerate it. But then being like, "okay, where is it coming from?" Okay, it's coming from here. "Why is it happening here?" It's because I'm holding myself up so straight. "Do I need to be doing that?" No. Oh, look at that.

This explanation of Sam's internal processing during his meditation practice shows how he incorporates investigative reflection as a way to understand his suffering. Sam's questions in the quote above could be interpreted as mindful problem solving, because he is processing his physical sensation of pain in order to find the cause and relieve the sensation. While it differs from how the other participants spoke about reflecting, processing and problem solving by being focused on physical sensations rather than cognitions, Sam explains a similar process reflecting that this way of practicing mindfulness was used by participants in various ways as they sought to reflect and understand during their mindful practice. This emphasises how various mindfulness modalities and techniques can be applied to a variety of situations.

While this type of mindfulness does not align with common western ideologies of meditation, it is similar to analytic meditation which is practiced in Tibetan Buddhism (Thurman, 1979; Van Vugt et al., 2020). Unlike focused attention or open monitoring meditations, this meditation aims to develop insight and understand one's subjective experience. This increased insight is thought to help the practitioner overcome suffering through decreasing negative and increasing positive emotions (Van Vugt et al., 2020). However, further research is needed to understand how this type of meditation differs from other forms such as focussed awareness or open monitoring.

As an alternative to incorporating processing into their meditation practices, participants frequently described use of mindfulness activities such as journaling to incorporate reflection (Kate, Mark, Shelly). A further alternative is a mood diary (Ella). Participants generally conveyed that they perceived journaling to be part of mindfulness practice. For example, when I asked Mark what he felt was most helpful for him within his mindfulness practice he described how he uses the mindfulness activity of journaling to "unpack his thoughts":

Mark: I think it's focusing on my thoughts [...] for me, writing things helps me to be mindful, very specific thing, which... I find helps a lot.

Interviewer: It sounds like you use writing as maybe kind of like a mindfulness activity?

Mark: Yeah, I do.

Interviewer: Do you find it different [from] when you're sitting and focusing on your thoughts?

Mark: Yeah, it is different.

Interviewer: How so?

Mark: So focusing on my thoughts, maybe... if... I've been doing something very technical, or very structured, then writing is more useful, because there's a lot of conscious stimuli and system things which I need to process, whereas if I've been relating to people or just traveling and not having to make a lot of decisions, then noticing my thoughts, but not writing them down, is probably more helpful.

While Mark is acknowledging that he practices different types of mindfulness for different reasons, he is also framing mindful journaling as a way to "process" his thoughts and feelings. He seems to draw on this when there are a lot of thoughts in his mind which is suggested where he says he reaches for journaling when there is "a lot of conscious stimuli and system things." Finally, he implies he may use journaling as a way of problem solving as he describes not needing to journal when he is "not having to make a lot of decisions," suggesting journaling may assist him with both processing and decision making. This exemplifies how participants explored drawing on mindfulness to process or problem solve things they may be struggling with. It is interesting that most participants cited reflecting as

part of their formal mindfulness as it may seem counterintuitive to the other ways participants practiced such as focused awareness, acceptance and impermanence. It is interesting that Kate was the only participant who contemplated whether processing falls under the category of mindfulness:

I do a lot of journaling, [...] just kind of checking in with myself and how I'm feeling and all that kind of thing. I guess it's not necessarily mindfulness, but I do really enjoy the activity of sitting there and writing... and kind of reflecting, I don't know if reflecting comes under mindfulness because you're not necessarily in the moment, but I guess it does.

Similar to Mark and the other participants, Kate is acknowledging that she uses journaling to "check in" with herself and reflect on her feelings. The incongruence Kate voices in this statement is interesting as it reflects her uncertainty around whether she considers journaling to be part of mindfulness. As she concludes "I guess it does," this reinforces two key factors. First, Kate, like other participants, identifies that mindfulness is a way to understand, reflect and process their emotions, and secondly, that mindfulness is understood by her and other participants to be a larger phenomenon than just meditation and can be adapted to suit their individual needs. These quotes from Mark and Kate around how they mobilise mindfulness through journaling reflect their shared understanding that reflecting and processing is part of how participants understood what mindfulness is. In some ways this is unsurprising given mindfulness is often referred to as a contemplative (Shapiro et al., 2006; Malinowski, 2013) or reflective (Buttle, 2013; Epstein, 1999; Johns, 2005) practice.

Linguistically, the verb form of contemplative is "to contemplate", meaning to think deeply and at length. In this respect, it is unsurprising that participants considered

contemplative reflection and processing to be part of mindfulness. Additionally, one qualitative study that used thematic analysis specifically framed their definition of mindfulness to be a "type of practice of reflection" (Nugent, 2011, p.1). Within this study, one theme was centred around participants' understandings that mindfulness facilitates reflection (Nugent, 2011). This analysis aligns with the current study that through using techniques associated with mindfulness one can create a therapeutic reflective space in which one can seek to understand thoughts and feelings that are not associated with current experiences as a way to process and move forward.

Sub-theme: Mindfulness as a Coping Mechanism

The framing of mobilising mindfulness to cope with unease was expressed in a number of ways and will be explored throughout this theme/sub-theme. This theme/sub-theme specifically answers research questions concerning how participants understand mindfulness and why they have adopted a mindful practice into their life. It is interesting that participants did not elaborate on other coping strategies they had attempted to utilise other than mindfulness, although this was not something explicitly asked within the interviews.

Participants reported understanding and mobilising mindfulness as a way to "cope" (Bella, Kate, Sarah) or to "deal" (Bella, Mark, Sam, Sarah, Shelly) with the range of experiences or emotions, which were predominantly negative. This included feeling "anxious" (Ella, Emily, Kate), "depressed" (Bella, Ella, Emily), "stressed" and "stressful" (Bella, Kate, Luke, Mark, Polly, Sam), "worry" (Mark), "anger" (Mark) and "pressure" (Luke). These emotions were often described as reasons why participants mobilised mindfulness. For example, when I asked Bella about how she felt mindfulness had impacted her mental health and well-being she reflected:

I think that's really useful for mental health. I guess in day to day coping, it's like kind of necessary, actually. But yeah, sometimes ... I feel like it's just a good strategy that literally anybody can use and it's not something that will exhaust your life, like lots of other mental health coping strategies, like, don't have to delve into any dark places. It's just like finding a good spot within you.

Here, Bella clearly explains the common perceptions that mindfulness is something to help with "day to day coping" as well as being "useful for [improving] mental health." Bella further positions mindfulness as a preference over other coping strategies which was also portrayed by many other participants. As Bella explains, with mindfulness you "don't have to delve into dark places," suggesting her perceived mindfulness to be less emotionally exhausting than other "coping mechanisms". Further, by Bella positioning mindfulness as "finding a good spot within you" suggests Bella finds mindfulness a positive experience which may be why she continues to practice mindfulness. This comment also highlights the intersection of the second theme, *Metacognitively Mindful* where participants use metacognitive skills as a coping mechanism to find a "good spot."

Many MBPs are clearly targeted at relieving negative symptoms. For example, MBSR, as its name suggests is designed to reduce stress (Kabat-Zinn, 1990). Similarly, MBPs that are considered part of third wave therapies are used primarily in therapeutic settings where mindfulness is taught and practiced as a way to both reduce negative emotions and improve positive ones (Hayes, 2004). Given that all participants are positioned within westernised contexts, it is unsurprising that they align with these understandings of mindfulness being a technique to improve well-being.

Participants also described mobilising mindfulness when experiencing negative emotions with the aim of mitigating these emotions. Mobilising mindfulness in this way led

participants to feel more self-reliant. One way in which participants demonstrated this was through the use of semantics. Rather than framing mindfulness as something they liked or wanted, they often framed mindfulness as something they "need[ed]" (Bella, Emily, Kate, Mark, Sam) to practice, particularly at times of struggle or stress. One example of this is Sarah reflecting:

If you're not stressed, then you don't feel like you have a need to do it.

This statement, like many others by participants, reinforces the idea that participants often reach for mindfulness during difficult times. While many participants suggested that mindfulness helps with stress, many others also suggested it helped them to cope with challenging (and often negative) emotions. For example, some described that mindfulness "help[s] you keep going" (Bella), and that it allows you to "rely on myself" (Ella) rather than "see professionals". Shelly reflected that mindfulness has "gone from being embarrassing to being... so important" for managing her anxiety. Similarly, Mark stated that mindfulness "provided a different perspective on life and how to deal with stressful situations," while Sam reflected, "I've had waves of consistent meditation, and then, not really any meditation. So I actually have seen, in retrospect, how to fix my life." These examples depict mindfulness as something you do to cope and deal with daily challenging emotions and situations. Kate shared an interesting insight that was typical of how participants spoke about their use of mindfulness as a coping mechanism. When asked what a day normally looks like when you practice mindfulness, Kate replied:

I'm actually guilty of... rushing to mindfulness exercises when I'm having a bad day.

But when I'm having a good day, I can be... I don't need to do that,... [and just] get on

with my day... and then whenever I'm... hung over, or if I've had a bad day at work, or something... that's affecting my physiology... then I freak out, I go "oh my god I need to practise mindfulness." ... [A] lot of the time, I do practise mindfulness. It's when I've had... maybe an off day, and I'm trying to... find a way to help cope with the situation..., and then... I generally feel a little bit alleviated after I try to practice it, and then if I don't, I'll just keep practising it... throughout the day or the night.

Here, Kate expresses guilt while setting out her view, indicating her underlying belief or understanding that this is not necessarily the intended use or purpose of mindfulness. While Kate explicitly states she uses mindfulness to "find a way to help cope with the situation," she also uses tautology to emphasise her point. Further, this tautology highlights her belief that she can practice mindfulness as a way to cope with a range of negative feelings. Through explaining needing mindfulness when she is "hung over" indicates that at times she does not incorporate mindfulness into her daily life. It is interesting that she states that she feels "a little bit alleviated" but also sometimes continues to "practice it" if she continues to be in the undesired situation. This suggests Kate has a strong belief that mindfulness is an effective coping mechanism even if it doesn't always alleviate a particular feeling or work as well as she wants it to. Typically, participants spoke of using mindfulness as a coping strategy, although many referred to it in less explicit terms than Kate.

The perception that mindfulness was a coping mechanism was conveyed through expressing that it can be beneficial for other people experiencing negative affect. This included people experiencing difficulties with mental health" (Bella, Ella, Kate, Mark) or "mental disorders" (Sam) such as feeling "anxious" (Ella), "depressed" (Bella, Emily) or in an "emotional rut" (Bella). Additionally, Ella stated, "Anyone. Mild, severe [can benefit]". Interestingly, some participants also identified older people such as "the elderly" (Luke) or

those in their "older years" (Sarah) as others who would benefit from mindfulness.

Justification for this was due to recognising the prevalence of "mental health issues" (Luke) and that they may experience "more stress and way more troubles than people that are younger than you" (Sarah). Through participants explicitly naming groups they believe to experience emotional challenges, they are further implying that mindfulness is a helpful way to manage and cope with these experiences. For example, Bella reflected:

The people that I know that use mindfulness, they usually have experienced a lot of emotional difficulty, and they use it to cope with it, but, well I mean, like obviously everyone [has] experienced emotional difficulty... [but] like less extreme versions of that probably [...] don't really need to find coping strategies as much.

Here Bella frames mindfulness as a coping strategy that is particularly helpful for people who experience "emotional difficulty". Notably, this excerpt normalises experiencing emotional challenges, a common thread throughout many participants' narratives as evidenced in the introduction to Chapter 3.

As explored in the first chapter, a vast amount of literature uses MBPs to investigate changes in affect, mindfulness and other measures associated with improved health and well-being. As both MBPs and most of the current literature focuses on reducing unease it is no surprise this was also how participants perceived mindfulness.

In a more general sense, some participants also identified that mindfulness is beneficial to a broader population. The perception that mindfulness would be beneficial to "everyone" (Bella, Kate) or "anyone" (Ella) was communicated. For some participants this was explicitly conveyed. For example, Bella said:

I feel like it's beneficial to everyone. I guess if you're in a bit of an emotional rut, and you have no choice to keep going? Yes [it's] like really, really useful... Yeah, I feel like it's useful to literally everyone.

Here Bella is positioning mindfulness as a powerful coping mechanism, particularly when she says "you have no choice [but] to keep going" which could be interpreted in two different ways. It could suggest that mindfulness helps you to dig deep when you are struggling with a task, or more generally (and morbidly) it could suggest that it helps you to quite explicitly keep going in life. Regardless of how this statement is interpreted, there is a clear understanding that Bella, like other participants, finds mindfulness "really useful" as a coping mechanism.

In *Mindfulness as a Coping Mechanism*, participants also explored that you can draw on at times of challenge within your life, although this was more commonly discussed at a broader and more subtle level rather than relating it to their own specific experiences. For example, when I asked Sam when he thought practicing mindfulness was particularly helpful, he reflected:

Sam: I think because our lives fluctuate so much, it's hard to say. Like it's good to do when you're not stressed... so that you will do it when you're stressed ... you know?

Interviewer: Yeah. Absolutely.

Sam: It's hard to start something when you've got so much on your plate. Whereas when you have a routine that helps to keep you at a baseline, then ... you can keep that through your stress times, and that's when the real benefits come in. So, starting it at a time when you can, is a lot easier and better than trying to start it when you need it most.

Here Sam is framing mindfulness as something that helps him to cope, particularly under stressful situations. However, he also emphasises the importance of practicing and specifically learning mindfulness when you don't have "so much on your plate" or when you are not feeling overwhelmed. This suggests Sam, like other participants, understands that mindfulness can be a coping mechanism, however this is not the only way you can practice mindfulness.

In both Sam and Bella's quotes above they have opted to use the pronoun "you" rather than "I". While "you" typically is directed at an individual it can also be used to indicate a general belief, which Orvell et al. (2017) calls the "generic-you" (p.1). Their analysis of the use of the generic-you suggests a paradoxical application. Generic-you can be used in a context-free sense, where "you" could refer to anyone. However, it can also be used to create distance from a personal perception or experience (Orvell et al., 2017). Within the context of this analysis, both options are equally plausible, where although the participants opt to use generic-you, they position that mindfulness has helped them overcome life challenges while also conveying that it can be beneficial for anyone who chooses to practice it.

Participants generally expressed that mindfulness could be beneficial to those in a youth or EA age range. Specifically, participants identified "youth" (Luke), "younger people" (Emily), "students" (Mark, Sam, Sarah) and people attending "school" (Bella, Sam, Shelly). The general justification for this was that if they had learnt mindfulness when they were younger it would have helped them cope. For example, Emily explicitly portrayed this by saying:

That would help me ... to do it when I was young, it would help me a lot.

Participants who identified this younger age range also often suggested that developing skills of mindfulness early could prevent negative emotions in the future. For example, Kate reflected on how she would have benefitted from mindfulness if she had learnt it as a teenager:

[The] earlier you know what it is and how to achieve it the better because, obviously, when I went through a huge anxious stage, I didn't know what [mindfulness] was before then, so when I was going through anxiety, I didn't have it to call on until I'd reached out to people for help. So it wasn't until I went through the bad experience that I was then led to [mindfulness] which is great, but maybe that whole anxious experience would have been easier if I had already had knowledge of it. So if I was... 20 when it happened, then I would have, from being a teenager, ... definitely benefited ... knowing a bit more.

Kate explores the common belief that if she had learnt mindfulness at a younger age, she could have made her "bad experiences" "easier" or less difficult. This posits mindfulness as something that can both benefit those struggling with mental health, and as a useful tool people can draw on when they "need it" (Ella, Kate, Sam, Sarah, Shelly). While these narratives suggest learning mindfulness would help them to cope, it also suggests that participants perceived that if they had learnt mindfulness earlier, they would have experienced less suffering and experienced better well-being.

The interpretation of the use of generic-you by Orvell et al. (2017) can also be applied here where participants are explaining their belief that mindfulness would be beneficial to their younger selves and other young people. Here, participants are emphasising that they see mindfulness as a way to benefit others struggling in youth and emerging adulthood while also

conveying the belief that it would have benefited them if they had practiced from a younger age. Further, this parallels with mental health statistics explored in Chapter 1 where the youth age bracket is identified as a time where people are more likely to experience psychological distress (Copeland et al., 2011; Fleming et al., 2014, 2020a,b; Patton et al., 2014).

A final, but less common way participants reported using mindfulness to cope was by using their formal practice to "reset" (Bella, Sam); "rebalance" (Sam) and "recharge" (Sam). Other ways participants spoke to this was by using mindfulness to "take a break" (Sam) or to "break [the day] up" (Bella). Emily described using mindful running to "get it out…and then you feel good again" suggesting a sense of release causing her to feel rebalanced. Sam, who spoke the most to this idea of mindfulness being used in this way reflected:

Giving you a kind of a reset. So every time I finished up a mindfulness [session]... or meditation, I feel reset, and I'm at my baseline level of stress and anxiety and, well, all emotions really, so... if my day... kind of like, starts oscillating, and [there is] a bit of happiness, bit of sadness, happiness, lots of stress, you know, meditate[ion] kind of just brings me back here, and the kind of the craziness gets toned down.

Sam's description of using mindfulness as a tool to "reset" aligns with how others spoke to mindfulness being a way to help cope with emotions in their daily life. In this excerpt Sam, like other participants, refers to a variety of emotions and suggests a sense of discomfort experiencing these, particularly evident when he refers to the emotions as the "craziness". While it is evident Sam is aware of his emotions, it is unclear in this particular quote if Sam is incorporating acceptance into his practice. He appears to acknowledge them but then is using mindfulness in a way to not accept how he is feeling but instead to almost tone down his emotions. This is evidenced by him framing his practice as a way to reset his

emotions and return to a "baseline level" resulting in his emotions being "toned down". Finally, throughout this statement, Sam, like many other participants, implies that this may be one of the reasons why he practices mindfulness. This way of mobilising mindfulness aligns with the theme of mindfulness being mobilised as a coping mechanism as it helps participants to decrease negative affect allowing participants to feel able to continue with their day.

Recently, Marthiensen et al. (2019) thematically analysed interviews with five nursing students following a shortened MBSR course. The first of the four themes described was "hitting the reset button" (Marthiensen et al., 2019, p.166) which aligns with the current study's descriptions of mindfulness. Interestingly, two of the other themes: "avoiding a downward spiral" and "using an internal coping mechanism" suggest that mindfulness was mobilised within this study primarily as a coping mechanism or a way to decrease negative affect. While this study holds similar analytical interpretations relating to the current theme, the methodological framework used in the thematic analysis was not discussed. Furthermore, participants in the current study have integrated mindfulness into their daily life, rather than being interviewed following a six week MBSR course. This differing experience in learning and practicing mindfulness may contribute to why in Marthiensen et al.'s (2019) study this was the primary way participants understood mindfulness, whereas the current study encompasses a broader range of understandings. Nevertheless, this study supports the interpretation that mobilising mindfulness is a way to cope with and process life experiences.

Theme four: Part of Everyday Life

Previous themes have focused on participants' accounts of mobilising mindfulness throughout their specific mindfulness practices, referred to in the literature as state mindfulness (Brown & Ryan, 2003; Lau et al., 2006). In this theme, the focus is on how they mobilise elements of the previous themes into their daily life. Within the literature this is

often described as dispositional, or trait mindfulness (Brown & Ryan, 2003; Lau et al., 2006). At the beginning of the analysis chapter I introduced the tennis metaphor where participants learnt various techniques of mindfulness that represent various tennis strokes. In this theme, rather than referring to the singular strokes, I am referencing the sense of flow that occurs with experience at tennis.

Participants described utilising techniques previously discussed and integrating these throughout their day, creating their own unique practice. Participants referred to this type of practice as being "conscious" (Ella, Emily, Mark, Polly, Shelly) or "present" (Emily, Kate, Mark, Polly, Sam, Shelly). More specifically, participants described this type of mindfulness as "consciously think[ing]" (Ella), "unconsciously" (Sam, Shelly), and practicing mindfulness or "liv[ing] in the present" (Emily). Examples of how participants spoke to this idea explicitly can be seen in the following extracts:

Polly: Yeah. I think that the thing is... I don't even know if I know how to meditate, but I think [if you put] a concentrated effort into one thing, that in itself can be a type of meditation.

Shelly: Anytime. There's... no set time where it should be good, ... you can do it in the morning for like five minutes, you can do all day every day if you want to, like, mindfulness over and over again.

Bella: It's something you personally do. ... You can [practice mindfulness] whenever.

Emily: It's not just one thing. That is, like, as you say, it's one thing that you can practice with everything. Like starting to, or talking with someone or walking it in. It's

a whole, whole world. You can do it every time that you want to, and as you say, it's free. Just doing it, uhm, learn in the process.

These excerpts demonstrate the broad understandings participants have of mindfulness which, for many, meant expanding their initially isolated mindfulness practice and incorporating this into their understanding of mindfulness. While this theme intersects with all the previous themes discussed, it demonstrates how participants perceive mindfulness as a continuously evolving, highly adaptable, and applicable tool.

Sub-theme: Mindfulness is Intrinsic: People Naturally Have Varying Levels

A few participants portrayed the belief that all people had natural varying baseline levels of mindfulness. This spontaneously came up during interviews when participants were asked about how they came to mindfulness practice and about what mindfulness means to them. This was particularly demonstrated when participants reflected on themselves before they had tried mindfulness. A couple of participants expressed the belief that they were "naturally" (Polly) mindful, suggesting they had a level of mindfulness that existed prior to adopting a mindfulness practice. An interesting way Polly conveyed this was through expressing her belief that mindfulness was intrinsically "hard wired into [her] personality type," conveying the belief that mindfulness is a biological necessity as suggested through the use of the word "wired" which mimics the idea of the wiring of neurons.

Some participants conveyed a belief that people can "practice mindfulness without knowing" (Kate). This included reflecting on their own experiences of practicing without being "conscious", reflecting the beliefs of others who described practicing "without notic[ing]" (Emily). Kate particularly expressed strong views of this throughout her interview:

Interviewer: What would you say your life was like before you started practicing mindfulness compared to how it is now?

Kate: Before I had my... real first unexpected anxiety, I feel like I probably practiced it a lot without knowing it, so it's more of that... in the moment stuff.

This statement reflects the shared belief that people have an ability to be mindful through being focused on the present moment without being aware of what mindfulness is or even learning how to practice it. This idea of practicing while being unaware is interesting and speaks to the literature on dispositional mindfulness, where individuals are thought to have baseline levels of mindfulness that can be increased with mindfulness practice (Brown & Ryan, 2003; Davis et al., 2009; Kabat-Zinn, 2003; Kiken et al., 2015; Lau et al., 2006). The way participants reflected on their baseline levels of mindfulness suggest they understand mindfulness to be a broader phenomenon than formal mindfulness practices such as meditation.

Sub-theme: "It's a lot more than what you originally think it is": Shift in Understanding Mindfulness

Participants explained that their perception of what mindfulness is has shifted over the course of their practice. They recalled that when they started they perceived mindfulness as "an activity" (Sarah), a "skill" (Kate, Sarah) or "something you do for 10 minutes" (Bella). However, with practice, they understood mindfulness to be more than a singular activity. Participants currently perceived mindfulness as "a state of mind" (Sarah), a "choice of lifestyle" (Bella), and an "all the time thing" (Bella). This shift in understandings shows the overall realisation that mindfulness is "a lot more than what you... originally think it is"

(Sarah). This change from mindfulness being something you do at one point in the day to something you incorporate into your daily life aligns with the theoretical positioning of state and trait mindfulness, where through practicing the state of mindfulness one's level of dispositional mindfulness also increases (Brown & Ryan, 2003; Davis et al., 2009; Kiken et al., 2015; Lau et al., 2006; Tomlinson et al., 2018). However, qualitative literature focused on dispositional mindfulness is scarce (Tomlinson et al., 2018) resulting in the current analysis contributing to filling this gap in the literature.

Interestingly, these comments around this shift in how participants understand mindfulness generally emerged when I asked each participant what they wished they had known when they started practicing mindfulness. The common response suggests that when they first learnt mindfulness, participants lacked understanding of the broad applicability of mindfulness. For example, Sarah explained:

It is a state of mind. I think that would have been so useful to find out, you know, instead of... telling you to do... things to achieve it, it would have been nice to know that it was, again, something you work on, and that it's... not just like... an activity, but it actually... what is going on in your mind, instead. I get that through the activity, you're meant to realise that, but sometimes, if you don't know that it's a state of mind, you're not able to do that activity well.

In this excerpt Sarah unpacks her shift in how she understands mindfulness. Sarah explicitly refers to understanding mindfulness as a "state of mind" aligning with the concept of dispositional mindfulness where one takes the concepts of mindfulness and applies them into one's world view (Lau et al., 2006). Sarah further reinforces this idea by explaining that she understands mindfulness as something that is "going on your mind" rather than simply an

"activity" you do at one point in the day. Finally, Sarah expresses a sense of frustration that it

took time for her to "realise" that mindfulness is something you can apply to your daily life,

providing context for the underlying reason to do the activity. This tone of frustration

intersects with that previously explored in the sub-theme Struggles with Acceptance where

participants initially held expectations that practicing mindfulness would result in various

outcomes. This statement by Sarah accurately describes the common challenge participants

described while they learn how to "integrate" (Sam) it into their life.

A second way participants described this shift in perceiving mindfulness as something

applicable to daily life was through incorporating a lens of acceptance of the "process"

(Emily) of learning mindfulness. For example, when Mark reflected on what he wished he

knew when he started practicing mindfulness he said:

Mark: Well, of course, it would be nice to know how to apply it immediately, but

that's probably unrealistic.

Interviewer: What do you mean by apply it?

Mark: So I guess I... have to make decisions about... what [cycling] route to take, or

how to prepare for an exam, and those things are... techniques related to mindfulness,

which I feel is an application of mindfulness... So those things [have] taken me many

years to understand how I see them. So, I would like to know those things sooner,

but...

Interviewer: Yeah, ideally [laugh].

Mark: And so, nothing much which I could reasonably ask for.

This alternative way participants described their shift in understanding mindfulness is

by incorporating a lens of acceptance, interacting with the sub-theme Acceptance of Thought.

122

Mark is explaining that he incorporates "techniques related to mindfulness" into his daily life to aid decision making. He gives an example of how he uses mindfulness to processes and aid his decision making, intersecting with the third theme, *Mindfully Processing and Problem Solving*. This example highlights how the previously described themes interact with the current theme. Within this theme, the distinction lies where Mark is explicitly describing that this has now developed into a technique that he draws on throughout his day. This is an example of how participants developed their mindfulness practice over time and learnt how to incorporate these habits into daily life.

Participants described that they "apply" (Ella, Kate, Mark, Polly, Sam) aspects of mindfulness that they have learnt. Some described this as developing mindful "habit[s]" (Emily, Mark, Polly, Sarah), while others suggested mindfulness was something they had incorporated into "all the things that [they] do in the day" (Emily). Kate explained her shift to integrating mindfulness into her daily life:

It's actually part of everyday life, it's more just applying the attention to whatever you're doing, that kind of thing. So I think I'm a bit more understanding of it actually being a way bigger thing than just like meditating.

Here, Kate explicitly states that she understands and incorporates mindfulness into her daily life by applying "attention" to activities throughout the day. Kate is explicitly recognising the integration of the first theme, *Attentional Awareness* into her daily life. This is an example of how participants understood mindfulness to be a broader phenomenon than just "meditating". Participants also incorporated metacognitive elements such as observing the impermanence of "thoughts or feelings" (Sam) and being aware of "why you're doing" (Bella) particular behaviours. These are both examples of how participants incorporated elements described in

the second theme, *Metacognitively Mindful*, into their daily lives. Finally, as an example of the intersection of the third theme, *Mindfully Processing and Problem Solving*, and the current theme, Sarah explained:

Even if I do get stressed it's that... core of being calm that actually helps me to know how to deal with it.

This quote shows that while Sarah recognizes and accepts the natural fluctuations of emotions that all humans experience, by using mindfulness techniques she is able to remain calm to cope with challenges and stressful situations. This is evidence of how participants apply the themes *Metacognitively Mindful* and *Mindfully Processing and Problem Solving* into their daily life.

Many participants attributed incorporating attentional components in their daily life to achieve a more positive outlook. For example, Polly comprehensively unpacked her perception of the benefits of incorporating mindfulness into her life:

There's so many spin-off effects that you do get from trying to ground yourself and be in the present, whether it's better quality... relationships, because... you're more of an active listener, when it comes to engagement. Feeling grateful for little things, it's just about, you know, opening your eyes up to things that, on a daily basis, you could have easily walked past or dismiss[ed], because your mind was in a different space... Being aware makes you realize that there's a lot of other little things that are going on all the time... how else [has]it improved? And I think just generally building on a positive mindset.

Polly is exploring how being aware of your thoughts, as discussed in the first theme, Attentional Awareness, impacts your overall outlook on life. Polly attributes being in the present moment to several positive outcomes and her positive outlook on life. Participants described similar "spin-off effects" such as living "in the moment" (Kate, Sarah, Shelly), being "at peace" (Luke), having "mental clarity" (Bella) and being "mentally healthy" (Mark). Other ways that participants described the positive outcomes from integrating mindfulness into their daily life was that it is a "good way to think positively" (Ella) and that it "allows you to enjoy the good moments more" (Sam). These outcomes are similar to those that have been observed within vast quantitative literature on mindfulness that suggest improvements in overall well-being and managing negative emotions (Chiesa & Serretti, 2009; Spijkerman et al., 2016). These positive outcomes support the body of literature that suggest improved outcomes for people with increased dispositional mindfulness levels (Tomlinson et al., 2018). A review of quantitative studies using dispositional mindfulness concluded that psychological (clinical outcome measures such as depressive, anxiety, and trauma symptoms), emotional (such as stress, well-being, and emotional regulation) and cognitive processes (coping strategies, impulsivity, and rumination) were aided by improved trait mindfulness (Tomlinson et al., 2018). While these findings have been documented quantitatively, there is limited qualitative analysis on accounts of dispositional mindfulness.

Sub-theme: Self-responsibilised Well-being

Participants credited their mindfulness practice with an increased sense of autonomy over their well-being and enhanced ability to act in accordance with their values. Participants described feeling empowered in a way that allowed them to take responsibility for themselves. They described that they were "more reliant on [themselves]" (Ella) that they "understand that... [they are] the one who [is] creating [their] reality" (Emily), and that they

are "more aware of [their] own... control [of] [their] life" (Bella). Shelly, who disclosed experiencing several traumatic events throughout her life, described that mindfulness allowed her to "shut [traumatic memories and thoughts] off" and "be able to [...] not let it overpower [her]", effectively creating space for her to continue working, unencumbered by past trauma. These statements all show the powerful shift participants reported from practicing mindfulness. Polly explored one of her core learnings from practicing mindfulness:

I think probably a huge part was the theory of being accountable, taking responsibility for your happiness. I think that was a huge trigger for me. And it's not about anyone else in your life, and you can't rely on other relationships or people... I think that was probably the biggest for me... taking ownership of your circumstances. Not that I was in difficult circumstances at all, but I think that was probably the biggest thing.

Above, Polly explored how, through learning about mindfulness, she has shifted her perception of control, empowering her to take responsibility for her happiness and way of living. This idea of "self-responsibilised" well-being was also explored in a recent qualitative analysis of post-cancer EAs where they described a perceived increase in self-reliance for emotional support (Lathren et al., 2018). Polly's statement is an example of how participants described their shift in understanding of their own power and control over their life. Kate further described mindfulness as "a never-ending goal".

Participants also reported an empowering shift in perception of how they viewed and understood themselves. They described this as having a "better relationship with yourself" (Polly) and helping you to "embrace who you are a bit more" (Polly). Sarah explained many changes that had shifted during her journey of practicing mindfulness, and during her interview I reflected back the idea she was describing:

Interviewer: It sounds like it's given you... a bit more... self-confidence.

Sarah: Exactly. Yeah, it has, which has given me independence from my environment.

Sarah's comment suggests that through gaining self-confidence by practicing mindfulness she has become more resilient and increased her ability to cope, regardless of her "environment". Sam expressed an increased ability to embrace his true self through an enhanced openness to experiences, following practicing mindfulness:

It's helped me to be more open, which I guess in a way feeds into kind of being less anxious and stuff. But I'm just more open to... I don't know... experiences, or... expressing myself, and that sort of thing, so I'm not holding in stuff.

Here, Sam is describing that through practicing mindfulness he experiences fewer negative emotions such as anxiety which allows him to be open to new experiences and expressing himself. This further reinforces that participants felt mindfulness allowed them to live a more authentic life where they felt empowered to live by their own beliefs and values. Shelly summarised this as, "It's not just breathing. It's like your whole energy ... comes from your mind and your thought."

The prior analysis has focused on mindfulness through a critical realist lens, focusing primarily on empirical (observable) and actual (first non-observable level) as participants' talk has primarily been focused around their introspective processes. I now shift to consider how these empirical level accounts of self-reliance and self-confidence can be understood through a more critical lens through considering the "real level" in Fletcher's (2017) model. These accounts of participants taking responsibility for their own well-being is sometimes

referred to within the literature as "responsibilised" well-being or "healthism" (Crawford, 1980). Through a CR framework we interpret these accounts as real and actual experiences recounted by participants, however we are able to investigate potential frameworks that contribute to meanings, norms and sociocultural ideas that shape participants' talk.

On an actual (event) level, one interpretation is that the resources participants access, whether it be through various media or technologies, shape how participants understand mindfulness (Barker, 2014). These resources are often created, although not always deliberately, in ways that convey the neoliberal ideology that individuals are fully autonomous. Through a critical realist lens, neoliberalism can be seen as discourse that attributes value to individual autonomy and self-responsibility (Davies & Bansel, 2007). This intersects with capitalism and a political framework that views the free market as the best way to achieve a 'positive' outcome for society (and the economy). Within these frameworks, health is often viewed as wider than just physical health in ways that include natural variabilities in an individual's psychological well-being (Barker, 2014; Parker, 2007; Reveley, 2016; Walsh, 2018). Critical researchers have argued that by including these natural variations in a broadened definition of health, one may be drawn into a continual process of self-surveillance, monitoring their affect and taking responsibility to (attempt) to adjust this if needed through methods such as mindfulness (Barker, 2014; Parker, 2007; Reveley, 2016; Walsh, 2018). An example of mindfulness resources conveying this ideology is through its promotion as an individual practice, for individual gain (Purser, 2019; Purser & Loy, 2013; Walsh, 2016, 2018). Through this, individuals may internalise ideas of personal choice, rendering them responsible for their own health as opposed to acknowledging collective influences (Barker, 2014; Parker, 2007; Reveley, 2016; Walsh, 2018).

As outlined by the current analysis, the often self-focused practice of mindfulness fits within neoliberal ideologies facilitating individuals to both 'do' well-being themselves, and

take responsibility for their own health (Davies & Bansel, 2007). Resources that purport to have neoliberal ideologies, along with already internalised neoliberal ideologies, influenced by Western society may contribute to why participants reported increased responsibilised levels of their health and well-being, and through a CR lens may also contribute to how participants understand mindfulness as a whole. In some way, the critical discourse above may go beyond the scope of critical realist ontologies and epistemologies. However, I have attempted to incorporate the social constructivist views of previous scholars and apply them to a CR framework, as CR is (as far as I'm aware) a novel approach to interpreting thematically analysed data on mindfulness.

Chapter 4: Discussion

Within this final chapter, I reflect on the key findings of the research. I review the themes that structured participants' talk and relate this analysis to previous literature, reflecting on the importance of continuing to broaden the mindfulness literature. I discuss the implications, strengths and limitations of my thesis and suggest directions for future research.

Extending the Current Conceptualization of Mindfulness

Extensive quantitative literature suggests mindfulness through MBPs may improve one's mental state (Chambers et al., 2015; Hofmann et al., 2010; Goldberg et al., 2018; Khoury et al. 2015; Spijkerman et al., 2016). However, relatively few studies exist of the efficacy of mindfulness outside MBP settings, and accounts of longitudinal studies (Bamber & Schneider, 2016; Grossman et al., 2004; Khoury et al.) or experienced practitioners are rare (Lindahl, 2017; Lomas et al., 2015). Only a small number of studies have sought to

understand how mindfulness may or may not be beneficial for EA populations with the majority of research in these populations using student samples (Bamber & Schneider, 2016; dos Santos et al., 2016; Kerrigan et al., 2017; O'Driscoll et al., 2019), resulting in difficulty when generalising findings (Bamber & Schneider, 2016; Chiesa & Serretti, 2009; Eberth & Sedlmeier, 2012; Grossman; Irving et al., 2009). Within an NZ context, there is a need for accessible, practical and desirable resources to improve EA's well-being due to concerning mental health rates (Canning et al., 2017; Fleming et al., 2014a,b, 2020). This raises the question; how do EAs living in NZ understand and mobilise mindfulness?

Participants' discourse of how they understand, implement, and perceive the positive and negative aspects of practicing mindfulness yielded a range of conceptualisations and ultimately framed mindfulness as an umbrella term. This speaks to the discussion around the existing ambiguity and challenges of defining mindfulness (Chiesa, 2013; Simpson et al., 2018; Van Dam et al., 2018) while aligning with Xia et al. (2019) in finding that levels of dispositional mindfulness can increase during activities not explicitly created with that objective. To portray how participants framed mindfulness, I introduced a metaphor of playing tennis, whereby each stroke and element of play represented a different type or way participants used mindfulness. This was specifically used to depict the interwoven ways participants spoke of mobilising and understanding mindfulness as when discussing mindfulness, they often integrated multiple elements that were explored in different themes and subthemes.

The first theme, *Attentional Awareness*, captured how participants understand and practice mindfulness. Participants' talk of attentional awareness aligns with a large body of research including conceptualisations of mindfulness (Bishop et al., 2004; Shapiro et al., 2006) and studies that utilise MBPs (Chiesa & Serretti, 2009; Crane et al., 2017; Keng et al., 2011; Renshaw et al., 2017). This analysis elaborates on the current literature by

incorporating two distinct and specific attentional components to their practice: *introspective* and *exteroceptive attention*. I adopted these phrases from the cognitive attention literature (Farb et al., 2013a,b; Fox et al., 2012; Liottel et al., 2001) as there is not a cohesive term for these practices within the mindfulness literature. This theme adds breadth of understanding to existing literature through unpacking participants' cognitions during their practice.

The second theme, *Metacognitively Mindful*, unpacks the many ways participants perceive how they view their thoughts, answering how participants both understand and mobilise mindfulness. This conceptualisation of metacognition aligns closely with the concepts of reperceiving (Shapiro et al., 2006, 2009) and decentering (Fresco et al., 2007). These concepts describe one's ability to metaphorically step back from their thoughts to reflect on them. Through utilising metacognition, participants adopted and, at times, struggled to incorporate acceptance of their thoughts into their mindfulness practice, reflected by two sub-themes. While adopting acceptance into mindfulness practices is commonly explored within the conceptualisations of mindfulness (Bishop et al., 2004; Kabat Zinn, 1994; Shapiro et al., 2006) and within MBPs (Hayes et al., 2004; Linehan et al., 2001; Segal et al., 2002), limited literature has explored challenges around this.

Additionally, participants spoke of metacognitively adopting impermanence to aid acceptance, and at times struggling with impermanence which was reflected in two further sub-themes. Discussion of impermanence aligned with the concepts of cognitive diffusion (Fletcher & Hayes, 2005), decentering (Allen et al., 2009), and metacognitive insight (Bishop et al., 2004; Norman et al., 2019). Impermanence is also a core concept within Buddhist literature (Kalupahana, 1975; Kong, 2009) so in many ways this sub-theme was not surprising. To date, challenges with impermanence have not been comprehensively explored in the literature. This lack of literature emphasises the need for further research to understand

the challenges and adverse effects associated with mindfulness (Britton, 2019; Coronado-Montoya et al., 2016; Dimidjian & Segal, 2018; Lomas et al., 2015).

The final sub-theme in the second theme, *metacognitive control*, unpacked how, through utilising metacognitive processes, participants perceived they had increased control of their thoughts. Of particular interest within this sub-theme was that some participants suggested that with increased metacognitive control they also perceived increased control in their behaviours. This suggests an increased sense of agency. In summary, this theme built on the current literature and provided in-depth accounts of meta-cognition. However, it also emphasises the need for more comprehensive research, particularly surrounding challenges associated with mindfulness. Current literature does not pay much attention to adverse experiences of individuals who practice mindfulness. In not doing so, the literature is at risk of being reductionist in its representation of experiences of mindfulness.

The third theme, *Mindfully Processing and Problem Solving*, captures participants' beliefs that mindfulness includes both problem solving and the processing of thoughts. This theme contributes to answering questions of how and why participants practice mindfulness. Participants described applying both attention and metacognition techniques to particular challenges or issues they faced to understand and decide how to move forward and resolve their challenge. The sub-theme, *Mindfulness as a Coping Mechanism*, depicts participants' explicit talk around applying mindfulness related techniques to improve their ability to cope with challenges. This theme is somewhat unsurprising as MBPs are often framed and marketed to relieve unease (Hayes et al., 1999; Kabat-Zinn, 1990). Further, previous qualitative research with health-care professionals has described similar themes where mindfulness was also framed as a way to process, problem solve, and cope (Marthiensen et al., 2019; Nugent et al., 2011). As the first qualitative study to report this conceptualisation of mindfulness using non-medical staff, these findings build on the existing narrative that

mindfulness can be perceived and mobilised to process thoughts, problem solve, and help cope.

The final theme, Part of Everyday Life, encompasses how participants understand mindfulness to be more than a standalone activity. This theme aligns closely with the theory of dispositional mindfulness (Brown & Ryan, 2003; Lau et al., 2006) which refers to a level of mindfulness every individual holds throughout their daily life. Specially, the sub-theme, "It's a lot more than what you originally think it is": Shift in Understanding Mindfulness, explores a shift in conceptualisations of mindfulness that occurred with increased practice. Initially, the participants perceived mindfulness as an activity to do at one point but over time incorporated elements of their mindfulness practice (explored in earlier themes) into their daily life. This sub-theme in particular highlights the importance of understanding experienced practitioners' accounts and perceptions of mindfulness. Finally, Selfresponsibilised Well-being, also known as healthism (Crawford, 1980) was discussed. Participants perceived an increase in autonomy over their well-being and felt able to act in accordance with their values. A recent descriptive qualitative analysis of interviews with postcancer EAs reported similar findings (Lathren et al., 2018). Interestingly, Lathren et al. (2018) did not explore the notion of healthism in the context of their results, which perhaps is due to differing epistemological and ontological positionings when reading the data. Attempting to unpack the actual and real levels of participants' talk using a CR lens, I adopted a slightly more critical stance when interpreting participants' talk on self-responsibilised well-being. Through mobilising mindfulness, participants perceived increased autonomy over their wellbeing due to increased dispositional mindfulness and a sense of control of their thoughts. This shift in perception aligns with neoliberal ideas of responsibilisation (Davies & Bansel, 2007; Purser, 2019; Purser & Loy, 2013; Walsh, 2016, 2018). Overall, this theme explored why

participants continue to practice mindfulness and how their ideas of what mindfulness is have changed over their course of practice.

Implications

These results have both theoretical and practical implications. The vast majority of previous research has been quantitative in nature, utilising quantitative pretest posttest designs of MBPs with adult samples. These studies largely focus on measurable outcomes of these MBPs rather than understanding participants' conceptualizations of mindfulness. Further, there is limited research using EA samples with most literature of this life stage utilising MBPs with student samples (Bamber & Schneider, 2016; dos Santos et al., 2016; Kerrigan et al., 2017; O'Driscoll et al., 2019) and some with non-student samples (Donovan et al., 2019; Lathren et al., 2018; Li et al., 2019; Monshat et al., 2013). To date no study using EA samples has included follow up data or sought to understood how mindfulness is incorporated into the lives of participants. The present study contributes to the literature by emphasising the need for more diversity within the literature and argues that, through employing qualitative methodologies, we can gain a deeper understanding of mindfulness. Specifically, this study begins to fill a gap in both the EA and wider mindfulness literature through thematically analysing how a sample of EAs from NZ understand and mobilise mindfulness removed from an MBP setting.

The findings of this thesis build on how mindfulness is understood by those who practice it, particularly outside MBPs. In general, mindfulness was understood to be beneficial for improving well-being, aligning with the MBP literature (Bamber & Schneider, 2016; dos Santos et al., 2016; Kerrigan et al., 2017; O'Driscoll et al., 2019). However, this thesis adds to the literature by gaining more in-depth accounts of the underlying cognitive

processes that are considered mindful and how, when, and why it is mobilised by a sample of EA.

As literature evidenced and participants confirmed, EA is a group that experiences poorer well-being and increased psychological distress (Arnett, 2000; Fleming et al., 2014, 2020a,b). While this thesis primarily focuses on mindfulness, it also contributes humanistic accounts of challenge during emerging adulthood to the literature. These accounts of emerging adulthood build on the existing literature and can be used in conjunction with other bodies of work to emphasise the struggles in this life stage. This can be helpful for individuals' understandings and when informing policy that is aimed at improving this life stage's well-being as, prior to creating policies, the issues needs to be comprehensively understood. This is not to say this thesis alone can contribute to policy but when combined with other modes of research it may contribute.

There is a clear need for feasible interventions to improve well-being and prevent ongoing psychological distress in this population. Despite at times finding mindfulness challenging, participants generally advocated that mindfulness could be beneficial for others to learn at a younger age. The consensus was that this would be beneficial as mindfulness can aid coping with adverse experiences and maintaining good mental health, aligning with the majority of the literature.

My study provides a reminder of the importance of diversifying methodologies in order to gain a more in depth understanding of how mindfulness is conceptualized by those who practice it. While there are clear benefits of the MBP pretest posttest designs, there is need for more diverse research, particularly regarding how mindfulness is integrated into westernised lifestyles and the longer-term effects this has on individual well-being. Without understanding the longer-term effects and implications of developing and incorporating a mindfulness practice into daily life, it is difficult to draw conclusions as to whether

mindfulness and MBPs are in fact beneficial for people to engage in. This study builds on the narrative that having a mindfulness practice has the potential to enhance one's well-being. However, it also highlights the importance of capturing in-depth accounts in order to gain a more complete picture of one's experience that perhaps is harder to capture using survey data. While this study captures accounts of how a sample of EAs understood and mobilised mindfulness, I acknowledge that my analysis is only one way to interpret the data which emphasises that my analysis may not be generalisable to other samples and populations.

Limitations

By focusing on mindfulness in westernised settings, my literature review holds potential limitations. As mindfulness stems from Eastern traditions and remains popular in many non-western societies, it is possible there are relevant studies I have not reviewed due to only being able to review English papers. Additionally, while I acknowledge the origins of mindfulness stem from Buddhist traditions, I did not comprehensively review the literature on mindfulness within a Buddhist context. This was primarily because this was not the focus of the current study and there is such a breadth of existing (quantitative) literature within a westernised setting. EA samples were also difficult to identify in the literature, mainly as participant ages were often not stated. Arnett (2000) also frames EA as a life stage rather than age, meaning emerging adulthood could potentially span over the studies 18-25 age range. Finally, as most of the existing literature used quantitative methods I was limited with the amount of qualitative literature I could include in the study. Despite these limitations, I attempted to locate my qualitative thesis within the current body of work around mindfulness.

As outlined in the methods chapter, I encountered some challenges during recruitment.

Although some organisations agreed to circulate my research flyer, most declined as they reported not having EAs attend their organisation. This highlights the possibility that at least

within formal organisations, mindfulness is not often practiced by EAs. Due to this challenge in recruitment I opted to post flyers physically and in the virtual community through university groups and notice boards in the Auckland region. This was a more successful method of reaching potential participants and is primarily how I located my sample. My sample was predominately made up of those who identified with NZ European ethnicities, and most were female. Notably, this sample is not representative of the multi-cultural NZ population (Statistics New Zealand, 2020). The sample did have somewhat diverse occupations with approximately half identifying primarily as students with the other half in full-time employment. However, students were overrepresented compared to the general population (Statistics New Zealand, 2018). To capture a representative sample of the diverse NZ EA population would require a much larger, and possibly longitudinal study which was not possible due to time constraints of a master's thesis. The aim of qualitative research is not to capture a representative sample (Braun & Clarke, 2006, 2014, 2016) as there is a need for programmes and services to improve EA's well-being, however, research is needed with more culturally diverse samples prior to recommending mindfulness as a way to improve wellbeing.

I acknowledge that the limited adverse effects reported in this study may largely be due to my sampling methods. As I recruited participants who self-identified as currently practicing mindfulness, I possibly excluded potential participants who used to practice mindfulness but had stopped due to adverse experiences. Nevertheless, I sought to create a rounded picture of mindfulness, including questions of adverse experiences in my interview schedule which was reflected by two sub-themes in my analysis. The gap on adverse experiences is still one that needs attention and future research should focus on this potentially by recruiting mindfulness practitioners who have stopped practicing mindfulness due to adverse experiences.

Reflecting on the initial interviews, I recognised participants had challenges in articulating their definition of mindfulness. By asking how their understanding relates to Kabat-Zinn's (1990) definition, participants appeared more able to speak to their interpretation of mindfulness. One possible critique of adding this quote is that it may have influenced participants' opinions when defining mindfulness. To minimise this potential influence, I explicitly stated that everyone's understanding of mindfulness is different and that I was interested in participants' beliefs. While participants appeared comfortable comparing and contrasting their understanding of mindfulness to Kabat-Zinn's (1990) definition, it may have influenced how participants defined mindfulness and therefore be a potential critique of this research.

I set out to understand what mindfulness was to EAs, how they mobilised it and integrated it into their life. I chose to adopt qualitative methodologies for my thesis in an attempt to gain a more in depth understanding of participants' accounts of mindfulness. While this was an appropriate way to gain insight into unpacking my research question, with qualitative methodologies there is a limit to generalisability of results, especially with smaller samples (Braun & Clark, 2006, 2014, 2016). With particular reference to qualitative research, the analysis of interviews is my interpretation which means it is one version of interpreting the data that is shaped by my own ontological and epistemological understandings. While I maintained reflexive practices during this research process, I acknowledge that it is impossible (and was not my intention) to entirely remove myself as the researcher from the process. However, this means that the analysis is ultimately influenced by my interpretation of mindfulness and my experience of the research process. Therefore, while this thesis allows insight into how a sample of EAs practice and understand mindfulness, generalisability of this analysis is met with caution.

Future Directions

The current literature primarily employs mindfulness-based programmes utilising quantitative methods in a pretest posttest study design. This thesis contributes to diversifying the literature by thematically analysing interviews with EAs who practice mindfulness outside of MBP settings through a critical realist lens. However, further research using qualitative methodologies is necessary as there is still a need to understand the human experience of practising mindfulness within other populations. This research is particularly important with both experienced and non-eurocentric individuals as these, along with many other factors, may impact one's understandings of mindfulness. This call for differing demographics is particularly important as most studies today use eurocentric individuals living in urban environments (Bamber & Schneider, 2016; Eberth & Sedlmeier, 2012; Khoury et al., 2015) narrowing the breadth in research and, therefore, the applicability of mindfulness to diverse populations. Additionally, there is some urgency for studies to investigate adverse experiences of mindfulness as this is a particularly under-researched area that has important implications for practitioners and MBP administrators alike (Britton, 2019; Lomas et al., 2015; Wong et al., 2018). As the current sample of EAs had a mindfulness practice, it is unsurprising they found it beneficial. However, the challenges reported in the theme Metacognitively Mindful emphasise the need for more research on adverse experiences of both experienced practitioners and those who have stopped practising mindfulness. Through diversifying the mindfulness research in future studies, the literature will become more robust and result in an increased understanding of the strengths and limitations of mindfulness.

There is a need for future research to unpack the intersection of mindfulness and spirituality. Several participants reported that learning mindfulness impacted their spiritual and religious practices, particularly for those who associated with branches of Christianity. While unpacking this was beyond the scope of this thesis, it speaks to a gap within the

literature that is especially relevant in an NZ context where holistic health models are essential for understanding Māori well-being (Bernay et al., 2016; Devcich et al., 2017; MOH, 2015). As a major deficit in NZ healthcare is spirituality (MOH, 2015), incorporating mindfulness may potentially benefit both clinicians and clients alike. However, before making recommendations, comprehensive and culturally relevant research is needed.

With emerging adulthood identified as a challenging life stage, there is a need for accessible, adaptable, and engaging ways for EAs to improve their well-being. The current study asked if mindfulness could be one mechanism that may be beneficial to this population through qualitatively interviewing individuals in this life stage who had a current mindfulness practice. While there is a need to investigate other potential ways to improve EAs' well-being, some literature suggests mindfulness may be beneficial to this population. To date, the existing mindfulness literature using EA samples have utilised student or medical populations. This study contributes to diversifying the literature by interviewing a more general sample of EAs. Through thematically analysing interviews, four themes and 11 subthemes unpacked how participants understood and mobilised mindfulness. These themes primarily positioned mindfulness as a broad and encompassing term with a variety of elements that ultimately enhance one's life.

References

- Abbott, R. A., Whear, R., Rodgers, L. R., Bethel, A., Thompson Coon, J., Kuyken, W., Stein, K., & Dickens, C. (2014). Effectiveness of mindfulness-based stress reduction and mindfulness based cognitive therapy in vascular disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. (5), 341–351. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2014.02.012
- Agee, J. D., Danoff-Burg, S., & Grant, C. A. (2009). Comparing brief stress management courses in a community sample: Mindfulness skills and progressive muscle relaxation. Explore, 5(2), 104-109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.explore.2008.12.004
- Aich, T. K. (2013). Buddha philosophy and western psychology. Indian Journal of Psychiatry, 55(Suppl 2), S165. https://doi: 10.4103/0019-5545.105517
- Akobeng, A. K. (2005). Understanding randomised controlled trials. Archives of disease in childhood, 90(8), 840-844. https://doi.org/10.1136/adc.2004.058222
- Allen, M., Bromley, A., Kuyken, W., & Sonnenberg, S. J. (2009). Participants' experiences of mindfulness-based cognitive therapy: "it changed me in just about every way possible". Behavioural and cognitive psychotherapy, 37(4), 413-430. https://doi.org/10.1017/S135246580999004X
- Altwaijri, Y. A., Al-Habeeb, A., Al-Subaie, A. S., Bilal, L., Al-Desouki, M., Shahab, M. K., Hyder, S., Sampson, N. A., King, A. J., & Kessler, R. C. (2020). Twelve-month prevalence and severity of mental disorders in the Saudi National Mental Health

Survey. International Journal of Methods in Psychiatric Research, 29(3), e1831. https://doi.org/10.1002/mpr.1831

- Anderson, T. (2016). Personalizing the Training of Attention: Predicting Effectiveness of Meditation using Traits and Abilities [Doctoral dissertation, University of Toronto]. A21https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Thomas_Anderson10/publication/3136150 60_Personalizing_the_Training_of_Attention_Predicting_Effectiveness_of_Meditat ion_using_Traits_and_Abilities/links/589fe6a792851c7fb4bdf6aa/Personalizing-the-Training-of-Attention-Predicting-Effectiveness-of-Meditation-using-Traits-and-Abilities.pdf
- Arch, J. J., & Craske, M. G. (2006). Mechanisms of mindfulness: Emotion regulation following a focused breathing induction. Behaviour research and therapy, 44(12), 1849-1858. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2005.12.007
- Arnett, J. J. (1998). Learning to stand alone: The contemporary American transition to adulthood in cultural and historical context. Human development, 41(5-6), 295-315. https://doi.org/10.1159/000022591
- Arnett, J. J. (2000). Emerging adulthood: A theory of development from the late teens through the twenties. American Psychologist, 55(5), 469–480. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.55.5.469

- Arnett, J. J. (2001). Conceptions of the transition to adulthood: Perspectives from adolescence through midlife. Journal of adult development, 8(2), 133-143. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1026450103225
- Arnett, J. J. (2006). Emerging Adulthood: Understanding the New Way of Coming of Age. https://doi.org/10.1037/11381-001
- Arnett, J. J. (2007). Emerging adulthood: What is it, and what is it good for?. Child development perspectives, 1(2), 68-73. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-8606.2007.00016.x
- Baer, R. A., Smith, G. T., Hopkins, J., Krietemeyer, J., & Toney, L. (2006). Using self-report assessment methods to explore facets of mindfulness. Assessment, 13(1), 27-45. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191105283504
- Baer, R. A., Smith, G. T., Lykins, E., Button, D., Krietemeyer, J., Sauer, S., Walsh, E.,
 Duggan, D., & Williams, J. M. G. (2008). Construct validity of the five facet
 mindfulness questionnaire in meditating and nonmeditating
 samples. Assessment, 15(3), 329-342. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191107313003
- Baer, R., Crane, C., Miller, E., & Kuyken, W. (2019). Doing no harm in mindfulness-based programs: conceptual issues and empirical findings. Clinical psychology review, 71, 101-114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2019.01.001

- Bamber, M. D., & Morpeth, E. (2019). Effects of mindfulness meditation on college student anxiety: A meta-analysis. Mindfulness, 10(2), 203-214. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-018-0965-5
- Bamber, M. D., & Schneider, J. K. (2016). Mindfulness-based meditation to decrease stress and anxiety in college students: A narrative synthesis of the research. Educational Research Review, 18, 1-32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2015.12.004
- Barker, K. K. (2014). Mindfulness meditation: Do-it-yourself medicalization of every moment. Social Science & Medicine, 106, 168-176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.01.024
- Berger, R. (2015). Now I see it, now I don't: Researcher's position and reflexivity in qualitative research. Qualitative research, 15(2), 219-234. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794112468475
- Bernay, R., Graham, E., Devcich, D. A., Rix, G., & Rubie-Davies, C. M. (2016). Pause, breathe, smile: A mixed-methods study of student well-being following participation in an eight-week, locally developed mindfulness program in three New Zealand schools. Advances in School Mental Health Promotion, 9(2), 90-106. https://doi.org/10.1080/1754730X.2016.1154474
- Bhaskar, R. (1998). Philosophy and scientific realism. Routledge

- Birnbaum, L., & Birnbaum, A. (2004). In search of inner wisdom: guided mindfulness meditation in the context of suicide. The Scientific World Journal, 4. https://doi.org/10.1100/tsw.2004.17
- Bishop, A. R. (1995). Collaborative research stories: Whakawhanaungatanga [Doctoral dissertation, University of Otago]. http://hdl.handle.net/10523/531
- Bishop, S. R., Lau, M., Shapiro, S., Carlson, L., Anderson, N. D., Carmody, J., Segal, Z. V., Abbey, S., Speca, M., Velting, D., & Devins, G. (2004). Mindfulness: A proposed operational definition. Clinical psychology: Science and practice, 11(3), 230-241. https://doi.org/10.1093/clipsy.bph077
- Bodhi, B. (1994). The noble eightfold path: The way to the end of suffering. Buddhist Publication Society. https://www.google.co.nz/books/edition/_/--vzVMVPHJMC?hl=en&gbpv=1
- Bohlmeijer, E., Prenger, R., Taal, E., & Cuijpers, P. (2010). The effects of mindfulness-based stress reduction therapy on mental health of adults with a chronic medical disease: a meta-analysis. Journal of psychosomatic research, 68(6), 539-544. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2009.10.005
- Bolam, B., Gleeson, K., & Murphy, S. (2003, May). "Lay Person" or "Health Expert"?

 Exploring Theoretical and Practical Aspects of Reflexivity in Qualitative Health

 Research. In Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung/Forum: Qualitative Social

 Research (Vol. 4, No. 2). http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-4.2.699

- Bott, E. (2010). Favourites and others: reflexivity and the shaping of subjectivities and data in qualitative research. Qualitative research, 10(2), 159-173. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794109356736
- Bowlin, S. L., & Baer, R. A. (2012). Relationships between mindfulness, self-control, and psychological functioning. Personality and Individual Differences, 52(3), 411-415. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2011.10.050
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative research in psychology, 3(2), 77-101. http://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2012). Thematic analysis. In H. Cooper, P. M. Camic, D. L. Long,
 A. T. Panter, D. Rindskopf, & K. J. Sher (Eds.), APA handbooks in psychology.
 APA handbook of research methods in psychology, Vol. 2. Research designs:
 Quantitative, qualitative, neuropsychological, and biological (p. 57–71). American
 Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/13620-004
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2014). What can "thematic analysis" offer health and wellbeing researchers?. *International journal of qualitative studies on health and wellbeing*, 9. https://doi.org/10.3402/qhw.v9.26152
- Bravo, A. J., Pearson, M. R., Wilson, A. D., & Witkiewitz, K. (2018). When traits match states: Examining the associations between self-report trait and state mindfulness following a state mindfulness induction. Mindfulness, 9(1), 199-211. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-017-0763-5

- Britton, W. B. (2019). Can mindfulness be too much of a good thing? The value of a middle way. Current opinion in psychology, 28, 159-165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2018.12.011
- Brown, A., Fleetwood, S., Roberts, J. (Eds.). (2002). Critical Realism and Marxism.

 London: Routledge, https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203299227
- Brown, K. W., & Ryan, R. M. (2003). The benefits of being present: Mindfulness and its role in psychological well-being., (4), 822–848. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.84.4.822
- Brown, K. W., Ryan, R. M., & Creswell, J. D. (2007). Addressing fundamental questions about mindfulness. Psychological Inquiry, 18(4), 272-281. https://doi.org/10.1080/10478400701703344
- Buddhaghosa, B. (1976). Vissuddhimagga: The path of purification, (B. Nayanamoli, Trans.). Shambala.
- Buttle, H. (2013). More than the sum of my parts: a cognitive psychologist reflects on mindfulness/meditation experience. Reflective Practice, 14(6), 766-773. https://doi.org/10.1080/14623943.2013.835718
- Canning, J., Denny, S., Bullen, P., Clark, T., & Rossen, F. (2017). Influence of positive development opportunities on student well-being, depression and suicide risk: the New Zealand Youth Health and Well-being Survey 2012. Kōtuitui: New Zealand

Journal of Social Sciences Online, 12(2), 119-133. https://doi.org/10.1080/1177083X.2017.1300924

- Cardoso, R., de Souza, E., Camano, L., & Leite, J. R. (2004). Meditation in health: an operational definition. Brain research protocols, 14(1), 58-60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresprot.2004.09.002
- Carlson, L. E., & Garland, S. N. (2005). Impact of mindfulness-based stress reduction (MBSR) on sleep, mood, stress and fatigue symptoms in cancer outpatients.

 International journal of behavioral medicine, 12(4), 278-285.

 https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327558ijbm1204_9
- Carr, M. (1993). "Mind-Monkey" Metaphors in Chinese and Japanese Dictionaries.

 International Journal of Lexicography, 6(3), 149-180.

 https://doi.org/10.1093/ijl/6.3.149
- Chambers, R., Gullone, E., Hassed, C., Knight, W., Garvin, T., & Allen, N. (2015).

 Mindful emotion regulation predicts recovery in depressed youth. Mindfulness,
 6(3), 523-534. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-014-0284-4
- Chiesa, A. (2013). The difficulty of defining mindfulness: Current thought and critical issues. Mindfulness, 4(3), 255-268. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-012-0123-4
- Chiesa, A., & Malinowski, P. (2011). Mindfulness-based approaches: are they all the same?

 Journal of clinical psychology, 67(4), 404-424. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.20776

- Chiesa, A., & Serretti, A. (2009). Mindfulness-based stress reduction for stress management in healthy people: a review and meta-analysis. The journal of alternative and complementary medicine, 15(5), 593-600. https://doi.org/10.1089/acm.2008.0495
- Cladder-Micus, M. B., Becker, E. S., Spijker, J., Speckens, A. E., & Vrijsen, J. N. (2019).

 Effects of mindfulness-based cognitive therapy on a behavioural measure of rumination in patients with chronic, treatment-resistant depression. Cognitive

 Therapy and Research, 43(4), 666-678. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10608-019-09997-8
- Clark, T., Fleming, T., Bullen, P., Crengle, S., Denny, S., Dyson, B., fortune, S., Peiris-John, R., Robinson, E., Rossen, F., Sheridan, J., Teevale. T., Utter, J., & The Adolescent Health Research Group (2013). Youth'12 Prevalence Tables: The health and wellbeing of New Zealand secondary school students in 2012. University of Auckland. Faculty of Medical and Health Sciences.

 https://www.fmhs.auckland.ac.nz/assets/fmhs/faculty/ahrg/docs/2012prevalence-tables-report.pdf
- Clarke, V., & Braun, V. (2013). Teaching thematic analysis: Overcoming challenges and developing strategies for effective learning. The psychologist, 26(2). https://uwe-repository.worktribe.com/output/937596/teaching-thematic-analysis-overcoming-challenges-and-developing-strategies-for-effective-learning

- Coffey, K. A., & Hartman, M. (2008). Mechanisms of action in the inverse relationship between mindfulness and psychological distress. Complementary health practice review, 13(2), 79-91. https://doi.org/10.1177/1533210108316307
- Collard, P., & Walsh, J. (2008). Sensory awareness mindfulness training in coaching:

 Accepting life's challenges. Journal of Rational-Emotive & Cognitive-Behavior

 Therapy, 26(1), 30-37. DOI 10.1007/s10942-007-0071-4
- Copeland, W., Shanahan, L., Costello, E. J., & Angold, A. (2011). Cumulative prevalence of psychiatric disorders by young adulthood: a prospective cohort analysis from the Great Smoky Mountains Study. Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 50(3), 252–261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2010.12.014
- Coronado-Montoya, S., Levis, A. W., Kwakkenbos, L., Steele, R. J., Turner, E. H., & Thombs, B. D. (2016). Reporting of positive results in randomized controlled trials of mindfulness-based mental health interventions. PloS one, 11(4), e0153220. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0153220
- Crane, C., & Williams, J. M. G. (2010). Factors associated with attrition from mindfulness-based cognitive therapy in patients with a history of suicidal depression. Mindfulness, 1(1), 10-20. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-010-0003-8
- Crane, R. S., Brewer, J., Feldman, C., Kabat-Zinn, J., Santorelli, S., Williams, J. M. G., & Kuyken, W. (2017). What defines mindfulness-based programs? The warp and the

weft. Psychological medicine, 47(6), 990-999. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291716003317

- Crawford, R. (1980). Healthism and the medicalization of everyday life. International journal of health services, 10(3), 365-388. https://doi.org/10.2190/3H2H-3XJN-3KAY-G9NY
- Cunliffe, A. L., & Easterby-Smith, M. (2004). From reflection to practical reflexivity:

 Experiential learning as lived experience. In R. Vince, & M. Reynolds (Eds.),

 Organizing reflection, (pp. 30-46). Routledge.

 https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315247502
- Davies, B., & Bansel, P. (2007). Neoliberalism and education. International journal of qualitative studies in education, 20(3), 247-259. https://doi.org/10.1080/09518390701281751
- Davis, K. M., Lau, M. A., & Cairns, D. R. (2009). Development and preliminary validation of a trait version of the Toronto Mindfulness Scale. Journal of Cognitive

 Psychotherapy, 23(3), 185-197. https://doi.org/10.1891/0889-8391.23.3.185
- Devcich, D. A., Rix, G., Bernay, R., & Graham, E. (2017). Effectiveness of a Mindfulness-Based Program on School Children's Self-Reported Well-Being: A Pilot Study Comparing Effects With An Emotional Literacy Program. Journal of Applied School Psychology, 33(4), 309-330.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/15377903.2017.1316333

- DiCicco-Bloom, B., & Crabtree, B. F. (2006). The qualitative research interview. Medical education, 40(4), 314-321. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2929.2006.02418.x
- Dimidjian, S., & Segal, Z. V. (2015). Prospects for a clinical science of mindfulness-based intervention. American Psychologist, 70(7), 593. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0039589
- Dobkin, P. L., Hickman, S., & Monshat, K. (2014). Holding the heart of mindfulness-based stress reduction: balancing fidelity and imagination when adapting MBSR.

 Mindfulness, 5(6), 710-718. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-013-0225-7
- Dodge, R., Daly, A. P., Huyton, J., & Sanders, L. D. (2012). The challenge of defining wellbeing. International Journal of Wellbeing, 2(3).

 https://www.internationaljournalofwellbeing.org/index.php/ijow/article/view/89
- dos Santos, T. M., Kozasa, E. H., Carmagnani, I. S., Tanaka, L. H., Lacerda, S. S., & Nogueira-Martins, L. A. (2016). Positive effects of a stress reduction program based on mindfulness meditation in Brazilian nursing professionals: Qualitative and quantitative evaluation. Explore, 12(2), 90-99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.explore.2015.12.005
- Dvořáková, K., Kishida, M., Li, J., Elavsky, S., Broderick, P. C., Agrusti, M. R., & Greenberg, M. T. (2017). Promoting healthy transition to college through mindfulness training with first-year college students: Pilot randomized controlled trial. Journal of American College Health, 65(4), 259-267. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2017.1278605

- Eberth, J., & Sedlmeier, P. (2012). The effects of mindfulness meditation: a meta-analysis.

 Mindfulness, 3(3), 174-189. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-012-0101-x
- Eby, L. T., Allen, T. D., Conley, K. M., Williamson, R. L., Henderson, T. G., & Mancini, V. S. (2019). Mindfulness-based training interventions for employees: A qualitative review of the literature. Human Resource Management Review, 29(2), 156-178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2017.03.004
- Ellis, D. A., Carcone, A. I., Slatcher, R., Naar-King, S., Hains, A., Graham, A., & Sibinga, E. (2019). Efficacy of mindfulness-based stress reduction in emerging adults with poorly controlled, type 1 diabetes: A pilot randomized controlled trial. Pediatric Diabetes, 20(2), 226-234. https://doi.org/10.1111/pedi.12807
- Emmel, N. (2013). Sample size. In Emmel, N. Sampling and choosing cases in qualitative research: A realist approach (pp. 137-156). SAGE Publications. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781473913882.n9
- Epstein, R. M. (1999). Mindful practice. Jama, 282(9), 833-839. doi:10.1001/jama.282.9.833
- Farb, N. A., Segal, Z. V., & Anderson, A. K. (2013a). Attentional modulation of primary interoceptive and exteroceptive cortices. Cerebral cortex, 23(1), 114-126. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhr385

- Farb, N. A., Segal, Z. V., & Anderson, A. K. (2013b). Mindfulness meditation training alters cortical representations of interoceptive attention. Social cognitive and affective neuroscience, 8(1), 15-26. https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nss066
- Farb, N. A., Segal, Z. V., Mayberg, H., Bean, J., McKeon, D., Fatima, Z., & Anderson, A. K. (2007). Attending to the present: mindfulness meditation reveals distinct neural modes of self-reference. Social cognitive and affective neuroscience, 2(4), 313-322. https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nsm030
- Farnsworth, J., & Boon, B. (2010). Analysing group dynamics within the focus group.

 Qualitative Research, 10(5), 605-624. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794110375223
- Feldman, G., Hayes, A., Kumar, S., Greeson, J., & Laurenceau, J. P. (2007). Mindfulness and emotion regulation: The development and initial validation of the Cognitive and Affective Mindfulness Scale-Revised (CAMS-R). Journal of psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment, 29(3), 177. DOI 10.1007/s10862-006-9035-8
- Fergusson, D. M., Horwood, L. J., & Ridder, E. M. (2007). Conduct and attentional problems in childhood and adolescence and later substance use, abuse and dependence: results of a 25-year longitudinal study. Drug and alcohol dependence, 88, S14-S26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2006.12.011
- Fergusson, D., Glass, K. C., Waring, D., & Shapiro, S. (2004). Turning a blind eye: the success of blinding reported in a random sample of randomised, placebo controlled

trials. Bmj, 328(7437), 432. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.328.74327.37952.631667.EE

- Finlay, L. (2002). "Outing" the researcher: The provenance, process, and practice of reflexivity. Qualitative health research, 12(4), 531-545.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/104973202129120052
- Fitzpatrick, L., Simpson, J., & Smith, A. (2010). A qualitative analysis of mindfulness-based cognitive therapy (MBCT) in Parkinson's disease. Psychology and Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice, 83(2), 179-192. https://doi.org/10.1348/147608309X471514
- Fjorback, L. O., Arendt, M., Ørnbøl, E., Fink, P., & Walach, H. (2011). Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction and Mindfulness-Based Cognitive Therapy—a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 124(2), 102-119. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0447.2011.01704.x
- Flavell, J. H. (1979). Metacognitive and cognitive monitoring: a new era of psychological inquiry. American Psychologist, 34(10), 906-111. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066x.34.10.906
- Fleming, T. M., Clark, T., Denny, S., Bullen, P., Crengle, S., Peiris-John, R., Robinson, R., Rossen, F.V., Sheridan, J., & Lucassen, M. (2014). Stability and change in the mental health of New Zealand secondary school students 2007–2012: Results from

- the national adolescent health surveys. Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry, 48(5), 472-480. https://doi.org/10.1177/0004867413514489
- Fleming, T., Peiris-John, R., Crengle, S., Archer, D., Sutcliffe, K., Lewycka, S., & Clark, T. (2020a). Youth19 Rangatahi Smart Survey, Initial Findings: Introduction and Methods. The Youth19 Research Group, The University of Auckland and Victoria University of Wellington, New Zealand.

 https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5bdbb75ccef37259122e59aa/t/5f4ac1822d7a7 777df35d83b/1598734751328/Youth19+Initial+Findings+Intro+and+Method.pdf
- Fleming, T., Tiatia-Seath, J., Peiris-John, R., Sutcliffe, K., Archer, D., Bavin, L., Crengle, S., & Clark, T. (2020b). Youth19 Rangatahi Smart Survey, Initial Findings: Hauora Hinengaro / Emotional and Mental Health. The Youth19 Research Group, The University of Auckland and Victoria University of Wellington, New Zealand. https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5bdbb75ccef37259122e59aa/t/5f338e4cfb539 d2246e9e5ce/1597214306382/Youth19+Mental+Health+Report.pdf
- Fletcher, A. J. (2017). Applying critical realism in qualitative research: methodology meets method. International journal of social research methodology, 20(2), 181-194. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2016.1144401
- Fletcher, L., & Hayes, S. C. (2005). Relational frame theory, acceptance and commitment therapy, and a functional analytic definition of mindfulness. Journal of rational-emotive and cognitive-behavior therapy, 23(4), 315-336. DOI: 10.1007/s10942-005-0017-7

- Fox, K. C., Zakarauskas, P., Dixon, M., Ellamil, M., Thompson, E., & Christoff, K. (2012).

 Meditation experience predicts introspective accuracy. PloS one, 7(9), e45370.

 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0045370
- Fresco, D. M., Segal, Z. V., Buis, T., & Kennedy, S. (2007). Relationship of posttreatment decentering and cognitive reactivity to relapse in major depression. Journal of consulting and clinical psychology, 75(3), 447. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.75.3.447
- Friedman, K. (2017). Counselor self-care and mindfulness. Contemporary Buddhism, 18(2), 321-330. https://doi.org/10.1080/14639947.2017.1373437
- Friese, M., Messner, C., & Schaffner, Y. (2012). Mindfulness meditation counteracts self-control depletion. Consciousness and cognition, 21(2), 1016-1022. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2012.01.008
- Fugard, A. J., & Potts, H. W. (2015). Supporting thinking on sample sizes for thematic analyses: a quantitative tool. International Journal of Social Research Methodology, 18(6), 669-684. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2015.1005453
- Furlong, A. (Ed.). (2009). Handbook of youth and young adulthood: new perspectives and agendas. routledge.
- Galante, J., Dufour, G., Vainre, M., Wagner, A. P., Stochl, J., Benton, A., Lathia, N., Howarth, E., & Jones, P. B. (2018). A mindfulness-based intervention to increase resilience to stress in university students (the Mindful Student Study): a pragmatic

randomised controlled trial. The Lancet Public Health, 3(2), e72-e81. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(17)30231-1

- Galante, J., Iribarren, S. J., & Pearce, P. F. (2013). Effects of mindfulness-based cognitive therapy on mental disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Journal of Research in Nursing, 18(2), 133-155. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744987112466087
- Gethin, R. (2011). On some definitions of mindfulness. Contemporary Buddhism, 12(1), 263-279. https://doi.org/10.1080/14639947.2011.564843
- Goldberg, S. B., Tucker, R. P., Greene, P. A., Davidson, R. J., Wampold, B. E., Kearney,
 D. J., & Simpson, T. L. (2018). Mindfulness-based interventions for psychiatric disorders: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Clinical psychology review, 59, 52-60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2017.10.011
- Goldin, N., Patel, P., & Perry, K. (2014). The Global Youth Wellbeing Index.

 https://www.nikosmarinos.com/uploads/2/4/6/9/24690124/globalyouthwellbeingind
 ex.pdf
- Goldin, P. R., & Gross, J. J. (2010). Effects of mindfulness-based stress reduction (MBSR) on emotion regulation in social anxiety disorder. Emotion, 10(1), 83-91. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018441
- Granberg, A. M. K. F. (2018). A randomised controlled trial of a mindfulness-based mobile app evaluating mindfulness, perceived stress, wellbeing and emotion reactivity: a

thesis presented in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor in Clinical Psychology at Massey University, Albany, New Zealand (Doctoral dissertation, Massey University). http://hdl.handle.net/10179/14681

- Greenberg, M. T., & Harris, A. R. (2012). Nurturing mindfulness in children and youth:

 Current state of research. Child Development Perspectives, 6(2), 161-166.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-8606.2011.00215.x
- Greeson, J. M., & Chin, G. R. (2019). Mindfulness and physical disease: a concise review.

 Current Opinion in Psychology, 28, 204-210.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2018.12.014
- Grossman, P., Kappos, L., Gensicke, H., D'Souza, M., Mohr, D. C., Penner, I. K., & Steiner, C. (2010). MS quality of life, depression, and fatigue improve after mindfulness training: a randomized trial. Neurology, 75(13), 1141-1149. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181f4d80d
- Grossman, P., Niemann, L., Schmidt, S., & Walach, H. (2004). Mindfulness-based stress reduction and health benefits: A meta-analysis. Journal of psychosomatic research, 57(1), 35-43. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3999(03)00573-7
- Gu, J., Strauss, C., Bond, R., & Cavanagh, K. (2015). How do mindfulness-based cognitive therapy and mindfulness-based stress reduction improve mental health and wellbeing? A systematic review and meta-analysis of mediation studies, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2016.09.011

- Guest, G., Bunce, A., & Johnson, L. (2006). How many interviews are enough? An experiment with data saturation and variability. Field methods, 18(1), 59-82. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X05279903
- Hale, L., Strauss, C., & Taylor, B. L. (2013). The effectiveness and acceptability of mindfulness-based therapy for obsessive compulsive disorder: A review of the literature. Mindfulness, 4(4), 375-382. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-012-0137-y
- Hanel, P. H., & Vione, K. C. (2016). Do student samples provide an accurate estimate of the general public?. PloS one, 11(12), e0168354.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0168354
- Hanh, T. N. (2002). Teachings on love. Parallax Press.
- Hanley, A. W. (2016). The mindful personality: Associations between dispositional mindfulness and the Five Factor Model of personality. Personality and Individual Differences, 91, 154-158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2015.11.054
- Hariton, E., & Locascio, J. J. (2018). Randomised controlled trials—The gold standard for effectiveness research. BJOG: an international journal of obstetrics and gynaecology, 125(13), 1716. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.15199
- Harris, S. (2014). Waking up: A guide to spirituality without religion. Simon & Schuster Paperbacks.

- Harshaw, C. (2015). Interoceptive dysfunction: Toward an integrated framework for understanding somatic and affective disturbance in depression. Psychological bulletin, 141(2), 311. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0038101
- Harvey, P. (2012). An introduction to Buddhism: Teachings, history and practices.

 Cambridge University Press, pp 56-87.

 https://books.google.co.nz/books?hl=en&lr=&id=8XAgAwAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=
 PR11&dq=An+introduction+to+Buddhism:+Teachings,+history+and+practices.+Ca
 mbridge+University+Press&ots=qUqj8ilJDA&sig=g2GVOTdQ5WVwvJAM2LLfflx_rs#v=onepage&q=An%20introduction%20to%20Buddhism%3A%20Te
 achings%2C%20history%20and%20practices.%20Cambridge%20University%20Pr
 ess&f=false
- Hayes, S. C., Strosahl, K., & Wilson, K. G. (1999). Acceptance and commitment therapy:

 Understanding and treating human suffering.
- Hayes, S. C., Strosahl, K., Wilson, K. G., Bissett, R. T., Pistorello, J., Toarmino, D.,
 Polusny, M.A., Dykstra, T.A., Batten, S.V., Bergan, J., Stewart, S.H., Zvolensky,
 G.H.E., Bond, F.W., Forsyth, J.P., Karekla, M., & McCurry. S.M. (2004).
 Measuring experiential avoidance: A preliminary test of a working model. The
 psychological record, 54(4), 553-578. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03395492
- Higgins, E. T. (1987). Self-discrepancy: a theory relating self and affect. Psychological review, 94(3), 319. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.94.3.319

- Higgins, E. T. (1989). Self-Discrepancy Theory: What Patterns of Self-Beliefs Cause People to Suffer? Advances in Experimental Social Psychology, 22, 93–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0065-2601(08)60306-8
- Hoddy, E. T. (2019). Critical realism in empirical research: employing techniques from grounded theory methodology. International Journal of Social ResearchMethodology, 22(1), 111-124. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2018.1503400
- Hodkinson, P. (2005). 'Insider research' in the study of youth cultures. Journal of youth studies, 8(2), 131-149. https://doi.org/10.1080/13676260500149238
- Hofmann, S. G., Asnaani, A., Vonk, I. J., Sawyer, A. T., & Fang, A. (2012). The efficacy of cognitive behavioral therapy: A review of meta-analyses. Cognitive therapy and research, 36(5), 427-440. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10608-012-9476-1
- Hofmann, S. G., Sawyer, A. T., Witt, A. A., & Oh, D. (2010). The effect of mindfulness-based therapy on anxiety and depression: A meta-analytic review. Journal of consulting and clinical psychology, 78(2), 169-183.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018555
- Howard, G. S., & Dailey, P. R. (1979). Response-shift bias: A source of contamination of self-report measures. Journal of Applied Psychology, 64(2), 144–150. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.64.2.144
- Hughes, J. W., Fresco, D. M., Myerscough, R., van Dulmen, M., Carlson, L. E., & Josephson, R. (2013). Randomized controlled trial of mindfulness-based stress

- reduction for prehypertension. Psychosomatic Medicine, 75(8), 721-728. https://doi.org/10.1097/psy.0b013e3182a3e4e5
- Huxter, M. (2015). Mindfulness and the Buddha's noble eightfold path. In Buddhist foundations of mindfulness (pp. 29-53). Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-18591-0_3
- Irving, J. A., Dobkin, P. L., & Park, J. (2009). Cultivating mindfulness in health care professionals: A review of empirical studies of mindfulness-based stress reduction (MBSR). Complementary therapies in clinical practice, 15(2), 61-66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctcp.2009.01.002
- Jain, S., Shapiro, S. L., Swanick, S., Roesch, S. C., Mills, P. J., Bell, I., & Schwartz, G. E. (2007). A randomized controlled trial of mindfulness meditation versus relaxation training: effects on distress, positive states of mind, rumination, and distraction.
 Annals of behavioral medicine, 33(1), 11-21.
 https://doi.org/10.1207/s15324796abm3301_2
- Jankowski, T., & Holas, P. (2014). Metacognitive model of mindfulness. Consciousness and cognition, 28, 64-80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2014.06.005
- Joyce, A., Etty-Leal, J., Zazryn, T., & Hamilton, A. (2010). Exploring a mindfulness meditation program on the mental health of upper primary children: A pilot study. Advances in School Mental Health Promotion, 3(2), 17-25. https://doi.org/10.1080/1754730X.2010.9715677

- Kabat-Zinn, J. (1982). An outpatient program in behavioral medicine for chronic pain patients based on the practice of mindfulness meditation: Theoretical considerations and preliminary results. General hospital psychiatry, 4(1), 33-47. https://doi.org/10.1016/0163-8343(82)90026-3
- Kabat-Zinn, J. (1990). Full catastrophe living: Using the wisdom of your body and mind to face stress, pain, and illness. New York, NY: Bantam Doubleday Dell.
- Kabat-Zinn, J. (1994). Wherever you go, there you are: mindfulness meditation in everyday life. Hyperion.
- Kabat-Zinn, J. (2003). Mindfulness-based interventions in context: past, present, and future.

 Clinical psychology: Science and practice, 10(2), 144-156.

 https://doi.org/10.1093/clipsy.bpg016
- Kabat-Zinn, J. (2013). Full catastrophe living: How to cope with stress, pain and illness using mindfulness meditation. (Rev. ed.). Hachette.
- Kabat-Zinn, J., Lipworth, L., & Burney, R. (1985). The clinical use of mindfulness meditation for the self-regulation of chronic pain. Journal of behavioral medicine, 8(2), 163-190. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00845519
- Kabat-Zinn, J., Lipworth, L., Burney, R., & Sellers, W. (1987). Four-year follow-up of a meditation-based program for the self-regulation of chronic pain: Treatment outcomes and compliance. The Clinical Journal of Pain, 3(1), 60.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/00002508-198703010-00010

- Kalupahana, D. J. (1975). Causality: The centeral philosophy of Buddhism. University Press of Hawaii.
- Kamalamani. (2014). Earth-touching Buddha. Self & Society, 41(4), 28-32. https://doi.org/10.1080/03060497.2014.11084384
- Kaviani, H., Hatami, N., & Javaheri, F. (2012). The impact of mindfulness-based cognitive therapy (MBCT) on mental health and quality of life in a sub-clinically depressed population. Archives of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, 1(14), 21-28.
 http://www.archivespp.pl/uploads/images/2012_14_1/Kaviani21__APP1_2012.pdf
- Keng, S. L., Smoski, M. J., & Robins, C. J. (2011). Effects of mindfulness on psychological health: A review of empirical studies. Clinical psychology review, 31(6), 1041-1056. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2011.04.006
- Kerrigan, D., Chau, V., King, M., Holman, E., Joffe, A., & Sibinga, E. (2017). There is no performance, there is just this moment: The role of mindfulness instruction in promoting health and well-being among students at a highly-ranked university in the United States. Journal of evidence-based complementary & alternative medicine, 22(4), 909-918. https://doi.org/10.1177/2156587217719787
- Kerrigan, D., Johnson, K., Stewart, M., Magyari, T., Hutton, N., Ellen, J. M., & Sibinga, E.M. (2011). Perceptions, experiences, and shifts in perspective occurring among urban youth participating in a mindfulness-based stress reduction program.

- Complementary Therapies in clinical practice, 17(2), 96-101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctcp.2010.08.003
- Kessler, R. C., Berglund, P., Demler, O., Jin, R., Merikangas, K. R., & Walters, E. E.
 (2005). Lifetime Prevalence and Age-of-Onset Distributions of DSM-IV Disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Archives of General Psychiatry,
 62(6), 593-602. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.62.6.593
- Khoury, B., Lecomte, T., Fortin, G., Masse, M., Therien, P., Bouchard, V., Chapleau, M.-A., Paquin, K., & Hofmann, S. G. (2013a). Mindfulness-based therapy: a comprehensive meta-analysis. Clinical psychology review, 33(6), 763-771. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2013.05.005
- Khoury, B., Lecomte, T., Gaudiano, B. A., & Paquin, K. (2013b). Mindfulness interventions for psychosis: a meta-analysis. Schizophrenia research, 150(1), 176-184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2013.07.055
- Khoury, B., Sharma, M., Rush, S. E., & Fournier, C. (2015). Mindfulness-based stress reduction for healthy individuals: A meta-analysis. Journal of psychosomatic research, 78(6), 519-528. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2015.03.009
- Kiken, L. G., Garland, E. L., Bluth, K., Palsson, O. S., & Gaylord, S. A. (2015). From a state to a trait: Trajectories of state mindfulness in meditation during intervention predict changes in trait mindfulness. Personality and Individual differences, 81, 41-46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2014.12.044

- Kingston, J., Becker, L., Woeginger, J., & Ellett, L. (2020). A randomised trial comparing a brief online delivery of mindfulness-plus-values versus values only for symptoms of depression: Does baseline severity matter?. Journal of Affective Disorders, 276, 936-944. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.07.087
- Kiyota, M. (1978). Shingon Buddhism: theory and practice. Buddhist Books.
- Lapsley, D., & Woodbury, R. D. (2016). Social cognitive development in emerging adulthood. In J. J. Arnett (Ed.), Oxford library of psychology. The Oxford handbook of emerging adulthood (p. 142–159). Oxford University Press.
- Lathren, C., Bluth, K., Campo, R., Tan, W., & Futch, W. (2018). Young adult cancer survivors' experiences with a mindful self-compassion (MSC) video-chat intervention: A qualitative analysis. Self and Identity, 17(6), 646-665. https://doi.org/10.1080/15298868.2018.1451363
- Lau, M. A., Bishop, S. R., Segal, Z. V., Buis, T., Anderson, N. D., Carlson, L., Shapiro, S.,
 Carmody, J., Abbey, S., & Devins, G. (2006). The Toronto mindfulness scale:
 Development and validation. Journal of clinical psychology, 62(12), 1445-1467.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.20326
- Le Gallais, T. (2008). Wherever I go there I am: reflections on reflexivity and the research stance. Reflective practice, 9(2), 145-155. https://doi.org/10.1080/14623940802005475

- Le, T. N., & Gobert, J. M. (2015). Translating and implementing a mindfulness-based youth suicide prevention intervention in a Native American community. Journal of Child and Family Studies, 24(1), 12-23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-013-9809-z
- Leahy, R. L. (2002). A model of emotional schemas. Cognitive and behavioral practice, 9(3), 177-190. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1077-7229(02)80048-7
- Leahy, R. L. (2003). Emotional Schemas and Resistance. In R. L. Leahy (Ed.), Roadblocks in cognitive-behavioral therapy: Transforming challenges into opportunities for change (p. 91–115). Guilford Press.
- Lewycka, S., Clark, T., Peiris-John, R., Fenaughty, J., Bullen, P., Denny, S., & Fleming, T. (2018). Downwards trends in adolescent risk-taking behaviours in New Zealand:

 Exploring driving forces for change. Journal of paediatrics and child health, 54(6).

 http://doi.org/10.1111/jpc.13930
- Li, M. J., DiStefano, A. S., Thing, J. P., Black, D. S., Simpson, K., Unger, J. B., Milam, J., Contreras, R., & Bluthenthal, R. N. (2019). Seeking refuge in the present moment:

 A qualitatively refined model of dispositional mindfulness, minority stress, and psychosocial health among Latino/a sexual minorities and their families.

 Psychology of Sexual Orientation and Gender Diversity, 6(4), 408–419.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/sgd0000338
- Lindahl, J. R., Britton, W. B., Cooper, D. J., & Kirmayer, L. J. (2019). Challenging and adverse meditation experiences: Toward a person-centered approach. In M. Farias,

- D. Brazier, & M. Lalljee (Eds.), The Oxford Handbook of Meditation. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780198808640.013.51
- Lindahl, J. R., Fisher, N. E., Cooper, D. J., Rosen, R. K., & Britton, W. B. (2017). The varieties of contemplative experience: A mixed-methods study of meditation-related challenges in Western Buddhists. PloS one, 12(5), e0176239. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0176239
- Linehan, M. M., Cochran, B. N., & Kehrer, C. A. (2001). Dialectical behavior therapy for borderline personality disorder. Clinical handbook of psychological disorders: A step-by-step treatment manual, 3, 470-522.
- Lomas, T., Cartwright, T., Edginton, T., & Ridge, D. (2015). A qualitative analysis of experiential challenges associated with meditation practice. Mindfulness, 6(4), 848-860. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-014-0329-8
- Loucks, E. B., Schuman-Olivier, Z., Britton, W. B., Fresco, D. M., Desbordes, G., Brewer, J. A., & Fulwiler, C. (2015). Mindfulness and Cardiovascular Disease Risk: State of the Evidence, Plausible Mechanisms, and Theoretical Framework. Current Cardiology Reports, 17(12). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11886-015-0668-7
- Ludwig, D. S., & Kabat-Zinn, J. (2008). Mindfulness in medicine. Jama, 300(11), 1350-1352. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.300.11.1350

- Lynn, I., Chen, L., Scott, N., & Benckendorff, P. (2017). Mindful tourist experiences: A Buddhist perspective. Annals of Tourism Research, 64, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annals.2017.01.013
- Maex, E. (2011). The Buddhist roots of mindfulness training: a practitioners view.

 Contemporary Buddhism, 12(1), 165-175.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/14639947.2011.564835
- Mahfouz, J., Levitan, J., Schussler, D., Broderick, T., Dvorakova, K., Argusti, M., & Greenberg, M. (2018). Ensuring college student success through mindfulness-based classes: Just breathe. College Student Affairs Journal, 36(1), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1353/csj.2018.0000
- Malinowski, P. (2013). Neural mechanisms of attentional control in mindfulness meditation. Frontiers in neuroscience, 7, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2013.00008
- Malpass, A., Binnie, K., & Robson, L. (2019). Medical students' experience of mindfulness training in the UK: well-being, coping reserve, and professional development.

 Education research international, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/4021729
- Mapel, T., & Simpson, J. (2011). Mindfulness-based stress reduction research in Aotearoa New Zealand. New Zealand Journal of Counselling, 31(2), 21-34. https://www.nzac.org.nz/assets/Uploads/Journals/2.-Mindfulness-Based-Stress-Reduction-Research-in-Aotearoa-New-Zealand.pdf

- Marthiensen, R., Sedgwick, M., & Crowder, R. (2019). Effects of a Brief Mindfulness

 Intervention on After-Degree Nursing Student Stress. Journal of Nursing Education,
 58(3), 165-168. https://doi.org/10.3928/01484834-20190221-07
- Mason, O., & Hargreaves, I. (2001). A qualitative study of mindfulness-based cognitive therapy for depression. British journal of Medical psychology, 74(2), 197-212. https://doi.org/10.1348/000711201160911
- Mauthner, N. S., & Doucet, A. (2003). Reflexive accounts and accounts of reflexivity in qualitative data analysis. Sociology, 37(3), 413-431. https://doi.org/10.1177/00380385030373002
- Maynard, B. R., Solis, M. R., Miller, V. L., & Brendel, K. E. (2017). Mindfulness-based interventions for improving cognition, academic achievement, behavior, and socioemotional functioning of primary and secondary school students. Campbell Systematic Reviews, 13(1), 1-144. https://doi.org/10.4073/csr.2017.5
- McCallie, M. S., Blum, C. M., & Hood, C. J. (2006). Progressive muscle relaxation. Journal of human behavior in the social environment, 13(3), 51-66. https://doi.org/10.1300/J137v13n03_04
- McLeod, J., & Wright, K. (2016). What does wellbeing do? An approach to defamiliarize keywords in youth studies. Journal of Youth Studies, 19(6), 776–792. https://doi.org/10.1080/13676261.2015.1112887

- Michalak, J., Burg, J., & Heidenreich, T. (2012). Don't forget your body: Mindfulness, embodiment, and the treatment of depression. Mindfulness, 3(3), 190-199. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-012-0107-4
- Miller, J. J., Fletcher, K., & Kabat-Zinn, J. (1995). Three-year follow-up and clinical implications of a mindfulness meditation-based stress reduction intervention in the treatment of anxiety disorders. General hospital psychiatry, 17(3), 192-200. https://doi.org/10.1016/0163-8343(95)00025-m
- Ministry of Health. (2015). Maori Health Models. https://www.health.govt.nz/our-work/populations/maori-health/maori-health-models
- Mirams, L., Poliakoff, E., Brown, R. J., & Lloyd, D. M. (2012). Interoceptive and exteroceptive attention have opposite effects on subsequent somatosensory perceptual decision making. Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology, 65(5), 926-938. https://doi.org/10.1080/17470218.2011.636823
- Mitmansgruber, H., Beck, T. N., Höfer, S., & Schüßler, G. (2009). When you don't like what you feel: Experiential avoidance, mindfulness and meta-emotion in emotion regulation. Personality and Individual Differences, 46(4), 448-453. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2008.11.013
- Moffitt, T. E., Harrington, H., Caspi, A., Kim-Cohen, J., Goldberg, D., Gregory, A. M., & Poulton, R. (2007). Depression and generalized anxiety disorder: cumulative and sequential comorbidity in a birth cohort followed prospectively to age 32

years. Archives of general psychiatry, 64(6), 651-660. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.64.6.651

- Moir, F., Henning, M., Hassed, C., Moyes, S. A., & Elley, C. R. (2016). A peer-support and mindfulness program to improve the mental health of medical students. Teaching and learning in medicine, 28(3), 293-302. https://doi.org/10.1080/10401334.2016.1153475
- Monshat, K. (2012). Design and refinement of the MATE program: Mindful Awareness

 Training and Education: how do young people understand and practise
 mindfulness? (Doctoral dissertation) https://minervaaccess.unimelb.edu.au/bitstream/handle/11343/37994/294477_MONSHAT%20file
 %20properties.pdf?sequence=1
- Monshat, K., Khong, B., Hassed, C., Vella-Brodrick, D., Norrish, J., Burns, J., & Herrman, H. (2013). "A conscious control over life and my emotions:" mindfulness practice and healthy young people. A qualitative study. Journal of Adolescent Health, 52(5), 572-577. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2012.09.008
- Morling, B., & Evered, S. (2006). Secondary control reviewed and defined. Psychological bulletin, 132(2), 269. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.132.2.269
- Morone, N. E., Moore, C. G., & Greco, C. M. (2017). Characteristics of adults who used mindfulness meditation: United States, 2012. The Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine, 23(7), 545-550. https://doi.org/10.1089/acm.2016.0099

- Napoli, M., Krech, P. R., & Holley, L. C. (2005). Mindfulness training for elementary school students: The attention academy. Journal of applied school psychology, 21(1), 99-125. https://doi.org/10.1300/J370v21n01_05
- Norman, E., Pfuhl, G., Sæle, R. G., Svartdal, F., Låg, T., & Dahl, T. I. (2019).

 Metacognition in psychology. Review of General Psychology, 23(4), 403-424.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1089268019883821
- Nugent, P., Moss, D., Barnes, R., & Wilks, J. (2011). Clear (ing) space: mindfulness-based reflective practice. Reflective Practice, 12(1), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1080/14623943.2011.541088
- O'Driscoll, M., Byrne, S., Kelly, M., Lambert, S., & Sahm, L. J. (2019). A Thematic

 Analysis of Pharmacy Students' Experiences of the Undergraduate Pharmacy

 Degree in Ireland and the Role of Mindfulness. American Journal of Pharmaceutical

 Education, 83(1). https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe6457
- Olendzki, A. (2005). The Roots of Mindfulness. In C.K. Germer, R.D. Siegel & P.R. Fulton (Eds.), Mindfulness and Psychotherapy (pp. 241-261).

 https://www.anagrama.co.il/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Mindfulness_and_Psychotherapy.pdf#page=259
- Oliver, C. (2012). Critical realist grounded theory: A new approach for social work research. British Journal of Social Work, 42(2), 371-387. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bcr064

- Orvell, A., Kross, E., & Gelman, S. A. (2017). How "you" makes meaning. Science, 355(6331), 1299-1302. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaj2014
- Patton, G. C., Coffey, C., Romaniuk, H., Mackinnon, A., Carlin, J. B., Degenhardt, L., Olsson, C. A., & Moran, P. (2014). The prognosis of common mental disorders in adolescents: a 14-year prospective cohort study. The Lancet, 383(9926), 1404–1411. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)62116-9
- Patton, G. C., Sawyer, S. M., Santelli, J. S., Ross, D. A., Afifi, R., Allen, N. B., Arora, M., Azzopardi, P., Baldwin, W., Bonell, C., Kakuma, R., Kennedy, E., Mahon, J., McGovern, T., Mokdad, A. H., Patel, V., Petroni, S., Reavley, N., Taiwo, K., ...
 Viner, R. M. (2016). Our future: a Lancet Commission on Adolescent Health and Wellbeing. Lancet (London, England), 387(10036), 2423–2478.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)00579-1
- Peer, J. W., & McAuslan, P. (2016). Self-doubt during emerging adulthood: The conditional mediating influence of mindfulness. Emerging Adulthood, 4(3), 176-185. https://doi.org/10.1177/2167696815579828
- Pozuelos, J. P., Mead, B. R., Rueda, M. R., & Malinowski, P. (2019). Short-term mindful breath awareness training improves inhibitory control and response monitoring. In Progress in brain research, 244, 137-163. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.pbr.2018.10.019

- Praissman, S. (2008). Mindfulness-based stress reduction: A literature review and clinician's guide. Journal of the American Academy of Nurse Practitioners, 20(4), 212-216. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-7599.2008.00306.x
- Puriso, B. (1999). Mind training. Buddhism Today, 14(1), 6-14.
- Purser, R. (2019). McMindfulness: How mindfulness became the new capitalist spirituality. Watkins Media Limited.
- Purser, R., & Loy, D. (2013). Beyond McMindfulness. Huffington post, 1(7), 13. https://achtsame-wirtschaft.de/tl_files/netzwerk_achtsame_wirtschaft/pdf/Beyond-McMindfulness-Purser-Loy.pdf
- Raj, A., & Kumar, P. (2019). Efficacy of Mindfulness Based Stress Reduction (MBSR): A

 Brief Overview. Journal of Disability Management and Rehabilitation, 4(1), 73-81.

 http://jdmronline.org/index.php/jdmr/article/view/60
- Rau, H. K., & Williams, P. G. (2016). Dispositional mindfulness: A critical review of construct validation research. Personality and Individual Differences, 93, 32-43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2015.09.035
- Renshaw, T. L., Fischer, A. J., & Klingbeil, D. A. (2017). Mindfulness-based intervention in school psychology. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40688-017-0166-6

- Reveley, J. (2016). Neoliberal meditations: How mindfulness training medicalizes education and responsibilizes young people. Policy Futures in Education, 14(4), 497-511. https://doi.org/10.1177/1478210316637972
- Ritchie, J., & Spencer, L. (2002). Qualitative data analysis for applied policy research. In A.M. Huberman & M.B. Miles (Eds.), The qualitative researcher's companion, (pp. 305-29) Taylor and Francis
- Rix, G., & Bernay, R. (2014). A study of the effects of mindfulness in five primary schools in New Zealand. Teachers' Work, 11(2), 201-220. https://doi.org/10.24135/teacherswork.v11i2.69
- Rothbaum, F., Weisz, J. R., & Snyder, S. S. (1982). Changing the world and changing the self: A two-process model of perceived control. Journal of personality and social psychology, 42(1), 5. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.42.1.5
- Russell, K. C., Gillis, H. L., & Heppner, W. (2016). An examination of mindfulness-based experiences through adventure in substance use disorder treatment for young adult males: A pilot study. Mindfulness, 7(2), 320-328. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-015-0441-4
- Ryan, R. M., & Brown, K. W. (2003). Why we don't need self-esteem: On fundamental needs, contingent love, and mindfulness. Psychological inquiry, 14(1), 71-76. https://www.jstor.org/stable/1449046

- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. American psychologist, 55(1), 68. https://doi.org/10.1037//0003-066x.55.1.68
- Safran, J. D., & Segal, Z. V. (1990). Interpersonal process in cognitive therapy. Jason Aronson.
- Sanko, J., Mckay, M., & Rogers, S. (2016). Exploring the impact of mindfulness meditation training in pre-licensure and post graduate nurses. Nurse education today, 45, 142-147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2016.07.006
- Satlof-Bedrick, E., & Johnson, C. N. (2015). Children's metacognition and mindful awareness of breathing and thinking. Cognitive Development, 36, 83-92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cogdev.2015.09.011
- Saunders, B., Sim, J., Kingstone, T., Baker, S., Waterfield, J., Bartlam, B., Burroughs, H., & Jinks, C. (2018). Saturation in qualitative research: exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. Quality & quantity, 52(4), 1893-1907. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8
- Schöne, B., Gruber, T., Graetz, S., Bernhof, M., & Malinowski, P. (2018). Mindful breath awareness meditation facilitates efficiency gains in brain networks: A steady-state visually evoked potentials study. Scientific reports, 8(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-32046-5

- Scott-Sheldon, L. A. J., Balletto, B. L., Donahue, M. L., Feulner, M. M., Cruess, D. G., Salmoirago-Blotcher, E., Wing, R. R., & Carey, M. P. (2019). Mindfulness-based interventions for adults living with HIV/AIDS: a systematic review and meta-analysis. AIDS and Behavior, 23(1), 60-75. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-018-2236-9
- Schwind, J. K., McCay, E., Metersky, K., & Martin, J. (2016). Development and implementation of an advanced therapeutic communication course: An interprofessional collaboration. Journal of Nursing Education, 55(10), 592-597. https://doi.org/10.3928/01484834-20160914-11
- Segal, Z. V., & Teasdale, J. (2018). Mindfulness-based cognitive therapy for depression.

 Guilford Publications.
- Segal, Z. V., Williams, J. M. G., & Teasdale, J. D. (2002). Mindfulness-based cognitive therapy for depression. New York. Guilford Press.
- Shapiro, D. H. (1992). A preliminary study of long term meditators: goals, effects, religious orientation, cognitions. Journal of Transpersonal Psychology, 24(1), 23–39. http://cista.net/tomes/Somagetics/The%20Journal%20of%20Transpersonal%20Psychology%20-%20Vol.%2024.1%20(1992).pdf#page=29
- Shapiro, S. L., Carlson, L. E., Astin, J. A., & Freedman, B. (2006). Mechanisms of mindfulness. Journal of clinical psychology, 62(3), 373-386. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.20237

- Shapiro, S. L., Schwartz, G. E., & Bonner, G. (1998). Effects of mindfulness-based stress reduction on medical and premedical students. Journal of behavioral medicine, 21(6), 581-599. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1018700829825
- Shapiro, S., Siegel, R., & Neff, K. D. (2018). Paradoxes of mindfulness. Mindfulness, 9(6), 1693-1701. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-018-0957-5
- Siegel, D. J. (2007). Mindfulness training and neural integration: Differentiation of distinct streams of awareness and the cultivation of well-being. Social cognitive and affective neuroscience, 2(4), 259-263. https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nsm034
- Silberstein, L. R., Tirch, D., Leahy, R. L., & McGinn, L. (2012). Mindfulness, psychological flexibility and emotional schemas. International Journal of Cognitive Therapy, 5(4), 406-419. https://doi.org/10.1521/ijct.2012.5.4.406
- Simpson, S., Mercer, S., Simpson, R., Lawrence, M., & Wyke, S. (2018). Mindfulness-based interventions for young offenders: A scoping review. Mindfulness, 9(5), 1330-1343. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-018-0892-5
- Singh, N. N., Wahler, R. G., Adkins, A. D., Myers, R. E., & Mindfulness Research Group. (2003). Soles of the feet: A mindfulness-based self-control intervention for aggression by an individual with mild mental retardation and mental illness. Research in Developmental Disabilities, 24(3), 158-169. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0891-4222(03)00026-X

- Song, Y., & Lindquist, R. (2015). Effects of mindfulness-based stress reduction on depression, anxiety, stress and mindfulness in Korean nursing students. Nurse education today, 35(1), 86-90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2014.06.010
- Spijkerman, M. P. J., Pots, W. T. M., & Bohlmeijer, E. T. (2016). Effectiveness of online mindfulness-based interventions in improving mental health: A review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Clinical psychology review, 45, 102-114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2016.03.009
- Statistics New Zealand. (2018). Census Place Summaries.

 https://www.stats.govt.nz/tools/2018-census-place-summaries/new-zealand#education-and-training
- Statistics New Zealand. (2020). Ethnic Group Summaries.

 https://www.stats.govt.nz/news/ethnic-group-summaries-reveal-new-zealands-multicultural-make-up
- Strohmaier, S. (2020). The Relationship Between Doses of Mindfulness-Based Programs and Depression, Anxiety, Stress, and Mindfulness: a Dose-Response Meta-Regression of Randomized Controlled Trials. Mindfulness, 1-21. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-020-01319-4
- Strosahl, K. D., Hayes, S. C., Wilson, K. G., & Gifford, E. V. (2004). An ACT primer. In S.C., Hayes, K.D., Strosahl (eds.), A practical guide to acceptance and commitment therapy (pp. 31-58). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-23369-7_2

- Sussman, S., & Arnett, J. J. (2014). Emerging adulthood: developmental period facilitative of the addictions. Evaluation & the health professions, 37(2), 147-155. https://doi.org/10.1177/0163278714521812
- Suzuki, S. (2020). Zen mind, beginner's mind. Shambhala Publications.
- Teasdale, J. D., Segal, Z., & Williams, J. M. G. (1995). How does cognitive therapy prevent depressive relapse and why should attentional control (mindfulness) training help?.

 Behaviour Research and therapy, 33(1), 25-39. https://doi.org/10.1016/0005-7967(94)E0011-7
- Thurman, R. (1979). Tzong-kha-pa on Analytic Meditation. The Tibet Journal, 4(4), 3-16. https://www.jstor.org/stable/43299962
- Tomlinson, E. R., Yousaf, O., Vittersø, A. D., & Jones, L. (2018). Dispositional mindfulness and psychological health: a systematic review. Mindfulness, 9(1), 23-43. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-017-0762-6
- Tophoff, M. M. (2006). Sensory Awareness as a Method of Mindfulness Training within the Perspective of Person-Centered Psychotherapy/Sensory Awareness als Methode des Achtsamkeitstrainings innerhalb der Perspektive der Personzentrierten Psychotherapie/La capacidad de conciencia sensorial ('sensory awareness') como un método de formación en 'mindfulness' dentro de la perspectiva de la psicoterapia centrada en la persona/Sensory Awareness als een methode van opmerkzaamheids training in het perspectief van cliëntgerichte psychotherapie. Person-Centered &

Experiential Psychotherapies, 5(2), 127-137. https://doi.org/10.1080/14779757.2006.9688401

- Vago, D. R., & Zeidan, F. (2016). The brain on silent: mind wandering, mindful awareness, and states of mental tranquility. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1373(1), 96. https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.13171
- Van Dam, N. T., van Vugt, M. K., Vago, D. R., Schmalzl, L., Saron, C. D., Olendzki, A., Meissner, T., Lazar, S. W., Kerr, C. E., Gorchov, J., Fox, K. C. R., Field, B. A., Britton, W. B., Brefczynski-Lewis, J. A., & Meyer, D. E. (2018). Mind the hype: A critical evaluation and prescriptive agenda for research on mindfulness and meditation. Perspectives on psychological science, 13(1), 36-61. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691617709589
- Van Gordon, W., Shonin, E., Griffiths, M. D., & Singh, N. N. (2015). There is only one mindfulness: Why science and Buddhism need to work together. Mindfulness, 6(1), 49-56. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-014-0379-y
- Van Vugt, M. K., Pollock, J., Johnson, B., Gyatso, K., Norbu, N., Lodroe, T., Gyaltsen, T.,
 Phuntsok, L., Thakchoe, J., Khechok, J., Lobsang, J., Tenzin, L., Gyaltsen, J.,
 Moye, A., & Fresco, D. M. (2020). Inter-brain synchronization in the practice of
 Tibetan monastic debate. Mindfulness, 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-020-01338-1

- Virginia Braun & Victoria Clarke (2016) (Mis)conceptualising themes, thematic analysis, and other problems with Fugard and Potts' (2015) sample-size tool for thematic analysis, International Journal of Social Research Methodology, 19:6, 739-743, https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2016.1195588
- Walsh, Z. (2016). A meta-critique of mindfulness critiques: From McMindfulness to critical mindfulness. In Handbook of mindfulness (pp. 153-166). Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-44019-4_11
- Walsh, Z. (2018). Mindfulness under neoliberal governmentality: critiquing the operation of biopower in corporate mindfulness and constructing queer alternatives. Journal of Management, Spirituality & Religion, 15(2), 109-122. https://doi.org/10.1080/14766086.2017.1423239
- Wesselhoeft, R., Sørensen, M. J., Heiervang, E. R., & Bilenberg, N. (2013). Subthreshold depression in children and adolescents—a systematic review. Journal of affective disorders, 151(1), 7-22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2013.06.010
- Wilkinson, S. (1988, January). The role of reflexivity in feminist psychology. In Women's Studies International Forum (Vol. 11, No. 5, pp. 493-502). Pergamon. https://doi.org/10.1016/0277-5395(88)90024-6
- Willig, C. (2013). Focus groups. In Introducing qualitative research in psychology (3rd ed., pp. 34–36).

- Witkiewitz, K., Marlatt, G. A., & Walker, D. (2005). Mindfulness-based relapse prevention for alcohol and substance use disorders. Journal of cognitive psychotherapy, 19(3), 211-228. https://doi.org/10.1891/jcop.2005.19.3.211
- Wong, C., Yip, B. H. K., Gao, T., Lam, K. Y. Y., Woo, D. M. S., Yip, A. L. K., Chin, C.Y., Tang, W.P.Y., Choy, M.M.T., Tsang, K.W.K., Ho, S. C., Ma, S.W., & Wong. S.Y.
 (2018). Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction (MBSR) or psychoeducation for the reduction of menopausal symptoms: a randomized, controlled clinical trial. Scientific reports, 8(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-24945-4
- Wood, N. A. (2009). Mindfulness-based cognitive therapy for the symptoms of depression in a community-based HIV/AIDS Clinic: outcomes and feasibility. Widener University, Institute for Graduate Clinical Psychology.
- World Health Organisation. (2018). Adolescent mental health. World Health Organisation. https://www.who.int/mental_health/maternal-child/adolescent/en/
- World Health Organization. (2005) Child and Adolescent Mental Health Policies and Plans. https://www.who.int/mental_health/policy/Childado_mh_module.pdf
- World Health Organization. (2017) Global Accelerated Action for the Health of Adolescents (AA-HA!). Geneva 2017.

 https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/255415/9789241512343-eng.pdf;jsessionid=ED0688066C8BABAB7E2D5E5C5C59C32A?sequence=1

- Xia, T., Hu, H., Seritan, A. L., & Eisendrath, S. (2019). The many roads to mindfulness: a review of nonmindfulness-based interventions that increase mindfulness. The Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine, 25(9), 874-889.
 https://doi.org/10.1089/acm.2019.0137
- Yeung, H. W. C. (1997). Critical realism and realist research in human geography: a method or a philosophy in search of a method? Progress in human geography, 21(1), 51-74. https://doi.org/10.1191/030913297668207944
- Yook, K., Lee, S.-H., Ryu, M., Kim, K.-H., Choi, T. K., Suh, S. Y., Kim, Y.-W., Kim, B., Kim, M. Y., & Kim, M.-J. (2008). Usefulness of mindfulness-based cognitive therapy for treating insomnia in patients with anxiety disorders: a pilot study. The Journal of nervous and mental disease, 196(6), 501-503. https://doi.org/10.1097/nmd.0b013e31817762ac
- Zenner, C., Herrnleben-Kurz, S., & Walach, H. (2014). Mindfulness-based interventions in schools a systematic review and meta-analysis. Frontiers in psychology, 5, 603. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00603

Appendices

Appendix A

Core Elements of Buddhism

Table 3

The Elements of the Eight-Fold Path
(Aich, 2013; Bodhi, 1994; Huxter, 2015; Maex, 2011).

Focus of elements	Element number	Description
Panna (wisdom and discernment)	1	 Samma ditthi: Right view, of the four noble truths The "four noble truths" are an underlying belief system of suffering and impermanence that are threaded throughout Buddhism (Hanh, 2002; Kalupahana, 1975). Dukkah: The experience of suffering is inevitable. Samudaya: There is always a cause to suffering which is mostly due to attachment, craving or desire. Nirodha: It is possible to stop the experience of suffering through overcoming attachment. Through mastering this one experiences liberation of Nirvana which means living with liberation, freedom and non-attachment. Magga: The path to the cessation of suffering is through completing the Nobel Eight Fold Path.
	2	Samma sankappa: Right resolve or thought This is seen as the desire to overcome feelings and thoughts of hatefulness, ignorance and attachment.
The following three elements focus around Sila (morality or virtue)	3	Samma vac: Right speech This consists of using words in a way that does not cause suffering to others including abstaining from gossip, using hurtful language and lying.
	4	Samma kammanta: Right action This includes the five precepts. These include abstaining from killing or harming others, stealing, misusing sex and not consuming intoxicants such as alcohol or drugs.

Sila (morality or virtue) (continued)	5	Samma ajiva: Right livelihood Living in a way and choosing an occupation that allows you to work in a way that is honest and where you do not cause harm to humans or animals.
The final three focus around Shila and Samadhi (morality and concentration or meditation respectively) which include the five precepts*	6	Samma Vayama: Right effort Living in a positive way consciously generating wholesome mental states while overcoming and eventually avoiding negative cognitions and mental states. For example feelings of attachment, jealousy and anger.
	7	Samma Sati: Right mindfulness Awareness of one's own mental and physical state including thoughts, consciousness.
	8	Samma Samadhi: Right Concentration The meditation to achieve a higher level of consciousness that increases insight and leads to the realisation and the certainty of imperfection and impermanence.

*The Five Precepts

Concurrent with the three universal truths is "the five precepts": the basic moral or ethical code for all Buddhists. These include refraining from any one or more of the following acts: taking a life; stealing; acting unchastely; speaking falsely; and drinking intoxicants. Although these precepts do vary between Buddhist traditions, they maintain a core theme of not acting in a harmful way towards oneself or others. The no-harm principle is particularly perpetuated in the Shila and Samadhi (morality and concentration) elements of the eightfold path as this is where the skills of observing, not judging or attaching, and letting go of your thoughts are taught. Without learning to observe one's thought pattern, and in doing so develop self-awareness, it would be near impossible to not cause harm to oneself or others as thoughts are believed to drive behaviour (Maex, 2011). Shali and Samandi are the seventh step in the eightfold path, thus Buddhist practitioners will have already learnt significant skills before attempting mindfulness practice. This highlights the importance of contextualising mindfulness within Buddhist origins.

Through understanding the basic principles of Buddhism, it is evident that mindfulness is an important part of a belief system centred on alleviating suffering and not doing harm. This cultural and historical context allows a deeper understanding of mindfulness as an eastern tradition, as well as highlighting the parts of the secular western practice where Buddhist tradition is interwoven.

Appendix B

Interview Schedule

Intro:

- Thank for time (**whanaungatanga** introduce who I am and who they are sharing their story with
- Gain consent
- Emphasise confidentiality
- Interested in what they have to say / no right or wrong answers ©
- Their choice what they want to say/disclose, if they would prefer to not share something that is okay

This is a common definition of mindfulness – does that fit your definition of mindfulness?

- Is there anything you would like to add, or expand on this at all?
- 1. Could you tell me how you came to be practicing mindfulness?
 - How did you find out about mindfulness?
 - What was going on in your life when you started practicing mindfulness?
 - What made you want to start practicing mindfulness?
 - Did you ever come across Buddhism when you were learning about mindfulness? What are your thoughts and experiences around this?
 - Do you feel it is important or necessary to learn about Buddhism when you learnt about mindfulness?
 - What kind of information did you access? How did you find this?
 - Do you think there is adequate and accessible information for other people who want to start practicing mindfulness? Why/why not?
- 2. There are lots of ways to practice mindfulness, how do you practice mindfulness?
 - What does a normal day look like for you when it includes mindfulness?
 - What do you do before or after mindfulness practice?
 - Is this how you usually practice or do you sometimes use other techniques? (can prompt: mindful activities, guided/unguided meditations)
 - Has the way you practice mindfulness has changed since you first started practicing? How?
- 3. What do you wish you knew when you first started practicing?
- 4. What does mindfulness/being mindful mean to you?
- 5. How you think mindfulness has impacted your life?

[&]quot;paying attention, in a particular way: on purpose, in the present moment, and non-judgementally" (Kabat-Zinn, 1994)

Positive effects of mindfulness

6. What do you feel are the positives/benefits of practicing mindfulness?

[ask for elaboration]

- When do you think practicing mindfulness can be helpful?
- How do you think practicing mindfulness impacts your mental health and well-being?
- 7. How does your mindfulness practice effect your life even when you are not actively practicing?
 - Do you ever apply mindfulness techniques? [ask for elaboration]
 - How do you incorporate into your life?
- 8. What specifically about mindfulness do you find helpful?
 - What do you think it is about your practice that causes you to feel this way this?
- 9. Can you give me an example of a specific time or event when you found mindfulness to be particularly helpful? [ask for elaboration of why]

Why do you keep practicing mindfulness?

- 10. Do you see mindfulness as something you will continue to do in the future?
- 11. What was your life like before you started practicing mindfulness compared to how it is now?

Negative effects

- 12. Have you had any experiences where mindfulness practice hasn't gone 'right', or hasn't been helpful? [If yes, ask for elaboration]
- 13. More generally, can you thinking of scenarios where it would be difficult or unwise for you to practice mindfulness? [ask for elaboration of why]

 OR

Are there times where you think it would be difficult to practice mindfulness?

- I am wondering, what *did/would* you do in that situation that *you found to be/might find* helpful?

Other youths' views on mindfulness

- 14. What do you think other people think about mindfulness?
 - what do you think they are right or wrong? Why/why not?

Do you think people who are in a similar age/stage of life think this also? Why/why not?

- Do you think may people around your age know about mindfulness?
- Do you think practicing mindfulness is common?

Who do you think mindfulness is the most beneficial for?

- Do you think there is a group of people mindfulness might not be beneficial for?

Final ideas:

We have talked about a number of things today and I am wondering if there was anything you felt we hadn't covered or anything further thoughts or experiences you might like to add? I really appreciate you taking the time to talk to me, I found what you had to say really interesting.

How are you feeling / do you feel okay ending the interview here?

Reiterate confidentiality

Appendix C

Research Flyer



ARE YOU BETWEEN THE AGE OF 18-25?

DO YOU PRACTICE MINDFULNESS?

We want to understand people's experiences and perspective of mindfulness/ meditation

We would like to invite you to take part in a single 60-90 minutes interview

A \$20 voucher will be given as a token of appreciation

FOLLOW US ON SOCIAL MEDIA

@IS.YOUR.MIND.FULL

If you are interested, please contact Vicky: isyourmindfull@gmail.com or 021 272 6452

This project has been evaluated by peer review and Judged to be low risk (4000021310). Consequently, it has not been reviewed by one of the University:

Human Ethics Committees. The researcher(s) named in this document are responsible for the ethical conduct of this research.

If you have any concerns about the conduct of this research that you want to raise with someone other than the researcher(s), please contact Professor.

Craig Johnson, Director - Ethics, telephone 06 3569099 ext 85271, email humanethics@massey.ac.nz.

Appendix D

Participant Information Sheet



YOUNG PEOPLE'S EXPERIENCES AND PERSPECTIVES OF MINDFULNESS

INFORMATION SHEET

Researcher(s) Introduction

My name is Vicky Francis. I'm a master's student in the school of psychology at Massey University. My supervisors are Dr Heather Kempton and Dr Octavia Calder-Dawe. Heather is a Senior Lecturer at Massey School of Psychology with research experience in cognitive psychology and mindfulness /meditation, and Octavia is a Research Officer at the SHORE and Whāriki Research Centre, researching young people wellbeing.

Project Description and Invitation

You are invited to take part in a study that aims to understand young New Zealander's experiences and perspectives of mindfulness. There is little research on mindfulness in this age group with research to date looking at school-age children and more mature adults. This research will collect data through semi-structured interviews to gain an in-depth understanding of each participant's experiences

Benefits of this research

By participating in this research, you have the opportunity to share your experiences and views on mindfulness (anonymously). This will help inform those who teach mindfulness to youth and young adults. Mindfulness and meditation have become common throughout western society, but little research has been conducted on people who practice it in their everyday life or in a young-adult/ youth age group. This research aims to cover these current gaps in the literature.

Project Procedures

Participation in this research consists of a single interview lasting around 60-90 minutes which will be conducted at a suitable and agreed upon location. The interview will be voice recorded to ensure I collect accurate data to be analysed. You have the right to ask for the recording device to be turned off at any time, and you have the right to decline to comment at any time. If you wish I can also send you a copy of the recording.

The information you provide me will be kept confidential and identifying information will be removed from transcripts to ensure confidentiality is maintained in publications.

In the unlikely event you feel the need for extra support due to our conversation; I am happy and able to assist you in accessing support services.

Te Kunenga ki Pūrehuroa School of Psychology – Te Kura Hinengaro Tangata
Private Bag 102904, North Shore Mail Centre, Auckland 0745, New Zealand T +64 9 414 0800 extn 41244 F +64 9 414 0831
www.massey.ac.nz



Data Management

Your identity and information you provide me will be confidential. Pseudonyms will be used and identifying information will be removed in transcripts and quotes used in the thesis to ensure participant anonymity. Recordings will be kept on a password protected hard drive that only the research team (myself and supervisors) has access to. Recordings will be saved for five years before being permanently deleted. Findings from the research may be published and presented at conferences.

If the researcher feels the participant is at risk of harming themselves or others, the researcher has the right to break confidentiality to ensure the participant can get the help they need.

Participant's Rights

You are under no obligation to accept this invitation. If you decide to participate, you have the right to:

- · Decline to answer any particular question;
- Withdraw from the study at any time up to two weeks after the interview;
- · Ask any questions about the study at any time during participation;
- · Ask for the recorder to be turned off at any time during the interview;
- Provide information on the understanding that your name will not be used unless you give permission to the researcher;
- · Be given access to a summary of the project findings when it is concluded.

Project Contacts

If you have questions about the research, please feel free to contact the research team.

Researcher:

Vicky Francis

Phone: 0212726452

Email: isyourmindfull@gmail.com

Academic supervisors:

Dr Heather Kempton

School of Psychology, Massey University, Albany Campus Phone: (09) 414 0800 ext. 43103

Email: h.buttle@massey.ac.nz

Dr Octavia Calder-Dawe

School of Health Science, Massey University, SHORE Centre Phone: (09) 414 0800 ext. 41335 Email: o.calder-dawe@massey.ac.nz

This project (4000021310) has been evaluated by peer review and judged to be low risk.

Consequently, it has not been reviewed by one of the University's Human Ethics Committees.

The researcher(s) named above are responsible for the ethical conduct of this research.

If you have any concerns about the conduct of this research that you wish to raise with someone other than the researcher(s), please contact Prof Craig Johnson, Director, Research Ethics, telephone 06 356 9099 x 85271, email humanethics@massey.ac.nz.

Te Kunenga ki Pūrehuroa School of Psychology - Te Kura Hinengaro Tangata

Private Bag 102904, North Shore Mail Centre, Auckland 0745, New Zealand T +64 9 414 0800 extr 41244 F +64 9 414 0831 www.massey.ac.nz

_

Appendix E

Template Of Email For Potential Participants

Kia ora [name]

Thanks for getting in touch and expressing interest in my research!

I am wanting to interview people aged 18-25 who practice mindfulness to get a better understanding of their experiences and perceptions of mindfulness. I have attached a copy of the flyer and the information sheet for you to have a read through, if you have any questions please feel free to contact me.

I am planning on doing interviews from the [date] and I can have interview rooms available in Albany, Takapuna or Central Auckland. If these do not work for you, please let me know and we can potentially arrange another location.

As I am hoping to interview those aged 18 to 25 who have a current mindfulness practice, I was hoping you could let me know your age and how long you have practiced mindfulness for?

If there are particular days/times that work for you please let me know

Look forward to hearing from you,

Kind regards, Vicky

Appendix F

Written Consent Form



YOUNG PEOPLE'S EXPERIENCES AND PERSPECTIVES OF MINDFULNESS PARTICIPANT CONSENT FORM – INDIVIDUAL

I have read and I understand the Information Sheet.

I have had the details of the study explained to me, any questions I had have been answered to my satisfaction, and I understand that I may ask further questions at any time.

I have been given sufficient time to consider whether to participate in this study and I understand participation is voluntary and that I may withdraw from the study up to two weeks after the interview.

- · I agree to the interview being sound recorded.
- I would / would not like to be sent a copy of my sound recording. (please circle)
- I agree to participate in this study under the conditions set out in the Information Sheet.
- I understand my data and my identity will be kept confidential by the researcher with no identifying information being used in publications.
- I understand that the researcher has an obligation to break confidentiality if I
 express current risk to myself or others.
- I agree for the data to be stored for 5 years after recording on a password protected hard drive.
- I would / would not like to receive a copy of the research findings (please circle).

Declaration by Participan	t:
1	hereby consent to take part in this study.
Signature:	Date:

Te Kunenga ki Pūrehuroa School of Psychology – Te Kura Hinengaro Tangata
Private Bag 102904, North Shore Mail Centre, Auckland 0745, New Zealand T +64 9 414 0800 extn 41244 F +64 9 414 0831
www.massey.ac.nz

Kia Ora,

information about you.

Appendix G

Demographic Sheet



YOUNG PEOPLE'S EXPERIENCES AND PERSPECTIVES OF MINDFULNESS PARTICIPANT DEMOGRAPHIC QUESTIONAIRE

To help us describe our sample in our reports we would appreciate some

Te Kunenga ki Pūrehuroa School of Psychology – Te Kura Hinengaro Tangata
Private Bag 102904, North Shore Mail Centre, Auckland 0745, New Zealand T +64 9 414 0800 extn 41244 F +64 9 414 0831
www.massey.ac.nz